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A full copy of this and earlier annual reports are available from the Commission’s website at

www.mentalhealth.wa.gov.au. Email
ContactUs@mentalhealth.wa.gov.au

To make this annual report as accessible as possible, it is provided in the following three formats: Website

« an interactive PDF version, which has links to other sections of the annual report as well as external www.mentalhealth.wa.gov.au

links to content on our website and external sites (excluding Financial statements from pages 58 to
91). All links are indicated by underlined text.

« anonline version, which allows for quick and easy viewing of annual report sections. This version also
features easy to use download and print functions

« atextversion, which is suitable for use with screen reader software applications.

This annual report can also be made available in alternative formats upon request for those with visual
impairments, including audio, large print and Braille.

This publication may be copied in whole or part, with acknowledgement to the Commission.
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About Us

ur Mission

To lead mental health reform through the commissioning of accessible, high-quality services and
supports and the promotion of mental health, wellbeing and facilitated recovery.

ur Values
The core values of an organisation define its ethos and culture. The Commission’s values are as follows.

Hope and Optimism
Aiming high, expecting success but being realistic, knowing that goals can be achieved
and recovery is possible.

Hon Helen Morton MLC
MINISTER FOR MENTAL HEALTH

Dear Minister

In accordance with section 61 of the Financial Management .
Act 2006, | hereby submit for your information and Integrity

presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the Mental Acting ethically and taking personal responsibility.
Health Commission for the financial year ended 30 June 2013.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the Innovation and excellence
provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006. Recognising and rewarding ideas, focusing on quality improvement in all that we do.

éﬂ? W Collaboration

Having a strong sense of unity, seeking out the diverse knowledge and experience of
people with mental health problems and of those who care for, and work with them.

Eddie Bartnik
COMMISSIONER
MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION

Transparency
24 SEPTEMBER 2013 Clearly communicating our contribution in achieving outcomes.




A Western Australia where everyone works together to encourage and support
people who experience mental health problems and/or mental illness to stay in the
community, out of hospital and live a meaningful life.

The Mental Health Commission was established in March 2010 as Australia’s first
Mental Health Commission and represents a key step in implementing mental health
reform throughout the State.

The Commission focuses on mental health strategic policy, planning and
procurement of services, leads mental health reform across Government, promotes
social inclusion, raises public awareness of mental wellbeing and addresses stigma
and discrimination surrounding mental illness. We are unique in established
mental health commissions nationwide as no other currently has responsibility for
purchasing of mental health services. The Commission is not a direct mental health
service provider.

Our vision, mission and organisational values have been developed collaboratively
and reflect the aspirations of our stakeholders, especially consumers, carers and
family members.

The Commission’s work in 2012/13 has continued to focus on three key strategic
directions:

« developing recovery oriented, person centred supports and services for people
with mental health problems and/or mental iliness

+ building connected approaches across Government agencies, and with
community, private, and primary care services and the university sector

«  planning for a full range of services in a comprehensive and contemporary
mental health system, with balanced investment in community supports, early
intervention and mental health promotion and prevention as well as acute
intervention.

out Us

«  Development and provision of mental health policy and advice to Government.
+ Leading the implementation of the Mental Health Strategic Policy.

+  Responsibility for identifying key outcomes and determining the range of
mental health services required for defined areas and populations across the
State.

«  Responsibility for specifying activity levels and standards of care.

« Identification of appropriate service providers and benchmarks, and the
establishment of associated contracting arrangements with both government
and non-government sectors.

+  Purchasing of services and supports for the community.

«  Ongoing performance monitoring and evaluation of key mental health
programs in WA.

«  Ensuring effective accountability and governance systems are in place.

«  Promoting social inclusion, public awareness and understanding of matters
relating to the wellbeing of people with mental health problems and/or mental
illness to address stigma and discrimination.

The Commission has a diverse and dedicated team who work collaboratively with
a variety of stakeholders to transform the way in which mental health services are
delivered. As at 30 June 2013, the Commission had 90 staff.

The Commission’s Wellbeing team continues to ensure staff have a variety of
wellbeing opportunities to engage in. This year the team'’s focus has been activities
with a theme of self care and looking after each other. Staff organised ‘awareness
events’ around RU Ok Day, Harmony Day, Loud Shirt Day and Stress Less Day.
Physical activities included weekly group training sessions, the Multiple Sclerosis
Stair Climb, corporate soccer and Rotary Ramble. Other initiatives included healthy
heart checks and sourcing a range of wellbeing resources. This staff-lead team also
ensures there is a balance of work and social activities, offering a range of events
both internal and external to the workplace, promoting a positive work environment
and boosting morale.



| am pleased to present the fourth
Annual Report of the Mental Health
Commission.

This report highlights the
key reform directions and
partnerships that have been
put in place to bring about
fundamental changes in the
mental health sector, with a stronger
focus on person and family centred care
in the community, partnerships and strategic
engagement with state and national level reforms.

The most significant development throughout the year was the joint
commissioning by the Commission and the Department of Health (DoH) of the
Review of the admission or referral to and the discharge and transfer practices of public
mental health facilities/services in Western Australia. This independent review of the
admission and discharge practices of public mental health services was conducted
by Professor Bryant Stokes (Stokes Review). The Stokes Review gave a strong

voice to the experiences of consumers, families and carers, staff and the general
community with respect to the current operations of the mental health system in
WA. The final report and State Government response was published in November
2012 and the Commission, in partnership with DoH, developed a comprehensive
Implementation Framework for addressing the recommendations of the Stokes
Review, along with an Implementation Partnership Group chaired by Barry
MacKinnon AM.

The Commission undertook jointly with the DoH to progress the principal
recommendation of the Stokes Review to develop a Mental Health Services Plan
(Plan) for Western Australia. Preliminary planning activities have been completed
in 2012/13 for the development of this Plan, which is expected to be finalised by

issioner’s Overview

mid 2014. This plan will outline the optimal mix of services and supports required
to meet the needs of the population experiencing mental iliness and the resources
required for delivery over the next 10 years. The development of this plan will
provide an important opportunity for all stakeholders to communicate their
aspirations and priorities to the Commission. The Western Australian plan will be
informed by the National Mental Health Services Planning Framework and will further
facilitate alignment between identified State priorities and national priorities. Such
an approach is expected to optimise the benefits to WA through national level
funding opportunities in the future, including National Health Reforms and the
National Disability Insurance Scheme.

New mental health legislation is an integral part of the Commission’s mental health
reform agenda. Proposed new legislation will provide greater protections and
certainties for consumers; recognise and involve families and carers; and promote
compliance by mental health services - all promoting recovery from mental illness
and safeguarding against breaches of rights. The past year has seen substantial
progress, with the Green Mental Health Bill tabled in Parliament in November 2012.
The Green Bill was tabled for public comment, and the Commission’s consultation
with stakeholders has been ongoing. We are now preparing for the introduction of
the Mental Health Bill 2013 into Parliament.

The Commission has initiated a significant program of contracting reforms in line
with the DCSP Policy for eligible organisations providing mental health community
services. Fifty nine organisations have been re-engaged under a DCSP Policy
Preferred Service Provider (PSP) process to provide outcomes based mental

health community services on behalf of the Commission at an agreed sustainable
price. The full amount of the government’s allocation to the Commission of the
applicable Component | and Component Il funding for 2012/13 has been allocated
to these community based organisations as part of their ongoing contractual
arrangements.



The Commission continued with its second year of funding to Consumers of
Mental Health WA (CoMHWA). COMHWA is steadily establishing itself to coordinate,
promote and support the consumer voice within mental health services and

to the wider community. A budget of $1.375 million over five years has been

set aside to establish and support CoOMHWA to provide systemic advocacy for

and by consumers. A new Executive Director and Project Officer have recently
commenced.

As the Certificate IV in

Mental Health Peer Work is
now endorsed as a national
qualification, the Commission
is working collaboratively
with various stakeholders
including consumer, family
and carer organisations, non-
government organisations
and public mental health
services, including drug

and alcohol and training
organisations, to develop Allies in Change workshop in the Goldfields
a strategic approach to strengthen the peer

workforce. Supported by the Commission and Mental Health Carers Arafmi

WA, a Recognition of Prior Learning tool has been developed by Polytechnic
West, with current peer workers being enrolled in semester two, 2013. Further
consumer, family and carer leadership investments have included Allies in Change,
a community leadership program run in the Goldfields this year. The program
allowed 37 consumers, families, carers and service providers to enhance their skills
to effectively work in partnership with communities for greater advocacy and
improved social inclusion. Participants, including many Aboriginal representatives,
came from Kalgoorlie and surrounding areas such as Esperance.

In 2012/13, the Commission strengthened its role as the driver of strategic reform,
aiming to achieve consistency across Commonwealth and State goverments. As
Mental Health Commissioner, | represent Western Australia on several Council of
Australian Governments (COAG) Senior Officials Working Groups and Principal

Committees that are leading mental health reform nationally.

In 2012 COAG's Roadmap for National Mental Health Reform 2012-22 was released
having been developed in consultation with senior state level officials and the
mental health sector. This Roadmap sets out the shared vision for the future of
mental health in Australia and addresses the need for a longer term vision and
framework to guide national mental health reform.

The Commission is also developing a strong partnership with the National Mental

Health Commission to share information on policy priorities and stakeholder
expectations. This important role played by

the Commission ensures that issues identified
by people with mental iliness, their carers and
families, and other stakeholders at the State
level are appropriately reflected in the national
policy directions and funding priorities. WA also
participated in the first international meeting
of Mental Health Commissions in Sydney in
March 2013 and was a signatory to the Sydney
Declaration which outlined priority areas for
collaboration such as seclusion and restraint,
Indigenous mental health, international
benchmarking and the importance of work

for people experiencing mental illness.




In 2012/13, the Commission
continued to promote a whole-of-
government approach in addressing
mental health issues and entered into close
collaborative networks with other State Government
agencies to identify opportunities for joint effort.
Particular examples include the Street to Home program’s
Mobile Clinical Outreach Team which provides mental health and
drug and alcohol treatment for people who are sleeping rough
in the Perth and Fremantle inner city areas (in conjunction with
the Department for Child Protection and Family Support) and the
new multi agency court diversion programs in both the Children’s
and Adult Courts (in conjunction with Departments of Health, Attorney General,
Corrective Services, WA Police and non-government partners).

As the Commissioner for Mental Health, | am pleased to provide information in this
report on achievements in the broader work of the Commission. The Commission
receives funding through the State’s budget appropriation and Commonwealth
funding for specific national partnership programs to engage the best possible mix
of services to benefit the community.

The Commission invested a total of over $598 million in 2012/13 to support the
delivery of mental health services, including public specialised mental health (in-
patient and community) and non-government services. Approximately 86 per cent
of the Commission’s investment was for public specialised mental health services
in 2012/13. The Commission continues to work towards achieving an improved
balance of services through investment in the non-government sector. The total
investment in the non-government in 2012/13 was $85.2 million, an increase from
$64.7 million.

The Commission consolidated the gains made by the implementation of new
initiatives in the previous reporting periods by continuing to improve the level
and quality of services delivered through these programs. While maintaining the

effort in ongoing programs such as Individualised Community Living, Mental
Health Assertive Community Intervention, Statewide Specialist Aboriginal Mental
Health Service, Mobile Clinical Qutreach Team, National Perinatal Depression
Initiative and the WA Suicide Prevention Strategy, the Commission has also continued
its investment to increase the supply of step-up and step-down services to ease
pressure on hospital emergency departments and provide increased choices for
consumers and their families/carers. These programs provide the basis for the
Commission’s advancement towards its overarching vision of a Western Australia
where everyone works together to encourage and support people who experience
mental health problems and/or mental iliness to stay in the community, out of
hospital and live a meaningful life.

Another important development for mental health reform was the Premier’s
announcement on 10 April 2013 that the Commission and Drug and Alcohol Office
(DAO) will amalgamate under a single Chief Executive. This will ensure better
integration of the State’s network of services relating to prevention, treatment,
professional education and training, and research activities in the drug and alcohol
sector and across mental health services. This improved coordination of services
will provide better support to people with co-occurring issues and enhance
programs for those most at risk.

The contributions of people with lived experience of mental iliness, their families,
carers and networks to the wellbeing of our community is greatly appreciated.

The important role played by the staff of the Commission in their dedication
towards the achievement of our vision also requires special mention. | would

like to acknowledge the quality, professionalism and hard work of our staff, who
uphold and fully reflect the Commission’s values — hope and optimism, leadership,
integrity, innovation, excellence, collaboration and transparency.

The collective effort of the Commission and all its stakeholders in the mental
health sector has helped to establish a strong reputation within the broader
community for the mission that we have set on. This work would not have been



possible without the enduring support and commitment from our Minister, the
Hon Helen Morton MLC, and | take this opportunity to record my gratitude for her
commitment, dedication and support.

I would also like to thank Mr Barry MacKinnon AM, Chair and members of the
Mental Health Advisory Council, as well as Mr Peter Fitzpatrick AM, Chair and
members of the Ministerial Council for Suicide Prevention for their significant
contribution throughout the year.

Last, but not the least, | would like to commend the effort of all mental health
workers in this State. The Commission’s effort in planning and policy development
will become meaningless without the exceptional contribution from the State’s
dedicated mental health workforce. The Commission will continue to focus on
developing a State mental health workforce development strategy to meet the
challenges posed by a growing population, with significant changes to WA's
demography.

| thank you all for your valuable support in our fourth year of operation, and look
forward to working closely with you in the coming years.

Eddie Bartnik
COMMISSIONER
MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION




ational Structure

The Commission is responsible to the Minister for Mental Health, the Hon Helen Morton MLC.

The Commission was established by the Governor in Executive Council under Section 35 of the Public Sector Management Act 1994.

The accountable authority of the Commission is the Commissioner for Mental Health, Mr Eddie Bartnik.

The Commission does not directly administer any legislation.

In the performance of its functions, the Commission complies with the following laws:

«  Auditor General Act 2006 «  Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
- Carers Recognition Act 2004 +  Public Sector Management Act 1994
«  Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003 «  Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
Disability Services Act 1993 +  State Records Act 2000
Equal Opportunity Act 1984 «  State Superannuation Act 2000
Financial Management Act 2006 +  State Supply Commission Act 1991
«  Freedom of Information Act 1992 «  Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981

«  Health and Disability Services (Complaints) Act 1995
Hospital and Health Services Act 1927

In the financial administration of the agency, management has complied with the requirements of
the Financial Management Act 2006 and all other relevant laws, and exercised controls that provide
+ Industrial Relations Act 1979 reasonable assurance that the receipt and expenditure of monies and the acquisition and disposal
. Mental Health Act 1996 of public property and incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions.

«  Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993

Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

At the date of signing, management is not aware of any circumstances that would render the
particulars included in this statement misleading or inaccurate.
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Policy, Strategy and Planning Directorate - Director Eric Dillon
Leads reform and provides strategic direction and management of strategic policy and planning of
new programs and services to improve outcomes for individuals and their families and carers. It shapes
the future policy direction for mental health services and infrastructure planning statewide, ensuring
alignment with the Commission’s and Government’s priorities and strategic objectives.

Services Purchasing and Development Directorate - Director Elaine Paterson

Leads the purchasing and development of mental health services and supports across the State and
drives improved service outcomes for clients with an emphasis on coordinated service integration and
person centred, individualised approaches to service delivery across the sector. It oversees service delivery
performance and ensures compliance with relevant standards and legislative requirements.

Performance and Reporting Directorate - Director Danuta Pawelek

Is responsible for leading and directing the development, implementation, and management of the
Commission’s strategic information program. The program is key to ensuring the availability and effective
use of information, to drive policy development, planning, resource allocation and performance reporting

necessary to implement the Commission’s and Government’s strategic objectives and priorities.

Corporate Services Directorate - Director Ken Smith

Provides strategic leadership, management and specialised services associated with Corporate Services
and Governance to shape and support the Commission’s achievements which are aligned with the
mental health reform agenda. The Director also acts as the agency’s Chief Finance Officer to meet the
requirements of the Financial Management Act and other relevant legislation.

Organisational Reform - Director Lesley Van Schoubroeck

Provides leadership and strategic direction for the implementation of the mental health reform agenda
and the Commission’s and Government’s key priorities and strategic objectives. It drives the development
and implementation of system wide mental health legislative reform across the portfolio.

1

The Commission comprises five directorates. The
organisational structure has remained unchanged in

I 2012/13. However a Consultant Psychiatrist has been
seconded to the Commission from the Department of
Health and is a member of the Corporate Executive. The
organisational structure as at 30 June 2013 is shown in
Figure 1.

Commissioner
Eddie Bartnik

N
Vv’

Figure 1. Organisational Structure



our values

The Corporate Executive is the Commission’s senior management team.

Mental Health Commissioner

Eddie Bartnik was appointed the State’s first Mental Health
Commissioner in August 2010. He has worked in the human
services sector for many years and has significant national and
international experience.

Eddie has held senior positions within the Western Australian
public service across various agencies. This includes leadership
roles in policy, funding and statewide service delivery with the Disability Services
Commission where he championed innovative approaches to individualised funding
and personalised support. Eddie was previously the Acting Director General of the
Department for Communities from 2009 to 2010.

Eddie’s qualifications include a Masters degree in Clinical Psychology, Master

of Educational Studies and a Bachelor of Arts (Honours in Psychology). Eddie

is a Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors, a Fellow of the
Australasian Society of Intellectual Disability and a Fellow of the Australian Institute
of Management.
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Executive Staff

Director Policy, Strategy and Planning

Eric Dillon holds a BSc Hons and Masters Degree in Environmental
Science and other post graduate qualifications. Eric has significant
experience in local government in the United Kingdom and over
25 years of experience in the Western Australian public sector,
much of which has been at senior executive level working within
the health, mental health and drug and alcohol sectors and in
collaboration with non-government organisations.

Director Performance and Reporting

Danuta Pawelek has 26 years experience working in the Western
Australian public sector. Danuta has considerable expertise in
policy development and evaluation, strategic development

and change management, as well as a thorough understanding
of accountability mechanisms in the public sector. Danuta has
extensive practical experience in information and systems
development and implementation. Danuta holds a Magister
(Masters) of Economics Degree from the Lodz University in
Poland.

Director Organisational Reform

Lesley van Schoubroeck has extensive experience in policy

and strategy in human services organisations and in central
agencies in the Western Australian public sector. Lesley has a
PhD from Griffith University in politics and public policy as well
as post graduate qualifications in psychometrics and is a former
secondary teacher. Lesley is committed to promoting fairness
and justice and incorporating the views of the most vulnerable
people in the development and implementation of policy and in
reviewing the performance of the public sector.




Director Corporate Services and Governance

Ken Smith has a wide variety of experience over 37 years

from small business, government line agencies and Treasury.

In addition to human resources and information technology
experience, Ken has a strong financial management, accounting
and budgeting background. This includes pioneering whole of
government financial reporting and Treasury responsibility for
managing the budget allocations of a number of agencies. Ken is
a CPA and Chief Finance Officer of the Commission.

n
Director Services Purchasing and Development

Elaine Paterson has worked in the WA State Government for

nine years following 20 years experience working in a number
of different government departments in the UK. Elaine joined
the Commission in 2011 coming from the Department of Finance
where she was working on the implementation of the Delivering
Community Services in Partnership Policy. Elaine has a Masters
in Business Administration, a Masters in Business Psychology,
and a degree in Business Administration and Human Resource
Management.

hett
Consultant Psychiatrist

Steve Patchett has over 30 years experience as a psychiatrist in
public mental health services in New Zealand and WA. He has
directed programs in Community Mental Health and Forensic
Mental Health and was Executive Director of the Mental Health
Division, Department of Health, between 2007 and 2010. Steve
has a strong interest in the development and accountability of
modern, high quality mental health services throughout WA.

Executive Staff




Hon Helen
Morton MLC

MINISTER FOR
MENTAL HEALTH

In addition to the Commission, the Ministerial mental health portfolio encompasses
a number of statutory and non-statutory entities including:

. the Drug and Alcohol Office (DAO)
. the Council of Official Visitors (CoOV)
. the Mental Health Review Board (MHRB).

As the lead agency supporting the Minister for Mental Health, the Commission plays
an important role in supporting and coordinating the operations of these entities.

The CoOV and MHRB are rights protection bodies established under the Mental
Health Act 1996. Administrative responsibility for the CoOV and MHRB was
transferred to the Commission through the 2012/13 State Budget. Specific activities
undertaken by the Commission in support of these entities over the past year
include:

+ relocation of the MHRB to its new premises at 681 Murray Street, West Perth

« management of appointments and reappointments to the MHRB (Mr Michael
Hawkins’ appointment as President of the MHRB has been extended by the
Governor in Executive Council until 31 December 2013)

« facilitation of input from Board members and Official Visitors in respect of
proposed legislative reforms contained in the draft Mental Health Bill

14

Ministerial Portfolio Support

« development of a new computer-based case management system to support
the operation of both entities, which is scheduled to be rolled out in 2013/14

« provision of advice regarding compliance with legislation and policy governing
the operation of the public sector

+  board approvals

« ensuring members and staff of both entities are included in portfolio wide
planning and activities as appropriate.

The Commission’s Ministerial Liaison Unit (MLU) coordinates and prepares responses
to Ministerial and Parliamentary enquiries. The MLU provides an important liaison
function between the Minister for Mental Health, the Minister’s office and the
Commission, and between agencies where a coordinated response is required.

Regular briefings are provided to the Minister’s office on key issues to ensure
effective communication between the Commission and the Minister. In 2012/13,
the MLU dealt with approximately 622 pieces of correspondence including briefing
notes, letters and Parliamentary Questions.



The Commission has the lead responsibility
for mental health reform across the

State and its work is underpinned by the
Government’s ten year strategic policy
Mental Health 2020: Making it personal and
everybody’s business. The Commission’s main
contribution to achieving government goals
in 2012/13 was in the area of ‘Outcome
Based Service Delivery’. The links between
the government goal, the Commission’s
desired outcome, services purchased and
performance indicators for 2012/13 are
outlined in Figure 2.

The Commission’s Outcome Based Management
Framework was updated in the 2013/14 WA Government
Budget Statements following approval by the
Department of Treasury.

Figure 2. Outcome Based Management Framework
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yrmance Management Framework

Whole of government goal
Outcomes Based Service Delivery: Greater focus on achieving results in
key service delivery areas for the benefit of all Western Australians

Y

Our desired outcome
Accessible and high quality mental health services and supports that are recovery focussed
and promote mental health and wellbeing

Key effectiveness indicators:
« Readmissions to hospital within 28 days of discharge

+  Percent of contacts with community-based public mental health non-admitted services within 7 days post
discharge from public mental health inpatient units

«  Proportion of service funding directed to publicly funded community mental health services
«  Proportion of service funding directed to community organisations (NGOs)

v

Y

I Services we purchase I

Service One

Promotion and
prevention

Key efficiency
indicator

Cost per capita
of activities to
enhance mental
health and
wellbeing (iliness
prevention,
promotion

and protection
activities)

Service Two

Specialised
admitted patient
services

Key efficiency
indicator

Average cost per
purchased bed
day in specialised
mental health
units

Service Three

Specialised
community services

Key efficiency
indicator

Average cost per
purchased episode
of community care
provided by public
mental health
services

Service Four

Accommodation, support and
other services

Key efficiency indicators

+  Average cost per hour for
community support provided
by non-government
organisations to people with
mental health problems

+  Average MHC subsidy per
bedday for people with
mental illness living in
community supported
residential accommodation




Table 1. Summary of highlights comparing actual results with budget targets

2012/13 Budget | 2012/13 Actual Variation
$'000 $'000 $'000
Total cost of services (expense limit) 582,079 598,196 16,117
Net cost of services 458,038 443,803 (14,235)
Total equity 9,931 9,225 (706)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (777) 1,740 2,517
Approved full time equivalent staff level 85 20 5

Report on Operations



/ Performance Indicators

201112 2012-13 VARIATION
Actual Actual 2012-13

Actual and
Target

Outcome: Accessible and high quality mental health services and supports that are recovery focused and promote mental health and wellbeing

Key Effectiveness Indicators

Readmission to hospital within 28 days of discharge 9.8% 11.9% <=12% Within range
Percent of contacts with community-based public mental health non-admitted 70% 73.4% >=70% Within range
services within 7 days post discharge from public mental health inpatient units

Proportion of service funding directed to publicly funded community mental health 38.7% 42.2% >=40% Within range
services

Proportion of funding directed to community organisations (NGOs) 11.4% 13.3% >=15% (1.7%)

Service 1: Promotion and Prevention
Key Efficiency Indicator:

Cost per capita of activities to enhance mental health and wellbeing (illness $10 $15 $17 (%2)
prevention, promotion and protection activities)

Service 2: Specialised admitted patient services
Key Efficiency Indicator:
Average cost per purchased bedday in specialised mental health units $1,138 $1,102 $1,117 ($15)

Service 3: Specialised community services
Key Efficiency Indicator:

Average cost per purchased episode of community care provided by public mental $1,820 $2,142 $1,964 $178
health services

Service 4: Accommodation, support and other services
Key Efficiency Indicators:

Average cost per hour for community support provided by non-government $73 $76 $78 (%2)
organisations to people with mental health problems

Average MHC subsidy per bedday for people with mental illness living in community $206 $210 $240 ($30)
supported residential accommodation

] Table 2. Summary of key performance indicators
Set as part of the Government Budget process.



Key Directions

1 Person centred supports and services

The unique strengths and needs of the person experiencing mental health problems
and/or mental iliness are the key focus of individualised planning, supports and services.

2 Connected approaches

Strong connections between public and private mental health services, primary health
services, mainstream services, businesses, communities, individuals, families and carers
help achieve the best outcomes for Western Australians living with mental health
problems and/or mental illness.

The Commission continues to focus on
the implementation of reform strategies
that will deliver a person focused,
comprehensive and high-quality mental

health system in WA.

A key initiative was the development of
the Government's ten year strategic policy

Balanced investment

A comprehensive and contemporary mental health system provides a full range of
support and services, ranging from mental health promotion and prevention activities,

Mental Health 2020: Making it personal and through to early intervention, treatment and recovery.

everybody’s business that was launched by

Premier Colin Barnett in October 2011. The

policy provides a whole-of-government and

community approach to mental health and These directions impact upon every aspect of the current mental health system - enhancing

sets out three key directions: high quality and established treatment services, building on fledgling supports and
developing innovative recovery and early intervention services.
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the community, out of hospital and live a
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Reform Direction

The Commission is implementing the reform agenda in a staged approach. The
Commission developed it first Action Plan that identified actions against nine priority
areas for 2011/12 to improve mental health services and supports, and implement
the strategic policy.

In 2012/13, two systemic reform initiatives commenced. The first was the
Government’s response to the Review of the admission or referral to and the discharge
and transfer practices of public mental health facilities/services in Western Australia
completed by Professor Bryant Stokes, AM. The Government broadly supported
the recommendations and these are being progressively actioned largely by the
Commission and Department of Health. The principal recommendation was to
develop a comprehensive mental health services plan. Accordingly, the Commission
and Department of Health have commenced the development of a comprehensive
ten year Mental Health Services Plan that will provide a blueprint for the
development of mental health services in WA for the next decade. Further details
are provided in the Legislation and Quality Assurance section on page 24.

In addition, in April the State Government announced the amalgamation of the
Commission with the Drug and Alcohol Office (DAQ). This will ensure better
integration of the State’s network of mental health and drug and alcohol prevention
and treatment services across WA and strengthen the new organisations

ability to negotiate and manage contracts for the future. The

DAO Board will continue to operate and be supported by the

Commission until changes to the Alcohol and Drug Authority
Act 1974 can be enacted to amalgamate the DAO and the
Commission.

The Commission, in partnership with government, private,
non-government and community organisations,

is building a State where everyone is working

together to encourage and support people

who experience mental health

problems and/or mental illness

to stay in the community, out of

hospital and live a meaningful life.




Prior to the 1990s, limited information was available about the extent
and impact of mental iliness in Australia. In 1995, a program of study
under a common theme of understanding mental health and wellbeing
in the population of Australia was initiated to address this gap. As part
of the program, three surveys known collectively as the National Survey
of Mental Health and Wellbeing (the National Survey) commenced in
1997.

The first survey was designed to investigate the prevalence and impact of common
mental disorders' in adults, the second? focused on the less common mental
illnesses, in particular psychotic disorders® and the third* captured information about
the mental health of children and adolescents. The first two surveys were repeated
in 2007° and 2010° respectively and a new survey of children and adolescents is
being conducted during 2013.

Mental illness comprises a wide spectrum of disorders with varying degrees of
severity. Examples include anxiety, depression, bipolar disorders and schizophrenia.
The effect of mental illness can be severe on the individuals and families concerned,
and its influence is far-reaching for society as a whole. Social problems commonly
associated with mental illness include poverty, unemployment or reduced
productivity, violence and crime. People with mental iliness often experience human
rights problems such as isolation, discrimination and being stigmatised ’.

1 Depression, Anxiety and Substance Abuse.

2 People living with psychotic illness: An Australian Study 1997- 98. Commonwealth of Australian 1999.

3 Schizophrenia, bipolar affective disorders and depression with psychotic symptoms and persistent delusional
disorders

4 Sawyer et al. The mental health of young people in Australia: Key findings from the child and adolescent
component of the national survey of mental health and well-being. Australian and New Zealand Journal of
Psychiatry 2001;35:806-14.

5 National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing 2007

People living with psychotic illness 2010. Report on the second Australian Survey. Commonwealth of Aust 2011.

7 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Australia’s Health 2012. Australia’s Health Series, No 13, Canberra,
2012
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Understanding Mental Health
Problems and Ilinesses

Together with prevalence data, information on burden of disease and severity
of mental illness contribute to our understanding of the impact of mental health
problems.

Mental disorders are the leading cause of non-fatal burden of disease (24 per cent)
in Australia, meaning that, of the total years of healthy life lost through illness or
disease, 24 per cent are lost through the effects of mental illness8. The disability-
adjusted life year is a measure of overall disease burden expressed as the number of
years lost due to not only ill health and disability, but also early death. Worldwide,
major depression is predicted to be the second leading cause of disability adjusted
life years in 2020°.

The peak onset for mental illness is in youth and mental illness in childhood and
adolescence creates a significant clinical and social burden on the individual, their
family and society. For older teens (15-19 years) mental illness accounted for the
majority (51 per cent) of total burden from all diseases and injury. For young teens
(10-14 years) mental illness accounted for almost half of their total ill health (47 per
cent in both sexes)".

8 Begg etall (2007), The burden of disease and injury in Australia 2003, AIHW PHE 82,
April Canberra.

9 Murray C and Lopez D (1997) “Alternative projections of mortality and disability by cause
1990-2020: Global Burden of Disease Study. The Lancet, Vol 349, Issue 9064

10 Access Economics Pty Ltd (2009). The economic impact of youth mental
iliness and the cost effectiveness of early intervention.



Based on the 2007 National Survey" of common mental disorders, it is estimated that in WA approximately one in five (20 per cent or 380,000)™ adults (16-85 years)
experience a mental disorder during any given year and that one in two (45 per cent or 860,000)" adults will experience a mental disorder at some time in their lives'.

Based on the 1997 child and adolescent component
of the National Survey®, it is estimated that 14

per cent or approximately 60,000 young Western
Australians aged between 4-17 years were affected
by a clinically significant mental health problem.'

The 2010 Survey of High Impact Psychosis",
investigated the prevalence and impact of psychotic
disorders. It is estimated that approximately

7,100 Western Australians (aged 18 to 64 years)

have a psychotic illness that has a high impact in
terms of disability.”® The onset of these illnesses

is usually in late adolescence or early adulthood
with a consequent negative impact on education,
employment and social relationships.

The measure of severity used in the 2007 National
Survey summarises all the mental disorders

experienced in a 12 month period and their effect

on a person’s daily life and categorises this impact

as severe, moderate or mild. Figure 4 illustrates the
estimated number of Western Australians by the

severity of common mental disorders experienced in a 12
month period.

Figure 4. Prevalence and severity of mental disorders in Western Australia in one year

SEVERE MENTAL Approximately 48,000 (2.5%)
ILLNESS Western Australians
MODERATELY A imately 114,000 (6%)

pproximately 114, %,
SEVERE Western Australians
ILLNESSES

Over 219,000 (11.5%)
Western Australians

MILD TO MODERATE
ILLNESSES

In addition to the above

GENERAL POPULATION
WITH NO CURRENT
MENTAL ILLNESS

three groups, approximately
480,000 Western Australians
will experience a mental health
problem and or mental illness at
some point in their lives.

Extrapolated to the June 2012 Western Australian estimated residential population (ERP) of persons aged 16 to 85 years (1,904,426)

11 National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing 2007
12 Extrapolated to projected WA population June 2012.
13 Extrapolated to projected WA population June 2012.
14 Extrapolated to projected WA population June 2012.
15 National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing 2007
16 Extrapolated to projected WA population June 2012.

17 Commonwealth of Australia (2011). People living with psychotic illness 2010. Report on the second Australian national survey.

18 Extrapolated to projected WA population June 2012.

19 Council of Australian Governments. National Action Plan for Mental Health 2006-2011. Fourth Progress Report — covering implementation to 2009-10
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Suicide is a major public health concern and preventing suicide and suicidal behaviour requires a comprehensive whole-of-government and whole-of-
community approach. The Western Australian Suicide Prevention Strategy 2009-2013 was developed to provide a framework for the State Government to coordinate
and invest in suicide prevention strategies at all levels in the community.

Suicide and suicidal behaviour involves a complex interaction and interplay between genetic, biological, social, environmental and demographic factors, family
characteristics and childhood experiences, personality and beliefs, mental disorders and alcohol and drug use. Often a combination of these factors can increase the risk of
suicidal behaviour.

The Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) is the statutory agency responsible for analysis and reporting of mortality data in Australia, including suicide. Data on suicide in
Australia has been published by the ABS since 1983, with suicide statistics available from 1881.

ABS data on suicide deaths are sourced from the state and territory Registrars of Births, Deaths and Marriages and supplemented by information from the National Coroners
Information System. The management of death registration systems is the responsibility of the eight individual state and territory Registrars. Published data on suicide are
always retrospective with up to an 18 month lag due to the length of time required for coronial processes to be finalised. Care needs to be taken in interpreting figures relating
to suicide due to limitations of data.

The ABS primarily publishes data on deaths due to suicide in its annual Causes of Death (cat.n0.3303.0) publication. Further detail on suicide statistics, using ABS data
unpublished in Causes of Death, are published in various formats in national documents including the Report on Government Services (RoGS).

Table 3 below presents statistics on suicide for the period 2002 to 2010, as reported in the 2013 RoGS, as well as preliminary data for 2011 from the ABS' Causes of Death (CoD).

RoGS 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 CoD-ABS 2011

Number of deaths 242 227 194 203 245 266 300 278 310 Number of deaths 306

Standardised death rate (per 100,000 pop") 12.6 11.6 9.8 10.1 12.1 12.6 14.2 12.7 13.8 Standardised death rate 2007-2011 13.1

Table 3: Deaths due to suicide registered in Western Australia - 2002 to 2010

Note

ICD-10 codes X60-X84.9 and Y87.0 were used to define suicide for all years.

Numbers based on the year the death was registered.

Include deaths of persons usually resident overseas, that occur in WA

Data for 2009, 2010 and 2011 are preliminary and subject to revision as cases may be added when coronial investigations for deaths occurring in these years are finalised.
Sources: Report on Government Services, 2013 - Table 12A.59.

Australian Bureau of Statistics, Causes of Death, 2011 (cat. no. 3303.0)
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Table 4 presents statistics on suicide deaths of Western Australian residents, registered in WA for the period 2002 to 2011, compiled by the Department of Health'’s

Epidemiology Branch. A similar table was presented in the Commission’s 2011-12 Annual Report; however, the figures for 2008 to 2010 have been updated.

These statistics are also sourced from the ABS but differ from the data provided in Table 3.

Key differences include:

« year of registration of death (Table 3), compared with year of death (Table 4)

. all deaths occurring in WA (Table 3), compared with death of WA residents only (Table 4)

+ single year data used to calculate standardised rates (Table 3), compared with three year moving averages used to calculate age standardised rates (Table 4).

Year 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
Number of deaths 244 214 196 206 250 258 295 271 299 286
Age standardised rate (per 100,000 pop") 12.5 1.2 10.3 10.7 11.5 12.6 12.5 12.8 12.3 12.5

Table 4: Deaths due to suicide of Western Australian residents, registered in WA-2002 to 2011

Notes

ICD-10 codes X60-X84.9 and Y87.0 were used to define suicide for all years.

Numbers based on the year of death.
Include deaths registered in WA for WA residents only.

Age Standardised death rates are calculated using three year moving averages in order to show trend data.
Data for 2009 to 2011 are preliminary and subject to change as cases may be added when coronial investigations for deaths occurring in these years are finalised.
In future Annual Reports data published nationally will be reproduced.

Source: Epidemiology Branch, WA Department of Health
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Protecting the rights of people with mental health problems or mental
iliness, their families and carers is a key function of the Commission.
Ensuring choice and greater control over the supports and services they
access is also central to the Commission’s role. In 2012/13 a range of key
initiatives were advanced to contribute to this reform agenda as follows.

New mental health legislation is an essential part of the Commission’s mental health
reform agenda.

2012/13 has seen significant progress in the drafting of a new Mental Health Bill,
which will provide for the treatment, care, support and protection of people
experiencing mental illness.

In 2012, the Draft Mental Health Bill underwent a community consultation. Over

1,200 submissions were received reflecting many competing views. As a result, many
changes were made and it was decided that a further round of consultation would
be beneficial.

The Hon Helen Morton, Minister for Mental Health, tabled the Green Mental Health
Bill 2012 in Parliament on 8 November 2012. Explanatory materials were published to
generate discussion and debate. The Commission invited submissions on the Green
Bill until 28 February 2013 and received over 100. This further consultation was
extremely valuable, and drafting of amendments to the Green Bill is underway.

To facilitate the considerable amount of work required to ensure successful
transition to the new legislation, the Commission has:

« made progress in bringing together people experiencing mental illness, families
and carers, clinicians and policy makers to provide input on processes and
practicalities with respect to implementation of the Bill

« conducted nearly 37 forums and interviews to obtain input as to how the
Mental Health Advocacy Service (currently the Council of Official Visitors) should
operate under the Bill

24

nd Quality Assurance

«  worked with the President of the Mental
Health Review Board (MHRB) to arrange
presentations by interstate Tribunal members
to MHRB members and psychiatrists, to
facilitate the transition from the MHRB to a
Mental Health Tribunal

Western Australia

Mental Health
Bill 2012

«  worked in collaboration with the Health
and Disability Services Complaints Office and
14 key stakeholders to draft a plain English
document mapping complaints processes in
the mental health sector and outcomes that o provide o th ecogntion ofthe e ofcrers and il
can be ach ieved :;11 5;::](|.ng care and support to people who have a mental

and for related purposes.

DRAFT BILL FOR PUBLIC COMMENT

The Government proposes to introduce into Parliament a Bill to do

the following

* to provide for the treatment, care, support and protection of
people who have a mental illness; and

* to provide for the protection of the rights of people who have a

This draft Bill has been prepared for public comment but it does not
necessarily represent the Government’s settled position.

« drafted specifications, and tendered for, a
new computer-based case management
system to support the operations of the
MHRB and the Council of Official Visitors, that
will be modified to support the Mental Health
Tribunal and the Mental Health Advocacy
Service once they are established

All submissions should be forwarded to:
legislation@mentalhealth.wa.gov.au

or

Mental Health Commission

Level 5, 81 St Georges Tce, Perth
GPO Box X2299, Perth Business Centre WA 6847

« met with many stakeholders and presented
at a range of meetings and forums to provide information and answer questions
about the new Mental Health Bill

« participated in forums conducted by Gregor Henderson, international mental
health consultant, relating to quality assurance in the mental health sector.

In addition to progressing new mental health legislation, the Commission drafted

an extensive submission to the Department of the Attorney General in relation to

forensic mental health legislation, the Criminal Law (Mentally Impaired Accused) Act
1996, and contributed to the development of legislation by other departments.




The Commission has a responsibility to lead mental health reform through
commissioning accessible, high quality services that promote and support good
mental health, wellbeing and recovery for people with mental illness or mental
health problems, their families and carers. In 2011, the Commission contracted
international consultant Gregor Henderson to provide advice to inform the
development of a new Quality Assurance Framework for mental health services
in WA. The Developing a Quality Assurance Framework for Mental Health in Western
Australia (the Report) presents a framework for the future that builds on the already
substantial work that has taken place on quality assurance in mental health in WA
and on the views of the many stakeholders and agencies involved. In 2012/13,
the Commission continued to progress the implementation of the Report’s
recommendations.

Following the initial visit and Report by Gregor Henderson, the Commission has
progressed the recommendations regarding rights and protections through the
Green Mental Health Bill; and the quality management recommendations via the
development of the six Qutcome Statements and the initial self assessment process
conducted in the community managed sector. Gregor Henderson was again
engaged in March 2013 to consult with key stakeholders to further outline the key
elements of the quality assurance system as it operates in WA, with a particular focus
on the quality management aspects.

The Green Mental Health Bill 2012, has included recommendations within the report
that relate to the rights and protection of people experiencing mental iliness, their
families and carers. These include:

« anew Charter of Mental Health Care Principles setting out what consumers can
rightfully expect from mental health services

« establishment of an independent Mental Health Tribunal to replace the Mental
Health Review Board and to provide more regular and comprehensive reviews of
involuntary patient status

+ a statutory Mental Health Advocacy Service to replace the Council of Official
Visitors, under the direction of a Chief Mental Health Advocate and with an
expanded remit to support vulnerable patients
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+ new requirements to include families and carers in decision making and
discharge planning

« new safeguards in relation to regulated treatments such as electroconvulsive
therapy

« mandatory reporting of suspected physical and sexual assault of patients.

The recommendations relating to quality management included in the report have
been progressed through:

« the development of six Outcome Statements in partnership with key groups in
the community, including people with mental health problems and/or mental
iliness, and their families and carers

«  the majority of Commission funded service providers undergoing a preferred
provider process in line with the ‘pre-qualification’ process highlighted in
the report. This will ensure equity across mental health services through
demonstrating the same service standards

« the development of a quality management framework that includes:

o anannual self assessment completed by non-government organisations
including the development of a 12 month continuous improvement plan

o improved reporting, tracking, management and investigation (as and when
required) of Notifiable Incidents

o evaluations that will be conducted by a panel of independent evaluators
(including carers and people with a lived experience of mental iliness)
who will assess service quality by seeking evidence of the quality of
the mental health service through direct feedback, observations and
documentation. Services will need to demonstrate that they actively
support individuals, and/or their families and carers, to achieve their
personal goals (as they relate to the Mental Health Outcomes),
and address the intent of each National Standard in
practice. This independent evaluation process is under
development and will be trialled in early 2014

o establishing strengthened partnerships to
progress the recommendations in the report.



| Health Outcomes Statements

Health, wellbeing and recovery

A home and financial security
People have a safe home and a stable and adequate source of income.

Recovery, learning and growth

People are welcomed and have the opportunity to participate and contribute to community life.



The Stokes Review included
findings from public hospital flg) S
emergency departments
and specialised inpatient
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In 2012/13, the Commission continued to support the implementation of the
National Standards in consultation with key stakeholders across the mental health
sector. This included continued funding to the Western Australian Association for

; . ; and community public . ..
Mental Health (WAAMH) to deliver training to the sector on the National Standards. ental health services. The Review of the admission or
All Commission funded services undertook a self assessment against the National final report contained 117 referral to and the discharge
Standards in late 2012 which included the development of a 12 month continuous recommendations, and and transfer practices of public
improvement plan. This assessment process will occur annually and will complement presented information mental health facilities/services
the independent evaluation process that will occur approximately every three years arising from submissions in Western Australia
for funded services. and interviews with
individuals with mental Professor Bryant Stokes, AM
illness, families, carers,
ot 5 clinicians and service July 2012
An independent review, Review providers.

of the admission or referral to

and the discharge and transfer begun to implement the

National Standards for practices of public mental health recommendations and

Mental Health Services \ facilities in Western Australia further details are provided
e,

Comprehensive work has

(the Stokes Review) was led by in Significant Issues
Professor Bryant Stokes, AM with Impacting the Commission
the report released in November section on page 54.

2012. The Stokes Review was

undertaken to provide an

analysis of the compliance with

recommended practices, and

- to provide recommendations to
\ ensure the policies and practices
. are effective. The resulting report

provides significant guidance and
assists with quality improvement
in public mental health services.
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Funded services

The Commission is responsible for a range of public investment in mental health and purchases services which best meet the needs of individuals, families and
carers. Since its establishment in 2010, the Commission has been progressively working to achieve balanced investment across the mental health system. This
involves ensuring that critical resources required to support people with mental iliness are in place and that investment in specialised mental health services is

complemented by investment in a range of formal and informal supports and services which focus on prevention, early intervention and recovery. This will take
time to achieve but significant progress has been made during the year.

The total expenditure on mental health services in 2012/13 was over $598 million, including public specialised mental health (inpatient and community) and non-
government services. With approximately 86 per cent of the Commission’s service investment in public specialised mental health services. The Commission’s aim is to
achieve an improved balance of services through future investment. The below table provides an overview of funding allocation to public mental health services and non-

government organisations over the previous two years. The Commission intends to develop a comprehensive and contemporary mental health system that provides a full
range of support and services, and to build the role of the non-government sector and its connection to people in the community.

2010-1 % of total % of total 2012-13 % of total

$'000 $'000
Public mental health* $441,587 90% $470,794 88% | $513,006 86%
Non-government organisations $49,107 10% $64,735 12% $85,190 14%
Total $490,693 100% $535,529 100% $598,196 100%

Table 5: Commission’s investment in public and non-government services in 2010-2013

*Includes a publicly funded, privately operated hospital.

A cornerstone of this investment is improving the range of services in a strong and sustainable non-government sector. In 2012/13 more than $85
million was invested by the Commission in 86 non-government organisations for mental health services and supports including prevention

and promotion, community support and supported accommodation. A list of community sector organisations funded by the Commission is
included in Appendix One.
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The WA Suicide Prevention Strategy 2009-2013 (Strategy) continues
to be implemented across the State. The Strategy is overseen by the
Ministerial Council for Suicide Prevention (MCSP) with initiatives implemented
by Centrecare as the lead non-government organisation. Significant community
engagement has been achieved with 45 Community Action Plans (CAPs)
developed and owned by local communities in 255 individual locations. There are
seven statewide plans and targeted CAPs for at-risk groups including Aboriginal and
regional communities, young homeless people, sex and gender diverse people and
people in prison. Over 220 organisations have taken an Agency Pledge to implement
suicide prevention activities and training for their workforce and stakeholders. The
Agency Pledges are a highly successful and sustainable element of the Strategy, as
the increased suicide prevention awareness within organisations also creates flow-
on benefits to their families and community networks.

Alongside the Strategy, the Commission invested over $1.6 million across a range

of suicide prevention initiatives such as counselling and early intervention services,
crisis lines and the national depression and anxiety initiative beyondblue. In 2012/13,
Lifeline WA received $520,000 towards their telephone crisis counselling services.
Youth Focus received $465,000 for additional staff to help young people overcome
issues associated with self-harm, depression and suicide.

Suicide response in the Kimberley

There continues to be a significant number of suicides in the Kimberley requiring

a coordinated response. Under the Strategy, approximately $2.7 million in funding
has been allocated to CAPs in the Kimberley region. The CAPs are delivering a range
of community awareness raising events and mental health and suicide prevention
training programs. Local leadership is being fostered to help people in need access
supports, and services are strengthening networks to enhance safety and reduce
risks.
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Coordinated response for at-risk young people

In response to an increase in emergency presentations to hospitals by young people
for suicide attempts and self-harm, a new program was funded in 2012. The program
connects school-aged children with mental health services such as the Child and
Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) and headspace to reduce the risk of self-
harm or suicide. The Commission and the Ministerial Council for Suicide Prevention
provided joint funding of $474,000 for six additional mental health staff at CAMHS
and $200,000 to the Department of Education for a school psychologist who will
work with the Catholic Education Office, Association for Independent Schools in WA
and the public school system and will
collaborate with Child and Adolescent
Mental Health services (CAMHS)

to bring about a more integrated
approach in relation to suicide
prevention. These initiatives will
complement the rollout of the CAMHS
Acute Response Team (ART). ART is a
24-hour, seven-day-a-week program
at Princess Margaret Hospital to assess
and assist children and young people
experiencing mental health issues in
the community.

The Commission provided an
additional $200,000 to Youth Focus
for a coordinated mental health

crisis response strategy in WA
metropolitan high schools. Students
impacted by a mental health crisis
are better supported with a specialist
psychologist delivering immediate
counselling and psychological
support. A school liaison officer is establishing improved communication pathways
with school staff, stakeholders and local services/supports; and mental health
training is being delivered to school communities.

Delivering a Healthy WA



The Commission has continued to implement the key reform
directions of its strategic policy, Mental Health 2020: Making
it personal and everybody’s business, through promoting and
establishing person centred approaches for people with mental ilness, their
families and carers.

A flagship initiative for achieving this has been through the Individualised
Community Living (ICL) strategy, established in 2011/12, and designed to assist
individuals and their families in working towards a good life and increased control
and choice over the supports and services they receive.

The ICL strategy involves three components of reform including:

« commissioning of services in an outcomes based procurement environment for
community managed organisations and development of policies, frameworks
and systems by the Commission with emphasis on individual choice of housing,
locations and living arrangements

« clinical assessment procedures, transition planning and provision of
complementary specialist clinical services

« development of comprehensive support plans for each individual including
active involvement in decision making and self direction by the person with
mental illness, their family and carers.

Since the commencement of the strategy, 100 people have received a personalised
support package to live in their own home in the community with access to a range
of community based activities, supports and clinical services. Each person has been
actively involved in choosing and furnishing their home, with 85 people having
moved in and the remainder of the people in the process of transitioning to their
new home.

In 2012/13 additional capital funding of $11,485,000 over four years was committed
for the purchase of 22 community based homes and $14,430,000 for 48 packages of
support. This will support an additional 22 people to move into their new home and
an additional 26 people to receive support while continuing to live in their current
home.
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In support of the implementation of the
ICL strategy the Commission has:

« developed a suite of policies,
frameworks and guidelines that
support the strategy, including
Creating a Great Life with You,
Accountability and Safeguards
Frameworks, Individualised Funding
policy and guidelines and the
Individualised Support and Funding
Policy as well as operational guidelines

+ established the ICL Independent Panel that reviews all individual plans for newly
eligible people and recommends them for funding

« continued to build on partnerships with key stakeholders and developed a
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the Department of Housing and
the Department of Health

« sponsored a range of training and development opportunities attended by
individuals with a lived experience, family members and mental health sector
organisations.

People who have received assistance through ICL report that:

« being involved in the purchasing of their new home has great meaning to them,
people feel valued and that they have been heard

« having their own home has created stability to re-engage with their community.
People have been able to revisit and engage in activities they used to enjoy,
including returning to study, volunteering, enjoying social activities, creative
expression and enjoying time with family and friends

«  personalised packages have enabled tailoring of supports and services
specific to individual needs. This has ensured parents with mental iliness have
successfully kept their family together and in some instances people are able to
share their home with a flatmate who helps out.



The Commission has progressed a range of initiatives to support the implementation of community alternatives to hospitalisation. Mental health subacute services
are one such initiative and the first model of care of its kind for WA.

Also known as step-up, step-down services, subacute services provide appropriately balanced clinical and non-clinical care and support to individuals who are at
risk of becoming unwell and for people leaving hospital who may require more intensive support before returning home.

During the year, the development of the 22 bed Joondalup subacute service culminated in the establishment of a modern and person centred service which commenced
service provision in May 2013.

Planning for the Rockingham and Broome subacute services has continued, with appropriate land options being sourced and negotiations underway to enable the
development of future subacute services in these locations. It is anticipated that these services will become operational by 2015-16.

Additionally, the planning and development for the six bed subacute service in the Goldfields region is underway with funding of $2.52 million allocated for its operation.
This new subacute service will ensure that people living with mental iliness in the Goldfields region will have access to mental health services closer to where they live.

The Government has also announced an intention to develop a 10 bed subacute service in Bunbury and a six bed service in Karratha. When completed this will deliver a total
of 72 subacute beds, of which 28 will be in country regions.

Joondalup subacute service opened by the Minister for Mental Health, the Hon Helen Morton MLC and Premier Colin Barnett MLA.
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In 2012/13, the Commission continued to fund a variety
of supported accommodation options with a total of 1696 beds
available, excluding the Individualised Community Living Strategy.

The supported accommodation program is delivered in partnership with
the Department of Health and Department of Housing and a number of non-
government organisations.

The program provides supported housing for people with a severe and persistent
mental illness, people who are homeless, at risk of homelessness, people in
unsuitable accommodation or residing for long periods in inpatient units. This group
of people experience an increased risk of extended inpatient admission, frequent
inpatient readmission, and high usage of community mental health and other
services, due to the limited supported accommodation options previously available
in the community to adequately meet their needs.

The Supported Accommodation Program offers crisis and respite care, transitional
care, independent living, licensed psychiatric hostels, long term accommodation,
community supported residential units and community options for young people
and adults, as well as specialist residential services for older people.

The Commission engaged Sankey Associates, an independent consultant, to
complete an evaluation of 20 services in the supported accommodation program.

The evaluation process included in-person consultation with service providers,
interviews with residents and their families, as well as two paper-based surveys. A
reference group comprised of key stakeholders, including the Commission, service
providers, consumers and carers supported the evaluation process.

The Supported Accommodation Program Evaluation Final Report demonstrated that
the Supported Accommodation Program is achieving significant positive outcomes
for residents, and in doing so, is supporting and reassuring their families and carers
as well.
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“This is a valuable program delivering tangible
benefits to people experiencing severe and persistent
mental illness. As well as being provided with a good
home, residents receive good clinical and non-clinical
care and feel comfortable, safe and well supported.
Many residents are pleased with the changes they
have made in their lives and are optimistic about
things continuing to go well for them. The Program

is achieving good outcomes even in circumstances
where families had previously held few expectations
of improvement in the lives of their partners, adult
children or siblings. Families are grateful and relieved

MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION
Government of Western Australia

SUPPORTED ACCOMMODATION PROGRAM EVALUATION
FINAL REPORT

November 2012

sankey Associates Pty Ltd

that their family member is safe, well and happy. There
are indications that the Program reduces preventable
re-admissions to hospital.”

While the findings from the evaluation indicate positive outcomes for residents,
the Commission is working at a number of levels to address the various issues
highlighted in the report. The final report together with a commentary document
prepared by the Commission can be downloaded from the Commission’s website.

1 Sankey Associates Pty Ltd, Supported Accommodation Program Evaluation,
Final Report November 2012



The Commission provides funding to various organisations
(public, private and non-government) to deliver a range of specialised
mental health services. These services include mental health promotion
and mental illness prevention, assessment, clinical interventions, support and
recovery programs in a variety of settings including hospitals, community clinics,
residential accommodation as well as support provided in the person’s home.

Appendix Two provides a high level overview of services funded by the Commission
categorised into four services:

+  prevention and promotion

+  specialised mental health admitted

+  specialised community mental health

« accommodation, support and other services.

Prevention and promotion services focus on protecting, supporting, sustaining
and maximising mental health among populations and individuals. Activities include
early intervention, advocacy, carer/family support, education and information.

Specialised mental health admitted services provide admitted patient care to
people with mental disorders. These services are provided in authorised public
hospitals including Graylands/Selby, King Edward Memorial, Swan, Bentley,
Armadale, Fremantle, Rockingham, Albany, Bunbury, and Kalgoorlie, as well as two
publicly funded private hospitals, Joondalup and Mercy. These services are also
provided in designated mental health inpatient units located in Royal Perth, Sir
Charles Gairdner, Osborne Park, Broome and Princess Margaret hospitals. In early
2013, an expanded mental health inpatient unit was opened on the new site of the
Albany Hospital, initially providing three additional inpatient beds. A further four
beds will be opened in 2013 which will bring the total available specialised mental
health inpatient beds in Albany to 16.

WA Health provides specialised community mental health services focussing on
clinical interventions and specialist mental health support. The Commission has
continued the process of increasing investment in these services with the allocation
of $6.3 million commencing in 2012-13 to develop assertive community intervention
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services for children and their families experiencing a mental health crisis to reduce
unnecessary emergency department presentations and prevent avoidable inpatient
admissions. This funding is being provided as part of the Commonwealth National
Partnership Agreement Supporting National Mental Health Reform.

Accommodation, support and other services are provided by a range of non-
government organisations and include psychosocial support, rehabilitation, day
programs, respite care, housing support and accommodation services.

As part of the WA Implementation Plan for Closing the Gap in Indigenous Health
Outcomes, the State Government in 2010/11 committed a total of $22.47 million
over four years to establish a Statewide Specialist Aboriginal Mental Health Service
(SSAMHS), to provide specialist clinical interventions to Aboriginal people with
severe and persistent mental illnesses across WA.

The SSAMHS model is a highly innovative arrangement which delivers whole-of-life
mental health care. In addition to specialist clinical interventions, this model involves
the family and engages traditional healers identified by people with mental illness
and their families through community networks.

SSAMHS is focused on delivering improved access to responsive mental health
services for Aboriginal people along with a career structure that will encourage
recruitment and retention of Aboriginal staff. The key objectives of SSAMHS are:

« improving access to culturally appropriate mental health services for Aboriginal
people and their families

+ building the capacity of the Aboriginal mental health workforce

« developing and maintaining interagency partnerships aimed at the
development of a more holistic approach to Aboriginal mental health care

« improving the cultural understanding and functioning of mental health service
providers.

Agreements have been in place for SSAMHS to provide services in all metropolitan
and country regions, except the Kimberley, since January 2011. The agreement
for the Kimberley region was finalised in December 2011, and service delivery



commenced in May 2012. The Kimberley model involves an
innovative regional partnership between WA Country Health
Services and Aboriginal Controlled Community Health Services.

Guided by an interim evaluation conducted in early 2012, the SSAMHS
program was further developed and consolidated during 2012/13. SSAMHS
workers are progressively being co-located within mainstream mental health
services, and at June 30 2013, over 80 per cent of 61.5 COAG funded SSAMHS
positions were filled.

Further funding for SSAMHS was approved by the Department of Treasury in
June 2013 which will enable the program to continue through to June 2014. The
Commission will closely work with the new State Government Aboriginal Affairs
Cabinet Subcommittee to improve coordination of Closing the Gap services and
funding.

Y

Acting Executive Director for North Metro Health Service Mental Health Patrick Marwick,
Minister for Mental Health Helen Morton and Michael Mitchell, Program Manager, Specialist
Aboriginal Mental Health Service Metropolitan unveil the plaque for the new service
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Other Aboriginal-specific programs funded by the Commission include the Looking
Forward project in the metropolitan south-east corridor, which aims to develop a
model for mental health and drug and alcohol services to effectively engage with
the Aboriginal community. Funding was also provided to deliver Aboriginal perinatal
mental health training to Aboriginal health workers and other health providers in
two metropolitan and two rural areas.

Reducing stigma and preventing mental illness is a key priority for the Commission
which is constantly researching new and improved ways of engaging the
community in this critical area. To gain further insight TNS Social Research was
engaged to undertake research on stigma associated with mental iliness, and
identify key elements to inform social marketing campaigns and strategies to create
positive behavioural and attitudinal change.

Over 1500 Western Australians were surveyed, including 590 people who self-
identified as consumers. This research provides a baseline for measuring the
effectiveness of stigma reduction strategies and changes in community attitudes
over time in WA.

Key findings show that:

«  Generally, the majority of the community do think that mental illness is a real
medical illness (72 per cent), do not believe that mental illness is a sign of
personal weakness (71 per cent) and do not believe that people can just snap
out of the problem (69 per cent).

+ Asignificant minority view people with mental illness as unpredictable (42 per
cent), or a danger to others (20 per cent). Many people kept more social distance
from people with schizophrenia.

«  Over half of consumers have self-stigmatised, with three in 10 not disclosing
iliness in the workplace and three in 10 avoiding social events.

«  Those with an experience of suicidal thoughts, self-harm, anxiety or an eating
disorder are significantly more likely to report higher levels of self-stigma,
including in their dealings with health professionals.

«  Demographically, significantly more stigmatising attitudes are reported among



people who do not know anyone with a mental illness, men
and people aged 18 to 44.

. Schools, workplaces and the media are important settings for stigma
reduction education.

« General practitioners are critical to reducing stigma as they are often the first
point of contact when someone is experiencing mental illness.

While there is a reasonable level of awareness around mental illness in WA, more
needs to be done to engage young people and middle-aged men, and to break
down stereotypes and prejudice around specific mental ilinesses. A multi-pronged
approach to address stigma should involve consumers and carers in educating
the wider community about mental iliness; strengthen peer-based programs; and
utilise multi-media and innovative strategies to increase community support and
awareness.

The Commission is using the research to improve existing stigma reduction
activities such as Mental Health Week and the Music Feedback youth mental

health campaign. New activities have been funded to address stigma, focusing on
consumer empowerment and systemic change. This includes community awareness
forums, public speaking workshops for consumers, and capacity building for self-
help groups.

New initiatives included the Commission funding Connect Groups, the peak body
for self-help and support groups in WA. The Connect Groups Pay it Forward grants
involved the provision of brokerage funds to its member groups as part of a strategy
to prevent the onset of mental health issues and support the recovery process of
individuals. Over 50 support groups working in the community benefited from

the grants and used the funds to buy minor equipment, build membership and
strengthen capacity.

The Commission also provided a one off grant to Connect Groups to pilot five units
of competency in self help and support group facilitation, which contributes toward
a Certificate IV in Community Services. Twenty community members benefited from
scholarships and the course has allowed an increase in the number of support group
facilitators as well as strengthening a vital alternative community- based workforce.

New investment was provided to the Mental lliness Fellowship of WA to develop
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mental health multimedia resources for fly-in, fly-out workers and their families, with
a focus on building resilience and early intervention.

The Commission has also continued throughout the year to support partnerships
which promote mental wellbeing and prevent mental illness through universal
campaigns and local activities. This includes significant funding for the national
depression and anxiety initiative beyondblue, the Act Belong Commit statewide
mental health campaign, the Music Feedback youth mental health campaign and
school programs such as Aussie Optimism. A range of community arts and skill
development programs are funded to foster social inclusion and improve mental
health outcomes for at-risk groups.

The People with Exceptionally Complex Needs (PECN) program is a multi-agency
initiative that supports adults with co-occurring mental iliness, acquired brain injury,
intellectual disability and/or significant substance use problems. Individuals selected
for the program receive intensive and coordinated support to meet a range of needs
including access to housing, education and training, employment, health services
and appropriate support.

During 2012, additional funding from the Commission enabled the capacity of the
PECN program to be increased, with 19 individuals currently being supported. All
19 individuals now have access to individualised funding through the Commission
or the Disability Services Commission. Support plans are being developed or are in
place, and housing has been approved or provided for 11 individuals to date. There
is clear evidence the PECN program is making a positive difference to the lives of
these individuals and their families.

Following the success of the PECN program, the Young People with Exceptionally
Complex Needs (YPECN) project was initiated in early 2012 to coordinate

services for young people with exceptionally complex, co-occurring needs.

A coordinator for the program was appointed in March 2012, with funding

and leadership being provided jointly by the Commission, Department for

Child Protection and Family Support and Disability Services

Commission. The YPECN project provides coordination for

11 young people and has achieved significant outcomes




for individuals such as re-engagement with family, return to
school and education, and the provision of support to maintain
placements with family or a service provider.

The State Government introduced a Disruptive Behaviour Management Strategy
to address public concern about disruptive behaviour in public housing.

The Commission and the Department of Housing developed a Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) which strengthens relationships and information sharing
between the two agencies, and focuses on improving housing outcomes for people
with mental health problems who are facing tenancy eviction. From this MOU,

an Interagency Executive Committee was formed with membership consisting of
senior representatives from the Commission, the Department of Health and the
Department of Housing.

In addition, the Commission provided $20,000 to the Department of Housing

for their key front line staff to undertake a two-day Mental Health First Aid

Training course. This training has assisted staff to improve their knowledge and
understanding of the signs and symptoms of mental health problems and/or mental
iliness.

The Commission and the Department of Housing will continue to work closely
together to action the MOU, whereby mental health service providers will be
notified of any ‘strikes’ or warnings under the Disruptive Behaviour Management
Strategy that have the potential to impact on people with mental illness. This will
provide an opportunity to review the support provided to people at risk.

In 2012/13, the Commission continued planning work to ensure that an appropriate
mix of services and supports is available for the rapidly growing number of older
people in WA. Developing the capacity of health and aged care providers to better
manage mental health related issues and providing appropriate alternatives to
reduce demand for acute inpatient care remain key priorities.

In late 2012 the Department for Communities launched An Age-friendly WA: The
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Seniors Strategic Planning Framework 2012-2017, (the Framework) which seeks to
achieve a vision where all Western Australians age well in communities where
they matter, belong and contribute. The Commission provided input into the
development of the Framework in regard to approaches relating to mental health
and wellbeing and will use the Framework to guide future planning initiatives for
this age group.

Three key projects enhancing mental health services for older people became
fully operational in 2012/13. Australian Government funding provided as part

of the National Partnership Agreement on Improving Public Hospitals enabled the
establishment and expansion of community mental health teams for older adults
in Peel and the South West. The 10 bed older adult inpatient unit at Rockingham
Hospital also became fully operational during the period, providing older people
living in Rockingham, Kwinana and the Peel region with greater access to specialist
mental health services closer to home.

In 2012 the independent review Transcultural Mental Health Services in Western
Australia was undertaken by Mr Rajiv Ramanathan, Director, Practical Visionaries,
to examine current transcultural mental health services and consider national and
international best practice standards.

More than 30 stakeholders including consumers and carers provided feedback

to the review which will inform the future development and planning of WA
transcultural mental health services. The review was also based on information
gained through previous submissions to the Mental Health 2020 consultation, and
reviews and evaluations including those conducted by the Department of Health,
South Metropolitan Health Service, Office of Multicultural Interests and Multicultural

Mental Health Australia.

A final report detailing all findings and, where possible, costed recommendations,
is currently being reviewed by the Transcultural Mental Health Review Reference
Group with representation from the Commission, non-government agencies and
consumers and carers.



Some of the key issues that have emerged from the Review
include:

. difficulties in navigating the transcultural mental health system and
accessing the range of services available

« the need for better coordination of existing services between general
health, community, and mental health services and a clearer understanding
of pathways to various services

+ development of a culturally and linguistically diverse (CaLD) community capacity
building strategy to ensure consistent information provision is delivered to
individuals and communities

« current lack of evidence and information on access rates to mental health
services in WA and the lack of availability of high quality transcultural mental
health data

« the need for the development of a CaLD focused stigma reduction initiative that
is in alignment with approaches recommended by the recent research (2012)
conducted by TNS consultants on behalf of the Commission

+ identification of the need to develop and enhance the cultural competency of
Western Australian mental health services, including general practitioners, and
ensure alignment with national initiatives.

Recommendations arising from the review will be considered in relation to the
recommendations of the Stokes Review and when drafting the ten year Mental
Health Services Plan.

The State Government has invested $6.7 million in a new dedicated mental health
court diversion and support service for adults and children. This joint pilot program
funded through the Commission and the Department of the Attorney General will
provide opportunities for individuals with mental health problems and/or mental
illness who intersect with the criminal justice system to access community mental
health services, to improve their mental health and address their offending.

The adult program began in the Perth Magistrates Court on 18 March 2013 and
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involves a specialist court, known as the Specialist Treatment and Referral Team (START
Court), offering mental health support services for people with a mental illness. A
specialist clinical team which includes mental health nurses, a social worker and

a consultant psychiatrist undertake assessments, provide advice to the court and
develop individualised care plans. The adult program is an investment of $4.5
million. Up to the end of June 2013, 138 individuals appeared in START Court, and

of these 104 had been assessed by the clinical team for suitability for inclusion in

the START Court program. As at 30 June 2013, 50 individuals were being supported
by the clinical team which is comprised of a psychiatrist, social worker, and mental

health nurses.

The children’s program commenced
services on 8 April 2013 and will see
an investment of $2.2 million to place
specialised mental health expertise
within the Perth Children’s Court. This
specialist support within the court,
known as Links, has an emphasis

on early intervention and the team
provides assessments and reports to
the court, in addition to developing
effective personal support plans for
children and their families/carers to
coordinate agency and community
support. The Links team, which
includes a forensic psychologist

and mental health nurses, will work
collaboratively with the multi-
disciplinary services already in place
for children. As of 30 June 2013 the
Links Team had assessed 30 children
for Links suitability.

Both the adult and the children’s
programs are supported by the
non-government sector in providing

The Links team at the Perth Children’s Court.



non-clinical services. Community based services which address
psychosocial needs such as education for children and skills
development for adults are vital in diverting individuals from the
criminal justice system and assisting in improving mental health. The Mental
Health Court Diversion and Support Project will be evaluated to contribute to
the development of the service into the future.

There has been a growth in demand in recent years for assistance from children and
their families with mental health problems. 75 per cent of all severe mental illness
begins before the age of 24 years with peak onset between 18-24 years. Close to
one third (31 per cent) of young people in WA experience a mental health problem/
mental illness each year.

Significant work has been undertaken to progress major reforms and innovations
in mental health support and services for infants, children and young people.

The Commission invests over $3.5 million of recurrent funding in the community
managed sector to provide mental health services for children and young people.

Children and Young People

The Commission has commenced planning a comprehensive youth mental health
service as part of a 10 year Mental Health Services Plan. Strategic planning and
investment over the next 10 years aims to develop a statewide youth mental health
service stream, integrating specialist and community mental health supports and
services for young people aged 16 to 24 years and their families. In the meantime
there have been a number of significant developments in the support provided to
young people and their families and carers.

In January 2013, the Bentley Adolescent Unit, a 12 bed mental health inpatient
facility for young people, completed extensive renovations with funding from the
Commission and the Commonwealth Government. Renovations included more
youth friendly and safe accommodation, greater outdoor and indoor recreational
space, youth friendly furnishings and other changes to improve the therapeutic
environment.

The Commission has worked in partnership with the Commonwealth Government
to secure funding of $13.4 million over four years for a community based response
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known as Assertive Community Intervention (ACl) for children and their families
experiencing a mental health crisis. The model provides a clinical service operated
by the Child and Community Health Service (CAMHS) and family support offered
through the non government sector.

Further, in response to an increase in emergency presentations by young people,
an innovative new program is connecting school-aged children with mental health
services such as CAMHS and headspace to reduce the risk of self-harm or suicide.
The Commission and the Ministerial Council for Suicide Prevention provided joint
funding of $473,700 for six additional mental health staff at CAMHS and $200,000
to the Department of Education for a school psychologist. These initiatives will
complement the rollout of the CAMHS Acute Response Team (ART) which is a 24-
hour, seven-day-a-week program to assess and assist children and young people
experiencing mental health issues in the community with the aim of averting
unnecessary hospitalisation. Based at Princess Margaret Hospital for Children, ART
works alongside the ACl initiative.

Through the State Suicide Prevention Strategy, the Youth Affairs Council of WA
(YACWA) received $300,000 to implement Stage 1 and Stage 2 Community Action
Plans (CAPs) targeting young homeless people and their support workers. The CAPs
encompass life skills training and peer support projects to empower homeless
young people. YACWA will deliver suicide prevention training and develop strategic
resources for support workers. Additional CAPs are reaching out to young people
at-risk in the Town of Vincent, Peel, Wheatbelt, and the Kimberley region.

In late 2012, the State Government announced funding for a youth early psychosis
service in the Perth Metropolitan area. In addition, the Commonwealth Government
has announced its intention to fund an Early Psychosis Prevention and Intervention
Centre (EPPIC) auspiced by headspace, as part of the Commonwealth Government's
national mental health reform plan.

The State Government has sustained investment and provided a greater focus

on mental health promotion, prevention, social inclusion and stigma reduction.
mental health education programs for school communities aim to build resilience,
promote positive mental health behaviours, and dispel the stereotypes and
misunderstandings around mental illness. Key initiatives developed in WA include
Aussie Optimism, an evidence-based mental health promotion program for children




in primary and lower secondary schools coordinated through Curtin University;
Changing Minds School Education Program delivered by Mental Health Carers
Arafmi and people with lived experience of mental illness; and Music Feedback
youth mental health campaign led by YACWA. The Commission also supports
the implementation of the national Kids Matter and Mind Matters mental health
frameworks in WA schools through the State steering committee.

The Commission has provided funding to the Integrated Service Centres (ISC) at
Koondoola and Parkwood primary schools to effectively engage children and their
families from refugee and culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds. The

ISCs enhance access to culturally responsive services and supports; improve mental
health, wellbeing and education outcomes; and build local community connections.

Further initiatives have been progressed in 2012/13 for children and young people
that are included elsewhere in this report.

+  Young People with Exceptionally Complex Needs (YPECN) (see page 35)

Court diversion including specialised mental health expertise within the Perth
Children’s Court (see page 37)

Perinatal and Infant Mental Health Services

The Commission facilitates a monthly Infant Mental Health Planning Group (IMHPG)
with representatives from government agencies and the Australian Association for
Infant Mental Health Inc (AAIMHI). The IMHPG provides expert advice and enhances
linkages around early childhood, parenting, family support and infant and child
mental health. It also identifies gaps in policy and practice in relation to infant and
child mental health within WA, fosters collaborative partnerships, and develops
effective strategies to address areas of need within infant and child mental health.

The Commission provided $198,000 to continue a successful scholarship scheme to
develop workforce expertise in infant mental health. This funding is administered

by the AAIMHI to enable clinicians to undertake postgraduate university studies and
approved training courses. AAIMHI is currently identifying frameworks for workforce
competencies and training for a sustainable perinatal and infant mental health
workforce. In addition, the Commission contributed funding of $49,300 to St John
of God Outreach Services towards perinatal and infant mental health training in
Armadale, Cockburn, Kalgoorlie and Albany.
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The Commission has partnered with St John of God Outreach Services in the City
of Swan and the WA Council of Social Services in the City of Cockburn to trial

new models for integrated, community-based perinatal and infant mental health
services. Women'’s health centres in Fremantle, Gosnells, Midland, Rockingham and
Northbridge are also funded to deliver holistic perinatal mental health services.

For further information on perinatal mental health investment and programs see the
National Partnerships section on page 50.




Stakeholder Engagement and
Interagency Partnerships

Throughout the year the Commission has progressed opportunities to establish and strengthen a collaborative approach to mental health reform. The
Commission maintained partnerships across a broad range of sectors with State Government departments and agencies, the community managed sector, private

providers, universities and other research institutions.

Mental Health Advisory Council - chaired by Barry MacKinnon AM
The Commission has a strong partnership with the Mental Health Advisory Council

(MHAC) which has been appointed by Cabinet to provide high level, independent
advice to the Mental Health Commissioner on major issues affecting mental health
care reform.

This was the MHAC's second year of operation and minutes of all meetings are
available on the Commission’s website.

Members of the Mental Health Advisory Council.
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In the last year, the MHAC focused on seven priority areas:

Mental Health Bill
communication strategies
drugs, alcohol and mental health

Mental Health 2020: Making it personal and everybody’s business

the Review of the admission or referral to and the discharge and transfer practices
of public mental health facilities/services in Western Australia by Professor Bryant
Stokes, AM

implementation of values

workforce issues — education, peer, ageing.

The August 2012 meeting was held in Narrogin and the June 2013 meeting was held
in Kalgoorlie as part of a program of planned country meetings to allow for better
engagement and understanding of the issues impacting people within regional WA
areas.

There has been a change to membership of the Council with two new members,
Ms Victoria Hovane and Ms Pietra Liedel, replacing Mr Geoff Diver and Ms Katherine
Hams from 1 July 2013. A list of members is provided in Appendix Three.

The Commission values the advice of the Council with the Commissioner and the
Chair meeting regularly to address the major issues to be considered in the reform
agenda. Statements of advice are now presented in writing to the Commission.




Ministerial Council for Suicide Prevention - chaired by Peter Fitzpatrick
In September 2009 the Government launched the $13 million Western Australian

Suicide Prevention Strategy 2009-13 (Strategy) and a revised Ministerial Council for

Suicide Prevention (MCSP).

The Council provides highly focused, practical advice to the Minister for Mental
Health on suicide prevention initiatives and services throughout WA to be delivered
through the contracted non-government organisation, Centrecare. Executive
support and governance frameworks are provided by the Commission.

The WA Strategy is aligned with the National Suicide Prevention Strategy: Living is for
Everyone (LIFE) and contains six action areas:

« Action Area 1: Improving the evidence base and understanding of suicide
prevention

+ Action Area 2: Building individual resilience and the capacity for self-help

« Action Area 3: Improving community strength, resilience and capacity in suicide
prevention

« Action Area 4: Taking a coordinated approach to suicide prevention

« Action Area 5: Providing targeted suicide prevention activities

« Action Area 6: Implementing standards and quality in suicide prevention
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The MCSP continues to meet on a monthly basis to oversee the implementation

of Community Action Plans (CAPs), One Life Suicide Prevention Agency Pledge
Partnerships and other initiatives to support suicide prevention including workplace
and stakeholder activities. As part of the MCSP’s commitment to engage with
regional communities, the February 2013 meeting was held in Bunbury. A number of
presentations were delivered by local suicide prevention Community Coordinators
to provide an overview of their CAPs, key outcomes and issues in their district.

In 2013 there was a change to the MCSP membership with five new members
appointed: Mr Stuart Smith, Professor Cobie Rudd, Mr James Gibson, Dr Neale Fong
and Ms Donna Cole. A list of members is provided in Appendix Three.

The independent evaluation of CAPs and Strategy initiatives is being undertaken by
Edith Cowan University (ECU) to demonstrate outcomes achieved so far and to build
the evidence base for future suicide prevention activities in WA. The ECU evaluation
report is due in March 2014 along with an overall Strategy evaluation to be overseen
by the MCSP and these reports will provide critical data to inform the direction of
the next Strategy. The MCSP will also hold its annual planning day on 19 September
2013.

Members of the Ministerial Council for Suicide Prevention



Western Australia Association for Mental Health (WAAMH)

The Commission continues to work closely with WAAMH, the peak body
for community-managed mental health services in WA, to deliver a variety of
education, prevention and promotion initiatives to the community and other
stakeholders.

WAAMH and the Commission are key partners in implementing the Delivering
Community Services in Partnership policy (DCSP) and progressing the Commission’s
reforms related to person centred, recovery orientated supports and services. The
President of WAAMH is also a member of the Partnership Forum which oversees
the implementation of the DCSP reforms. WAAMH and the Commission have also
facilitated sector forums regarding both the DCSP and Commission reforms.

WAAMH collaborated in 2012 with the Commission to coordinate and promote
various events and activities to recognise Mental Health Week. Mental Health Week
promotes social and emotional wellbeing in the community, encourages people

to maximise their health potential, enhances the coping capacity of communities,
individuals, families and carers, and boosts mental health recovery. Events ranged
from art exhibitions to seminars, poetry competitions, a quiz night and a basketball
competition.

During 2012/13, WAAMH undertook the following additional projects:

« development of a sector strategic framework that outlines the key principles and
processes that support better lives for people with mental illness, their families
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and carers and introduce a framework by which the non-government sector can
effectively engage with the reform agenda

« engagement with the sector to map mental health services across WA and to
establish a service directory that will be available through WAAMH's website. It is
expected that this will be completed in July 2013

« establishment of an Outcome Measurement Taskforce following a successful
Fostering Partnerships Grant from the Department of Finance. The taskforce is
to develop a set of indicators and evidence against the Mental Health Outcomes
that will assist in measuring how service providers are supporting individuals
and families in meeting their individual needs

«  provision of support to public and community managed mental health services
to improve access to employment for people with mental health issues through
the provision of technical assistance, training, fidelity assessment, consultation
and support which has been built on the evidence-based Individual Placement
Support (IPS) model of employment support. This support through WAAMH for
IPS will continue in 2013/14

«  provision of ongoing training to the sector including Certificate IV in Mental
Health, Mental Health First Aid, Social Inclusion and Working with Aboriginal
People.

Western Australian Collaboration for Substance Use and Mental Health

The Commission has maintained its ongoing partnership with the Drug and
Alcohol Office (DAO) during 2012/13 to drive and support the WA Collaboration
for Substance Use and Mental Health (WACSUMH). WACSUMH brings together
government, non-government and community partners across the mental health,
drug and alcohol, health and primary care sectors to progress initiatives towards
creating an accessible, integrated and comprehensive service response for people
who experience both substance use and mental health problems.

WACSUMH has supported the development of an accredited co-morbidity training
program for general practitioners and other primary health care professionals. The
roll out of this training in 2012/13 has been facilitated by Primary Care WA, with joint
funding from the Commission and DAO. Training workshops have been held in the
Perth metropolitan area and in Geraldton and Bunbury, with strong attendance by




general practitioners and allied health professionals who are interested in learning
how to manage and treat people with both substance use and mental health issues.

The Commission and DAQ’s Workforce Development branch, in partnership with
the Department of Corrective Services, provided funding to secure the services

of Professor Steven Rollnick to provide a Motivational Interviewing workshop to
clinicians, practitioners and workers from each sector. The Commission through
WACSUMH also provided funding to WA Networks of Alcohol and Other Drug
Agencies (WANADA) for the production and updating of a joint services directory
handbook for workers across the mental health and alcohol and other drug sectors
including GPs.

WACSUMH continued to drive work on integrated pathways, prevention, promotion
and early intervention to support people with a mental health problem and/or
mental illness and drug and alcohol problems by developing the Collaborative Care
Framework. The Framework is currently being drafted for the consideration of the
WACSUMH before a sector consultation phase is pursued. This will be followed by an
implementation strategy to assist uptake within the sector.

WACSUMH has also taken carriage of developing strategies to address a number
of the recommendations in the Stokes Review that relate to people who have co-
occurring mental health and alcohol and other drug problems.

Dual disability

The term dual disability is used to describe individuals who have two or more
conditions and may require assistance from a number of services. This can include:
people with intellectual disability and mental health difficulties; people with mental
health and complex physical health issues; and/or people with acquired brain injury
and mental health difficulties.

People with intellectual disability are significantly more likely to experience mental
health problems than people without intellectual disability. Despite their increased
risk of mental illness, people with intellectual disability can experience difficulties
receiving appropriate treatment.

Considerable focus on this area has been achieved in the last year, commencing
with the Commission and the Disability Service Commission (DSC) establishing a
Dual Disability Working Group. This interagency partnership includes a specialist
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psychiatrist from the Department of Health and carer advocate, and aims to develop
strategies to improve access to appropriate mental health supports for people with
disabilities. As a result of the work of this group, the Commission provided $145,000
to the WA Council for Social Services to develop a dual disability competency
framework and accredited mental health awareness training package for staff
working with people with disability, and carer support information. Development

of these training resources and information will be guided by the Dual Disability
Working Group and relevant stakeholders.

Further, through the Dual Disability Working Group the Commission and DSC
invested in a series of symposia by international experts on improving mental and
physical health outcomes for people with disability. These seminars were targeted at
Department of Health staff, GPs and practice nurses.

The Commission has contributed expertise and resources to the WA Study on the
Health of People with Intellectual Disability which has a secondary study aimed

at capturing people’s experience across health and mental health services. This
groundbreaking research is led by the Centre for Research into Disability and Society
at Curtin University and has strong cross-sector support.

The Commission is also represented on the Expert Advisory Group for the Disability
Health Network which was established in January 2013. This network is led by the
Department of Health and aims to explore ways to improve the health of people
with disability and promote multiagency work to address identified priorities.
Workforce training and education issues are being examined to improve

disability and mental health awareness across services.

Commissioner for Children and Young People

The Commission has maintained an important partnership with the
Commissioner for Children and Young People (CCYP) including hosting cross-
sector forums to highlight mental health issues for young people.

In August 2012 the Commission and CCYP hosted a seminar featuring
Professor Michael Chandler from the University of British Columbia
who is renowned for his research into youth suicide among

Canada’s First Nations communities. Professor Chandler

provided an overview of his research on addressing the



complexities of youth
suicide and the vital
role of cultural continuity
to build resilience and strengthen
communities. Professor Chandler

also met with the Ministerial Council

for Suicide Prevention and the School
of Indigenous Studies at the University of
Western Australia, and coordinated public

forums in Perth and the Kimberley.

Funding has been provided to the CCYP

to enable the Perth visit by Dr Michael
Ungar, Professor of Social Work at Dalhousie
University and Scientific director of the
Resilience Research Centre in Novia Scotia,
Canada. Dr Ungar specialises in the topic of resilience and its application to clinical
and community workers with a particular focus on children and families with
complex needs. Dr Ungar will deliver the Children’s Week keynote address in
October 2013.

Eddie Bartnik, Commissioner for Mental
Health, Professor Michael Chandler

and Michelle Scott, Commissioner for
Children and Young People.

Engagement is central to the Commission’s strategic policy Mental Health 2020:
Making it Personal and Everybody’s Business.

To ensure a high quality, effective mental health system that is responsive, people
with mental health problems and mental iliness, their families and carers need to
be engaged as genuine partners in mental health reform at the individual, service,
system and community levels.

The Commission directly engages with consumers, families and carers seeking their
advice on policy and planning for mental health reform. The Commission funds
organisations to encourage engagement and provide a systemic voice in programs,
systems planning and implementation.
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In 2013, the Commission finalised its Supporting Consumer, Family and Carer
Engagement Policy and Guidelines and developed an engagement framework

(see Figure 4). The policy affirms the Commission’s commitment to working with
consumers, families and carers and outlines the circumstances when payments will
be made to them for participation in Commission activities. The policy is based

on the International Association for Public Participation and reflects the valuable
contribution these important stakeholders make to the Commission’s work.

Allies in Change

The Goldfields was the 2012 venue for the second Allies in Change, a community
leadership program funded by the Commission. Allies in Change supported 37
consumers, families, carers and service providers to develop their skills to work in
partnership with communities for improved social inclusion. Participants came from
Kalgoorlie and surrounding areas and included Aboriginal representatives.

Consumers of Mental Health WA (CoMHWA)

The Commission provided its second year of funding to Consumers of Mental
Health (COMHWA). COMHWA is steadily progressing in establishing itself to
coordinate, promote and support the consumer voice within mental health services
and the wider community. A budget of $1.375 million over five years has been set
aside to establish and support COMHWA, to provide systemic advocacy. COMHWA is
run for and by consumers.

Mental Health Carers Arafmi and Children of Parents with Mental lliness

The Commission has been working with Mental Health Carers Arafmi to provide
additional support to coordinate and facilitate the statewide Children of Parents
with a Mental lliness (COPMI) committee. This will ensure a strategic and
consistent family inclusive approach to developing and delivering COPMI
education and awareness raising activities across WA while meeting the
particular needs of specific communities. This collaboration will support

and resource links with existing COPMI networks to share knowledge,

skills, innovations and resources; and showcase current research and

evidence based approaches.




Figure 5: Engagement Framework

I A high quality, effective mental health system that is responsive to the needs of individuals, families and the community. I

¢

People with mental health problems and/or mental illness, their families and carers are genuine partners in advising and leading mental health developments at individual,
service, system/ policy and community levels across Western Australia

Individual

Consumers, families and carers are informed,
actively involved in and positively influence
their treatment, care and support plans.

Activities

«  Focus groups assisted in the design
of consumer communication tools
for rights awareness, advocacy and
complaints.

+  Funded and coordinated ‘Story Telling
Workshops’ to empower consumers and
build confidence.

«  Funded ‘Allies in Change’ leadership
program in Kalgoorlie.

+  Directly engaging with individual
consumers has been key to the success
of the Individual Community Living
Strategy.

Services

Consumer, families and carers are
actively involved in service design,
governance, delivery and review.

Activities

«  The Commission has a
number of consumer, family
and carer representatives on
committees.

«  Sponsored consumers to
attend TheMHS Conference.

«  Provided grants to build peer
work capacity between NGOs
and public mental health
services.

«  Provided scholarship funding
to assist peer workers in
gaining Certificate IV Peer
Work in Mental Health.

System

Systems and policies directly
reflect consumer, family, carer and
community perspectives at a local,
state and national level.

Activities

«  Providing funding to advocacy
organisations like CoOMHWA
Mental Health Carers Arafmi
and Carers WA.

«  Appointment of consumer
and carer representatives to
the National Mental Health
Consumer and Carer Forum.

«  The Commission has a number
of consumer, family and carer

representatives on committees.

«  The Commission actively
employs consumers in policy
work.

Community

People are well informed about
mental health and mental iliness
including wellbeing and recovery
and provide supportive and inclusive
communities.

Activities

+  Featured consumer and carer
articles in Head2Head Magazine.

+  Funding to Connect Groups to
build capacity for self help and
support groups

+  Mental Health Good Outcomes

Awards acknowledges the work of

outstanding consumers, families
and carers.

«  Directly funds consumer driven
community mental health
organisations.

I-|n>-og—|

nm=EO0ON-HCO

45




The Commission continued to
invest in mental health promotion and
iliness prevention initiatives that support the
development of resilience, increase mental health
literacy in the community and address the stigma related
to mentalillness.

-

During the year, the Commission’s Communications and Community
Education branch managed communication opportunities for the
Commission, both internally and externally. It also coordinated
stakeholder engagement, events and awards, sponsorship
opportunities and developed comprehensive communication strategies.

The team worked closely with the Commission’s Executive, providing
communication advice and producing publications that contributed to an increase
in community awareness, education and understanding of mental health issues.

In addition to this, the team managed the many sponsorships and grants
administered by the Commission. In 2012/13 the Commission supported
organisations to hold conferences, events and workshops throughout the State.
Some of the initiatives that received funding included: WA celebrations for National
Youth Week; training workshops with a renowned United Kingdom psychologist

through the Richmond Fellowship; the 2013 National Suicide Prevention Australia

Conference; Music to Open Your Mind and training workshops run by the Drug and
Alcohol Office.

During Mental Health Week the Commission partnered with the WA Association of
Mental Health to produce a mental health liftout in The West Australian.

Mental Health Good Outcomes Awards

The Commission hosted its annual Awards cermony on 9 October 2012 during
Mental Health Week. The Awards raise community awareness, breaking down
stigma and promote innovation and excellence across the mental health sector.

In 2012 the Awards, in their tenth year, honoured and recognised the exceptional
achievements of our State’s mental health sector and celebrated inspiring role
models whose activities and contributions have impacted positively on their
community.

In 2012, there was a 35 per cent increase in nominations, highlighting the
extraordinary amount of activity the sector is engaged in. The Awards were
expanded to 12 categories with 30 judges from across government and the
community sector. Each winner received a cash prize of $1,000, a framed certificate
and an art trophy (see images on next page) made by consumers at Disability in the
Arts, Disadvantage in the Arts, Australia. Appendix Four contains the list of winners.

The Commission extends it's appreciation to the Award sponsors including the
McCusker Foundation.




The Commission commenced drafting a Workforce Development Strategy 2013-

15 which aligns with the National Mental Health Workforce Strategy and maps
objectives and activities against the three key reform directions outlined in the State
Government’s ten year strategic policy Mental Health 2020: Making it personal and
everybody’s business. The Workforce Development Strategy will align with the ten
year Mental Health Services Plan to ensure that services have the workforce capacity
and skills to develop in accordance with identified need and investment.

In 2012/13 the Commission provided funding of approximately $2.7 million to
develop the mental health workforce. Among the initiatives funded this year were:

+ scholarships for mental health professionals from government and non-
government organisations to undertake further studies in mental health

« additional training posts for specialist training in child and adolescent psychiatry

«  support for the rollout of the Mental Health Professional Online Development
across public mental health services in WA

«  workforce development in Independent Community Living to support person-
centred care and recovery

« training for the mental health and community services sector in co-occurring
mental health and drug and alcohol issues

« undergraduate preparation for mental health clinical placements

« mental health nurse incentive
payments to encourage
retention of nurses in the mental /
health sector

« development of a competency framework for
workers in dual disability

« engagement of an international speaker on trauma
informed care and practice

. assistance with developing accredited training for Certificate IV in
Mental Health Peer Work

«  specific workforce development assistance to staff employed within the
Statewide Specialist Aboriginal Mental Health Service.

A full list of workforce development initiatives that received funding in 2012/13
is listed in Appendix Five.




Research and evaluation are critical activities to build the capacity
of the Commission to develop evidence based policies and programs
that are responsive to community needs. The Commission contracted the
following specific research and evaluation projects in 2012/13.

Evaluation of Supported Accommodation Program

The Supported Accommodation Program (the SAP) aims to provide supported
housing for people with a severe and persistent mental illness; people who
are homeless, at risk of homelessness, people in unsuitable accommodation or
residing for long periods in inpatient units.

The Commission contracted independent consultants, Sankey Associates,

to conduct a program evaluation to assess whether the SAP was meeting
residents’ needs and aspirations, whether it increased residents’ independence,
participation, quality of life and wellbeing, and to what extent partnerships
between service providers and clinical services were effective in delivering
coordinated services.

The evaluation process included face to face consultation with service providers,
interviews with a selection of residents and their families, as well as two paper-
based surveys.

The Supported Accommodation Program Evaluation Final Report demonstrated
that the SAP is achieving significant positive outcomes for residents. As well as
being provided with a good home, residents reported receiving good clinical
and non-clinical care and felt comfortable, safe and well supported. Of the 127
residents surveyed during the evaluation, 94 per cent rated the SAP as having
had a ‘good’ to ‘excellent’ effect on their overall wellbeing, and 90 per cent
reported an improved ability to socialise, be more independent and to lead a
good life.
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The report also highlighted the challenges around partnerships and the
integration of clinical and non-clinical care to deliver coordinated services, as
well as a potential need to clarify and improve referral processes. The final report
together with a commentary document prepared by the Commission can be
downloaded from the Commission’s website.

Interim evaluation — Statewide Specialist Aboriginal Mental Health Service

As part of the National Partnership Agreement on Closing the Gap in Indigenous
Health Outcomes, the WA Government committed $22.47 million over four years
to develop the Statewide Specialist Aboriginal Mental Health Service (SSAMHS).
This has involved the establishment of multi-disciplinary specialist teams located
within mainstream mental health services. SSAMHS supports Aboriginal people
to access mainstream mental health services and increases the capacity of mental
health services to better meet the needs of Aboriginal people.

The WA Centre for Mental Health Policy Research undertook an interim
evaluation of the process and outcomes of the SSAMHS to inform future service
development and funding. The evaluation process involved interviews and
focus groups with service providers, Aboriginal mental health workers, external
agencies, as well as an analysis of contract report data and literature reviews.

Despite the relatively short period of operation there was strong agreement
among all stakeholders about the value of the program and universal support for
its continuation. The following observations were highlighted:

+  The SSAMHS mental health workers have been able to engage with and
get the trust of Aboriginal communities in a way that ‘opens doors’ into the
communities for mental health services.

+  One of the key objectives of the program is to increase the number of
Aboriginal people working in the mental health sector and the program is
achieving this goal. Despite the pressure and complexity of implementating



of the program, the SSAMHS services have been successful in building up and
retaining their Aboriginal workforce with 85 per cent of positions occupied.
Furthermore, 35 per cent of Aboriginal mental health workers were currently
enrolled in the Bachelor of Health Science (Mental Health) being provided
through Charles Sturt University.

«  There were encouraging trends with respect to increased service provision to
Aboriginal consumers. Analysis of preliminary data indicates that the number
of individuals using community mental health services increased by 17 per
cent between 1 July 2010 and 31 December 2012.

It is anticipated that the second and final phase of the SSAMHS Evaluation will
involve a comprehensive and intensive engagement process with local Aboriginal
people to assess the impact of SSAMHS for Aboriginal people with mental illness,
their families and communities.

North Metropolitan Survey of High Impact Psychosis

In 2011 the Commission and North Metropolitan Health Service Mental Health
funded the Neuropsychiatric Epidemiology Research Unit within the School of
Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences at the University of Western Australia to
undertake an extension of the national Survey of High Impact Psychosis in the
North Metropolitan area of Perth (North Metro). The aims of this survey were to:

+ estimate the prevalence of psychosis in North Metropolitan Health Service
(NMHS) catchment area population

+ describe the social and economic circumstances of people living with
psychosis within North Metro, as well as their mental and physical health
profiles and their use of services

« develop alocal evidence base to help inform mental health policy
development and planning for mental health service providers in North
Metro
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« develop services to meet specific local needs to benefit people living with
psychosis, their friends, family, carers and services supporting them.

Screening for psychosis took place within inpatient and community mental
health services, and community managed sector agencies (non government
organisations) supporting people with mental illness in designated catchments
(Perth city, Stirling and southern Joondalup) in March 2012. The number of
people who were screened as positive for psychosis was 1302. A randomly
selected sample of 250 people who screened positive for psychosis were
interviewed and assessed between April 2012 and April 2013.

The survey collected data on psychopathology, utilisation of mental health and
other services, treatments, perceived need, cognition, education, employment
and income, living circumstances, activities of daily living, family responsibilities,
social and other functioning, support networks, physical health, and drug and
alcohol use. GPs also completed questionnaires on participants who were their
patients, and described issues in managing patients with psychosis in general
practice.

Data collection has been completed and the survey is in the analysis and report
writing phase. The results and final report from the project are expected to be
completed by the end of 2013.



The Commission has continued
to strengthen partnerships
with key Commonwealth Government
departments and with senior mental health
representatives from other states and territories.

Commonwealth-State National Partnership Agreements

Under the funding reform implemented since 2007, all Commonwealth Government
funding to the State is provided through Intergovernmental Agreements negotiated
via the Council of Australian Governments (COAG) to encourage the achievement

of higher level performance outcomes. Funding for the health sector, including
mental health, is provided through the National Healthcare Agreement and its related
National Partnership Agreements (NPAs). The Commission has a key role in providing
policy advice to COAG and its related operational committees in relation to mental
health reform, which informs the Commonwealth Government’s funding decisions.

There was significant activity in 2012/13 to negotiate potential longer term
partnership agreements with the Commonwealth Government, and to implement
other ongoing agreements. As part of these negotiations, the Commission

held extensive consultations with the Department of Health, the Department

of the Premier and Cabinet, the Department of Treasury and other relevant
agencies to ensure a coordinated approach and the most effective investment of
Commonwealth funding of mental health services in WA.

The following COAG Agreements that relate to the mental health sector were in
place during the 2012/13 financial year.

National Partnership Agreement Supporting National Mental Health Reform

This NPA provides a total funding of $26.08 million to WA between 2011/12 and
2015/16 financial years. The contribution from the Commonwealth for the 2012/13
financial year was $4.07 million.

The outcomes sought by this NPA are:

« more people with severe and persistent mental illness and complex care needs,
including those experiencing or at risk of homelessness, will be able to access
stable accommodation
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International Partnerships

- fewer people with a mental illness will frequently present (‘cycle through’) at
emergency departments, major hospitals and related support services.

WA supports the achievement of these NPA outcomes through the implementation
of two unique initiatives, the Individualised Community Living (ICL) and the Assertive
Community Intervention (ACI).

National Partnership Agreement on Closing the Gap in Indigenous Health Outcomes

The State Government committed a total funding of $117.43 million towards the
implementation of this NPA between 2009/10 and 2012/13 financial years. The total
Commonwealth Government commitment across all jurisdictions to support this
NPA initiative was $805.46 million.

The Commission continued in 2012/13 to support the achievement of the objectives
of this NPA through the implementation of the Statewide Specialist Aboriginal
Mental Health Service (SSAMHS).

Although this NPA expired on 30 June 2013, the State Government is supporting the
continued operation of SSAMHS to June 2014 while negotiations are under way in
relation to a replacement agreement. The Commission is closely working with the
Aboriginal Affairs Cabinet Subcommittee to improve coorodination and efficiency of
programs supporting this NPA objective.

National Partnership Agreement on Improving Public Hospital Services

This NPA commits a total funding of $351.6 million between 2010/11 and 2016/17
financial years for WA. This funding is provided to facilitate improved access to
public hospital services, including elective surgery and emergency department
services, and subacute care.

While the Department of Health has the lead responsibility for the implementation
of this NPA, the Commission has the responsibility for the implementation of some
elements, in particular, increasing the supply of subacute mental health services.
Total funding of $31 million has been committed for initiatives relating to the mental
health sector.

The Commission has commenced the provision of 22 subacute beds through the
Joondalup subacute services in 2012/13 in relation to this NPA initiative and is
progressing the development of a six bed subacute service in Broome.



National Partnership Agreement on Health Services — Perinatal Depression Initiative

The National Perinatal Depression Initiative (NPDI), implemented from 2008/2009

to 2012/2013, provided Commonwealth funding for the states and territories to
improve prevention and early detection of antenatal and postnatal depression and
provide better support and treatment for expectant and new mothers experiencing
depression. Total funding of $3.696 million was committed by the Commonwealth
to WA for the NPDI. This funding complemented the state funding provided by the
public mental health and community sectors.

The NPDI provided funding in 2012-13 financial year for clinical services in the north
and south metropolitan areas and in identified priority areas in regional WA. A
number of community based organisations were also funded to deliver support
services across regional and metropolitan areas.

The Commission was also engaged in negotiations with the Commonwealth to
develop a new NPDI Project Agreement for future years.

National Partnership Agreement on Homelessness

This NPA was established by COAG in 2008 with the aim of substantially reducing
and preventing homelessness through a range of innovative programs. The
Department for Child Protection and Family Support is the lead agency in WA for
this NPA. The Commission has continued to support implementation of this NPA
through the Mobile Clinical Outreach Team (MCOT) initiative.

The MCOT initiative provides mental health and drug and alcohol services for rough
sleepers in inner city Perth and Fremantle, within the Street to Home program. The
MCOT is delivered by the North Metropolitan Mental Health Service. Mental health
nurses, social workers, and a part-time consultant psychiatrist provide assertive
outreach mental health and drug and alcohol treatment, as well as consultation and
liaison services.

The NPA finished on 30 June 2013. A one year time limited NPA has been negotiated
for the 2013/14 financial year while a longer term strategy to address homelessness
and related support services is being developed.
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International Initiative for Mental Health Leadership (IIMHL)

The IIMHL provides an international infrastructure to identify and exchange
information about effective leadership, management and operational practices

in the delivery of mental health services. Seven countries currently make up the
IIMHL collaboration: Australia, Canada, England, the Republic of Ireland, New
Zealand, Scotland and the United States of America. All jurisdictions contribute
towards Australia’s membership on the IIMHL. The Western Australian Mental Health
Commissioner is an Australian representative on the Sponsoring Countries group in
the lIMHL.

The 2013 IMHL Exchange and Network Meeting was held in Auckland, New
Zealand. The Commissioner participated in this Exchange and Network Meeting
and delivered an invited keynote presentation on leading mental health reform
initiatives in the Australian context. An evaluation of the 2013 IIMHL found that
leaders connected and networked; learned about service models, management
and operational practices, and developments in the host country; increased their
awareness about innovation and best practice; and shared ideas and experiences.

The 2014 IIMHL Exchange and Network Meeting will be held in England.

National Mental Health Commission

The launch of A Contributing Life: the 2012 National Report Card on Mental Health

and Suicide Prevention in December 2012, (the Report Card) was a key step in the
establishment of the National Mental Health Commission as a driver of mental
health reform in Australia. The Report Card included a commitment by the National
Mental Health Commission (NMHC) to undertake a regular and independent
qualitative survey of people with a mental health problem and their families and
carers. The NMHC continues to work on the development of this survey through
the National Contributing Life Project, with WA represented in this project by the
Commission’s consumer advisor.

In March 2013 the NMHC hosted a two day meeting of representatives from leading
mental health organisations and Commissions from Australia, Canada, Ireland,
Scotland, New Zealand and the United States. The Western Australian Mental Health
Commissioner and the Chair of the Mental Health Advisory Council attended on




behalf of WA, and joined other participants in discussing ways
to bring about change for the benefit of people living with
and recovering from mental health difficulties, their families and
supporters and the wider community. The Sydney Declaration, released
following the meeting, sets out the shared commitment and dedication
of participants to purse actions on five key areas: Indigenous mental health;
seclusion and restraint; work and mental health; knowledge exchange; and
international benchmarking. This commitment will be strengthen by continuing

collaboration and partnership, and by creating opportunities for further dialogue
and learning.

The Commission and the NMHC jointly hosted a meeting in Perth on 17 July 2013
bringing together key mental health organisations and Commissions from across
Australia and New Zealand.

Participation on national mental health committees and policy advisory bodies

The Commission is represented on a number of national mental health committees
and policy advisory bodies as follows:

The WA Mental Health Commissioner continued to represent WA on the Mental

Health Standing Committee (MHSC), until its conclusion of business at the end
of 2012. The MHSC played a key role in overseeing the implementation of the
Fourth National Mental Health Plan 2009-2014 and facilitating cross jurisdictional
communication and information exchange to improve both consistency and
outcomes for national mental health reforms. The MHSC held its last meeting
in October 2012 and responsibility for its work program was transferred to the
Mental Health, Drug and Alcohol Principal Committee (MHDAPC).

The MHDAPC was established in 2012 following a review by the Australian
Health Ministers” Advisory Council (AHMAC) of its committee structure. WA is

represented on the group by the Mental Health Commissioner and the Executive

Director, Drug and Alcohol Office. The role of the MHDAPC is to advise AHMAC
on national mental health, alcohol, tobacco, and other drug issues. This is
undertaken in a complex environment which includes overseeing the Fourth
National Mental Health Plan, the National Drug Strategy, mental health and drug
and alcohol aspects of the Closing the Gap initiative and implementation of
designated COAG Mental Health reform initiatives. The establishment of the
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MHDAPC provides an opportunity to better integrate and progress the work of
the mental health and drug and alcohol sectors as well as enabling development
and implementation of specific and related national initiatives and projects.

The MHDAPC is supported by the Mental Health Information Strategy
Subcommitee, the Safety and Quality Partnership Subcommittee and the Inter-
Governmental Committee on Drugs. These groups facilitate the provision of
expert and technical advice, provide recommendations on national policy issues
and play a key role in the implementation of a number of actions arising from
the Fourth National Mental Health Plan 2009-2014.

Throughout 2012 the Commission continued to support the development of
the Roadmap for National Mental Health Reform 2012-22 (the Roadmap) through
ongoing participation on the Senior Officials Mental Health Working Group,
which was established by COAG in 2011. Following an initial WA consultation in
January 2012, a second consultation was facilitated in September 2012 to enable
organisations to provide further feedback on the revised draft. The Roadmap
was launched by COAG in December 2012.

The Roadmap is intended to set out the shared vision for Australia’s future,
where good mental health is valued, promoted and understood as a whole of
community responsibility, and people with mental iliness and their families and
carers are supported to live full and rewarding lives. The Roadmap is consistent
with and complementary to the Commission’s strategic policy Mental Health
2020: Making it personal and everybody’s business.

When launching the Roadmap COAG announced the establishment of the COAG
Working Group on Mental Health Reform (WGMHR). WA is represented on the
WGMHR by the Commissioner and a representative from the Department of

the Premier and Cabinet. The group commenced meetings in February 2013
and will oversee the development of indicators and targets for national mental
health reform and the development of a successor to the Fourth National Mental
Health Plan. The group is supported by an Expert Reference Group, on which the
Commission is also represented.




Fourth National Mental Health Plan 2009-2014

The Commission maintained its support for the implementation of the Fourth
National Mental Health Plan 2009-2014. Work continues to focus on the Social
Inclusion and Children and Youth flagship initiatives, which incorporates a number
of actions that are common in theme. A number of other actions are being driven by
committees or working groups reporting to the newly established MHDAPC.

Key achievements in 2012/13 include:

+ Arevised Mental Health Statement of Rights and Responsibilities endorsed by
health ministers in November 2012, and launched in February 2013.

«  States and Territories participated in a national stock take of initiatives that
enhance participation in education, training and employment by people with a
mental illness. This will inform future initiatives.

+ A national recovery forum was held on 21-22 June 2012 as part of progress
towards the development of a National Recovery Framework. It is anticipated
that the framework will be endorsed during the first half of 2013 and launched at
TheMHS Conference to be held in Perth in August 2013.

Significant progress was made towards the development of a National Mental
Health Service Planning Framework (NMHSPF). It is expected that work on
developing the framework will continue until late 2013.

Further progress was achieved towards the development of a renewed
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social and Emotional Wellbeing Framework.
A discussion paper, developed by a consultant in partnership with the project
working group, will be subject to consultation from February 2013.

« A Draft Accreditation Workbook for Mental Health Services, that incorporates the
National Standards for Mental Health Services, was developed and released for
trialling and consultation purposes in December 2012.

National Disability Insurance Scheme

During 2012/2013, the Australian Government announced the establishment of

the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) now called Disability Care, and a
number of NDIS trial sites across Australia. On 5 August 2013 the Commonwealth
and State Governments signed an agreement on an NDIS launch in WA commencing
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1 July 2014. The agreement is to launch two approaches in WA, allowing genuine
comparison and learning along the way. The State government's My Way model will
be fully implemented in the lower south west region from 1 July 2014 and Cockburn
Kwinana area from 1 July 2015. In addition, the national DisabilityCare Australia
model will be implemented in the Perth hills area from 1 July 2014. Additional
funding from the Commonwealth will flow from 1July 2014. The DisabilityCare
Australia model includes people with a psychiatric disability.

My Way will be run by the Disability Services Commission (DSC) in collaboration
with the Commission via an experienced team based in the lower south west

and will also include people with a psychiatric disability. Local, community-based
teams of coordinators and specialist staff will support people with disability to
access the services they need from a wide range of service providers. My Way offers
individualised/personalised services, genuine consumer choice and control, a strong
focus on individualised planning, local decision making, minimal bureaucracy and a
strong partnership approach between the DSC, the Commission and a range of not-
for-profit service providers .

Partners in Recovery

Partners in Recovery (PIR) is a Commonwealth Government service initiative funded
in 2012/13 by the Department of Health and Ageing. PIR is intended to better
support people experiencing severe and persistent mental illness with complex
needs. This is achieved through supporting the multiple sectors, services and
supports people may come into contact with and could benefit from, to work

in a more collaborative, coordinated, and integrated way. The Commission is
working in collaboration with Medicare Locals and PIR to ensure better service
outcomes for people with severe and persistent mental illness.




ant Issues Impacting the Commission

The State’s 10 year strategic policy
Mental Health 2020: Making it personal
and everybody’s business continues to
guide the Commission’s core business to
foster person centred supports and services;
connected approaches; and balanced investment.

The Commission has continued to advance mental
health system reforms through a range of mechanisms in a rapidly
changing environment. Important developments have and will
continue to impact the mental health sector, both nationally and

within the State. The Commission has the leading role in driving
positive reform, managing the challenges and harnessing the
opportunities that arise from these changes.

Reform has continued with a broad range of initiatives including, but not confined
to development of the Council of Australian Governments’ (COAG) mental health
reforms, creation of the National Mental Health Commission (NMHC), further
implementation of activity based funding, commencement of DisabilityCare, rollout
of Medicare Locals, further implementation of National Partnership Agreements
and deployment of specific initiatives funded by the Australian Government such as
Partners in Recovery. The Commission has actively engaged with these initiatives as
appropriate with a view to optimising outcomes for the people of WA. Many of these
initiatives are complex, not directly within the control of the Commission and have

a significant interface and influence on the delivery of mental health services and
supports in the State.

There are many synergies between the NMHC'’s Contributing Life and the WA's A good
life in the community framework that are effectively engaging consumers, carers,
service providers and stakeholders within and beyond the clinical health system.
The Commission has been active in liaising with the NMHC about the nature of
reforms required and the development of a supportive and inclusive culture.

The Commission was also closely engaged in policy development through the
COAG, which developed the Roadmap for National Mental Health Reform 2012-22
and is represented on the Working Group and Expert Reference Group to oversee
implementation of the Roadmap and the development of a successor to the 4th
National Mental Health Plan.
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A major initiative for the year ahead is
participation in the implementation of the
agreed framework for WA's implementation

of DisabilityCare. This is a highly significant
development that has great potential to
improve the level of services and supports

for people with a long term disability

related to mental iliness. Importantly, the

trial arrangements for WA offer a unique
opportunity to test alternative methods of
implementation, maximise benefits and reduce
bureaucracy. The Commission will be involved
over the next two years in the implementation
of the three trial sites, particularly the two
MyWay sites in the lower south west and
Cockburn-Kwinana. These two sites will adopt
the State’s preferred approach whilst a third site
in the Perth hills will apply the Commonwealth’s preferred DisabilityCare model.

jestern Australia |

Mental ealth Commission
Mental Health 2020:

Making it personal and everybody's business

Reforming Western Australia’s mental health system

Implementation of activity based funding within the public mental health services
is continuing in close collaboration with the Department of Health. This is a national
initiative which will require careful application to mental health services with a
view to ensuring that the State and the community is appropriately funded for the
services provided.

Both the Commonwealth and State have a strong focus on:

« improving mental health outcomes and reducing disadvantage among
Aboriginal Australians

« improving the physical health of people with a mental iliness and creating a
more holistic, integrated approach to physical, emotional and mental health

« strengthening social inclusion and creating opportunities for people to make a
meaningful contribution

« engaging family and carers in planning and decision-making

building more timely, effective support and treatment systems, with a shift



in focus towards recovery and addressing problems before the require
hospitalisation

+ ensuring services are of a high quality and are accessible to culturally and
geographically diverse communities

« addressing homelessness and providing more accessible housing with
appropriate community-based support

«  preventing suicide through whole-of-community approaches.

While there are common goals to improve mental health for all Australians, there
are also silos to break down. People want better coordinated, accessible and timely
services. Governments need to work together to address duplication and eliminate
the waste of resources and confusion this creates for people on the ground.

From an intergovernmental perspective, ensuring the continuity of Commonwealth
Government funding for public mental health services and related supports,
including those provided by community organisations, has been a challenge. A
number of National Partnership Agreements that provide funding to WA have either
expired or are due to expire in the near future. The Commission, in consultation
with the Department of Health, is negotiating with the Commonwealth to achieve
successful outcomes for Western Australians and this work will continue into the
future. In addition, the Commission will work with organisations such as headspace
and Medicare Locals to ensure that the rollout of complementary programs is
properly coordinated so that the mental health system functions as seamlessly as
possible for people with mental iliness, their families and carers.

Underpinning reform of mental health within WA are several key initiatives that

are underway, including implementation of new legislation, amalgamation of

the Commission with the Drug and Alcohol Office (DAO), implementation of

the recommendations of the Stokes Review of the admission or referral to and the
discharge and transfer practices of public mental health facilities/services in Western
Australia, and development of a ten year Mental Health Services Plan to guide future
service development and reform.

Legislative reform remains a priority and the Minister for Mental Health tabled
the Green Mental Health Bill 2012 in Parliament on 8 November 2012. Explanatory
materials were published to generate discussion and debate. The Commission
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invited submissions on the Green Bill until 28 February 2013 and received over 100.
This further consultation was extremely valuable and resulted in refinements which
are currently being drafted. Final stakeholder engagement is underway and the
Government's intention is to introduce the Mental Health Bill 2013 in Parliament by
October 2013. The proposed legislation provides a vital contemporary platform for
the improvement of the mental health system.

Another key development for mental health reform was the Premier’s
announcement on 10 April 2013 that the Commission and DAO will amalgamate
under the control of a single Chief Executive. This will ensure better integration

of the State’s network of services relating to prevention, treatment, professional
education and training, and research activities in the drug and alcohol sector

and across mental health services. This improved coordination of services will
provide more streamlined support to people with co-occurring issues and enhance
programs for those most at-risk and is an important step in delivering connected
approaches.

The Review of the admission or referral to and the discharge and transfer practices of
public mental health facilities/services in Western Australia, conducted by Professor
Bryant Stokes (Stokes Review) was published in November 2012. The Stokes Review
contains 117 recommendations encompassing the need for comprehensive service
across the State; better support for carers and families; acute issues and suicide
prevention; and the judicial and criminal justice system.

During the review period, a total of 891 people were interviewed;
patient records were examined; and data was analysed in relation to
255 individuals who suicided during 2009. In addition, a total of 29
submissions were received by the review team.

The Stokes Review Implementation Partnership
Group has been established and is independently
chaired by Barry MacKinnon AM to provide
governance oversight and monitoring

of the implementation of all the
recommendations.

Progress is being made with a
number of initiatives including



commencement of or commitment to new services such as child
and adolescent mental health services, subacute services and
development of strategies to better support people with complex
and co-occurring needs. The Department of Health has also commenced
significant work in addressing governance, policy and workforce development
issues.

The principal recommendation from the Stokes Review was the need for a

comprehensive mental health services plan. The Commission and Department of
Health are working collaboratively to develop a comprehensive ten year Mental
Health Services Plan to be completed by December 2013. This is a major sector-
wide initiative that will be informed by the National Mental Health Services Planning
Framework and the State’s Clinical Services Framework. The ten year plan will
provide Government with a blueprint for future service development across the
State.

In addition to progressing the latest developments, the Commission is continuing
to address the many complex issues and areas requiring reform to achieve better
mental health outcomes for our most disadvantaged groups. New partnerships and
programs are progressively being implemented for people in the justice system,
with dual disability and co-morbidity to help people access suitable support and
achieve a good life.

New governance and advocacy systems have been put in place to maintain
the momentum of statewide mental health reforms, enable greater dialogue
across sectors, strengthen the voice of consumers and carers, and guide the
implementation of major initiatives.

The establishment and funding of a new consumer association, Consumers of
Mental Health WA, has proceeded within a co-design framework. Strategic advice
and practical assistance was provided to the small existing consumer group by an
established peak body to support their transition to an effective systemic advocacy
organisation. While this has been an evolving process, the agenda has at all times
been led by consumers with the Commission playing a technical support role.

The Mental Health Advisory Council (MHAC) appointed by Cabinet brings a wide
range of experience and expertise to the reform process. The MHAC is chaired
by Barry MacKinnon AM and provides independent advice to the Mental Health
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Commissioner on key topics such as the new Mental Health Bill and implementation
of Mental Health 2020: Making it personal and everybody’s business. The MHAC also
holds meetings in regional areas and was recently in Kalgoorlie and Narrogin.
Members of the MHAC are actively involved in the processes supporting the
implementation of the recommendations from the Stokes Review and the
development of the ten year Mental Health Services Plan.

The Ministerial Council for Suicide Prevention (MCSP), chaired by Peter Fitzpatrick
AM, plays a key role in guiding the implementation of the WA Suicide Prevention
Strategy 2009-2013 (Strategy) which is delivered by Centrecare as the lead non-
government organisation. Suicide is a major tragedy for the individuals, families
and all community members who are impacted by the loss of life. Tackling

suicide requires a whole-of-community response and the statewide Strategy

has maintained a strong focus on community capacity building and increasing
awareness about ways to recognise, support and prevent suicide among people at
risk. It has a particular focus on addressing the needs of young people, young men,
Aboriginal people and people who live in rural and regional WA.

The Commission has supported the important work of the MCSP and Strategy
through improved governance arrangements. The Commission also funds a range of
early intervention, crisis counselling and postvention programs. When suicide crisis
has hit communities hard, the Commission has had an integral role in coordinating
Commonwealth, State and local agencies and leaders to deliver an effective and
immediate response. In 2012/13, suicides and self-harm incidents among school
aged young people and people in the Kimberley were of serious concern. Urgent
responses were put into place through interagency service provision and joint
investment from the MCSP, the Commission and Commonwealth Department of
Health and Ageing.

The Strategy has achieved considerable community engagement as outlined earlier
in this report. An independent evaluation of Community Action Plans and Strategy
initiatives by Edith Cowan University is due in March 2014. The MCSP and the
Commission are also working on a broader evaluation to capture the outcomes at
many levels, identify areas for improvement and build the evidence base for future
suicide prevention activities in WA.

The Mental Health Court Diversion project is a significant joint initiative between



the Commission and the Department of the Attorney General which will require
focused support in the year ahead. The State Government has invested funding
for a 20 month pilot in the metropolitan area. It provides opportunities for people
with a mental illness in the criminal justice system to access community mental
health services, to improve their mental health and address their offending. Most
jurisdictions in Australia and many internationally have similar programs, and
evaluations show improvements in mental health, recidivism and cost savings. The
Court Diversion initiative will be evaluated by the end of 2013.

Central to person centred service is the Commission’s work to enable people to be
better supported to live a good life in the community. Individualised Community
Living Strategy (ICLS) represents a major shift in the way services and supports

are provided to people with mental iliness and their families and carers and this
service will continue to grow in 2013/14. ICLS was expanded in the 2012/13 State
Government Budget through an allocation of $4.6 million for 18 packages of

support over four years. An additional $8.7 million was allocated to the Department

of Housing for the provision of 16 houses over four years. The Commonwealth
Government committed $12.6 million over four years to provide six houses and 30

packages of support. As at June 30, 106 of the 109 houses to be purchased between

2011 and 2013 were secured or are in progress. To date, 85 people have moved into

their new home and the remainder are in the process of transitioning into their new

accommodation.

The Commission’s program of developing subacute services is continuing following
the opening of the Joondalup service in May 2013. The Commission will actively
progress the next services at Broome, Rockingham and the Goldfields and
commence planning for further services at Karratha and Bunbury.

The Commission will further develop a strong relationship with area health services
in the year ahead through local dialogue and contract negotiations, with a view

to collaborating on opportunities to deliver reform and efficiency, and increase

the focus on providing enhanced support to people closer to home and in
community settings. There are major service developments underway at Midland,
the New Children’s Hospital and Fiona Stanley Hospital that will require careful
implementation.

Also central to the Commission’s reform agenda is a strong and sustainable non-

57

government sector. The Commission is
progressively implementing new contracts
with non government services in accordance | ==
with the Government’s Delivering
Community Services in Partnership policy.
The Commission has worked closely with
the WA Association of Mental Health and
the not-for-profit sector to identify ways of
improving services and supports for people
with mental health and to implement
components one and two of the State
Government’s sustainability funding. The
Commission will deploy an additional $21.3
million over four years, and the Drug and
Alcohol Office (DAO) $27.2 million over four
years, which will mean:

Delivering Community Services
in Partnership Policy

A POLICY TO ACHIEVE BETTER OUTCOMES FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIANS
THROUGH THE FUNDING AND CONTRACTING OF COMMUNITY SERVICES

+ organisations contracted to the DAO and

the Commission through this process
have increased levels and security of funding

« the not-for-profit sector will be able to sustain its services into the future
« astronger focus on service delivery outcomes and standards.

The Commission will also be progressively implementing a new quality framework
to ensure that services meet national standards and deliver high quality outcome
focused services. This work has commenced and will be implemented in
collaboration with the sector and with active input from people with mental iliness,
their families and carers.

Achieving better outcomes for people will require increased collaboration
between governments and service providers. A challenge for the future is for the
Commission to progressively develop improved collaborative mechanisms for co-
commissioning, partnerships and information sharing. A range of mechanisms
are already in place to achieve this but there is scope for considerable
improvement in this area and the Commission will be continuing

to explore opportunities to achieve effective outcomes.



£

Auditor General

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Parliament of Western Australia
MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION

Report on the Financial Statements
| have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Mental Health Commission.

The financial statemeanis comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2013, the
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash
Flows, Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service, Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by
Service, and Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the
year then ended, and Meles comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and ather
explanatory information, including Administerad transactions and balances,

Commissioner's Responsibility for the Financial Staterments

The Commissioner is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial stalements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards
and the Treasurer's Instructions, and for such internal contrel as the Commissioner determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Respansibiity

As required by the Auditor General Act 2008, my responsibility is 1o express an opinion on the
financial statements based on my audit, The audit was conducted in accordance with
Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical
requirements relating 1o audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatamant.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audd evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, The procedures selected depend on the auddors
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatlement of the financial
statements, whather due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers infemal control relevant to the Commissien's preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order fo design awd procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances. An awdit also inchedes evaluating the appropristeness of the accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Commissioner, as
well as evaluating the cvarall presentation of the financial statements.

| babave that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
audit opinion.

Opinfon
In my opinion, the financlal statlements are based on proper accouwnts and present fairly, in all

malerial respects, the financial position of the Mental Health Commission at 30 June 2013 and
its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in accordance with
Ausiralian Acoounting Standards and the Treasuners Instructions,

Disclosures and Legal Compliance

Report on Controls
| have audited the controls exercised by the Mental Health Commission during the year ended
30 June 2013

Confrels exercised by the Mental Health Commission are those policies and procedures
established by the Commissioner to ensure that the recaipt, expenditure and investment of
maoney, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in
accordance with legislative provisions,

Commissioner's Responsibiiity for Controls

The Commissioner i responsible for maintaining an adequate system of intermal contrel 1o
ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acguisition and disposal of
public and other property, and the incurring of liabsdilies are in accordance with the Financial
Management Acl 2006 and the Treaswer's Instructions, and other relevant written kw.

Auditor’s Responsibiily

As required by the Auditor General Act 2008, my responsibility is 10 express an opinion on the
confrols exercised by the Mental Heallh Commission based on my audil conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standands.

An audit imvolves performing procedures to obtain awdit evidence about the adequacy of
controls to ensure that the Commission complhes with the legislative provisions. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement and include an evaluation of the
design and implementation of relevant controls,

| balieve that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate 1o provide a basis for my
audit opinisn.

Opiniarn

In my opinion, the confrols esercised by the Mental Health Commission are sufficienthy
adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of
maney, the acquisition and disposal of propenty, and the incumring of liabilities have been in
accordance with legisiative provisions during the year anded 30 June 2013,

Report on the Key Performance Indicators
| have audited the key performance indicators of the Mental Health Commission for the year
ended 30 Juna 2013.

The key performance indicators are the key effectivenass indicators and the key efficiency
indicators that provide infermation on outcome achisvement and service provision.

Commissioner's Responsibilily for ihe Key Parformance Indicators
The Commissioner is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key
performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the
Treasurer's Instructions and for such controls as the Commissioner determines necessary to
ensure that the key performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.

Auwditor's Responsibility

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on he
key parformance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australan
Auditing and Assurance Standards.



Independent Auditors Report cont

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditers judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators, In making
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Commissioner’s
preparation and falr presentation of the key performanca indicators in order (o design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An auds! alse includes evaluating the
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the exdent of

| believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my

Opinion

In my epinion, the key performance indicators of the Mental Health Commission are relevant
and appropriate to assist users to assess the Commission's perdformance and fairly represent
indicated parformance for the year ended 30 June 2013,

Independence
In conducting this audit, | have complied with the independence requiremants of the Auditor
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standands, and ether relevant ethical
requirements.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financlal Statements and
Key Performance Indicators

This auditor's report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the
Mental Health Commission for the year ended 30 June 2013 included on the Commission's
website, The Commission's managemant is responsible for the integrity of the Commission's
website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Commission’s website.
The audior's repon refers only o the financial statements and key pedformance indicators
described above. It does not pravide an opinion on any other infermation which may have been
hyperlinked toffrom these financial statements or key parformance indicators. If users of the
financial staternents and key performance indicalors are concerned with the inherent risks
ariging from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audied
financial slatemants and key performance indicators to confirm the information contained in
this wabsite varsion of the financial staements and key perfarmance indicators.

e

G CLARKE
TY AUDITOR GENERAL
of the Auditer General for Western Australia
Perti, Western Australia
18 Septamber 2013




Certification of Financial Statements

MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION
CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

The accompanying financial statements of the Mental Health Commission have been prepared
in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts
and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2013
and the financial position as at 30 June 2013.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

7% L Cott

Ken Smith Eddie Bartnik

Chief Finance Officer Accountable Authority
Mental Health Commission Mental Health Commission
18 September 2013 18 September 2013



Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 30 June 2013

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Confracts for services
Supplies and services
Grants and subsidies
Depreciation expense
Other expenses

Total cost of services

Income

Revenue
Commonwealth grants and confributions

Other grants and contributions
Other revenue
Total revenue

Total income other than income from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES
Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Services received free of charge
Total income from State Government

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Mote

Towom-m

12
13

14
14

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD

See also the ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service'

2013 2012

5 $
11,269,404 7,274,546
575,822,864 521,338,591
1,968,821 1,528,533
8,215,476 4,858,441
54,288 =
765,180 527,702
598,196,043 535,528,813
153,519,850 6,891,266
760,255 2,748,592
112,892 79,987
154,393,097 9,719,845
154,393,097 9,719,845
443,802,946 525,808,968
408,946,000 532,106,000
33,151,228 3,313,789
443,087,228 535,419,789
(705,718) 9,610,821
(705,718) 9,610,821

The Stalement of Comprehensive Income showld be read in conjunclion with the accompanying notes.



ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables

Total Current Assets

Mon-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Plant and equipment

Total Non-Current Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities
Payables
Provisions

Total Current Liabilities

Nen-Current Liabilities
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

MET ASSETS

EQUITY
Contributed equity
Accumulated surplus/{deficit)

TOTAL EQUITY

Statement of Financial Position

Note

21
15,21
16

15, 21

18
19

19

20
20

Sae also the ‘Schedule of Assels and Liabilities by Service’.
The Statement of Financial Position shouwld be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2013 2012

$ $
11,986,579 12,500,118
2,200,000 -
266,480 1,473,824
14,453,059 13,973,942
208,320 244,320
135,839 156,279
434,259 400,599
14,887,318 14,374,541
3,281,429 2,885,472
2,004,724 1,334,540
5,286,153 4,220,012
376,007 223,653
376,007 223,653
5,662,160 4,443,665
9,225,158 9,930,876
945,800 945,900
8,279,258 8,984,976
9,225,158 9,930,876

As at 30 June 2013



Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 2013 2012
$ $

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 20
Balance at start of period 845,800 945,900
Transaclions with owners in their capacily as owners:
Contributions by owners - -
Distributions to owners - -
Balance at end of period 945,900 945,900
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 20
Balance at start of period 8,984,976 (625,845)
Surplus/(Deficit) for the period {705,718) 9,610,821
Balance at end of period 8,279,258 8,984,976
TOTAL EQUITY
Balance at start of period 9,930,876 320,055
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period (705,718) 9,610,821
Balance at end of period 9,225,158 9,930,876

The Statement of Changes in Equily should be read in conjunclion with the accompanying notes.



Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 30 June 2013

MNote 2013 2012
$ $
Inflows Inflows
{Outflows) (Outflows)
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 14 409,946,000 532,106,000
MNet cash provided by State Government : 409,946,000 532,106,000
Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits {10,247 ,493) (6,945,834)
Contracts for services (541,154,408) (519,426,800)
Supplies and services (1,976,416) (1,340,259)
Grants and subsidies (8,346,043) (4,108,536)
Other payments (647,869) (518,7286)
Recelpts
Commonwealth grants and contributions 153,519,850 6,891,266
Other grants and contributions 567,796 2,993 812
Other receipts 100,992 79,987
Met cash used in operating activities 21 {408,183,591) (522,375,290)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payment for purchase of non-current physical assets (21,948) (156,279)
Net cash used in investing activities (21,948) {156,279)
Met increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,740,461 9,574,431
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 12,744,438 3,170,007
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 21 14,484,898 12,744,438

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying nofes,



Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service

For the year ended 30 June 2013

Specialised
Specialised Admitted Community & Other
Patient Services Services (a) TOTAL
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
$ $ £ $ $ $
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefils expense 5,020,519 3,710,018 6,248,885 3,564,528 11,269,404 7,274,546
Contracts for services 256,573,636 265882682 319,340,228 255455909 575,922 864 521,338,501
Supplies and services 877,110 779,552 1,081,711 T48 981 1,968,821 1,528,533
Grants and subsidies 3,659,995 2478315 4,555,481 2,381,126 8,215,476 4,859 441
Depreciation expense 24,185 - 30,103 - 54,288 -
Other expenses 340,852 269.128 424,298 258,574 765,190 527,702
Total cost of services 286,496,337 273,119,695 331699706 262400118 595,196,043 535528813
Income
Commonwealth granis and contributions 68,393,083 3,514,546 85,126,757 3,376,720 153,519,850 6,891,266
Other grants and contributions 338,604 1,401,782 421,561 1,346,810 760,255 2,748,502
Other revenue 50,338 40,793 62.654 39,194 112,992 79,987
Total income other than income from State Government 68,782,125 4,857,121 85,610,972 4,762,724 154,393,097 9,718,845
NET COST OF SERVICES 187,714,212 268,162,574 246,088,734 257646394 443,802,945 525808058
Income from State Government
Senvice appropriation 182,630,843 271,374,060 227315057 260,731,240 409,946,000 532,106,000
Services received free of charge 14,768,872 1,690,032 18,382,356 1,623,757 33,151,228 3,313,789
Total income from State Government 197,399,815 273,084,002 245697413 262355697 443,097,228 535419789
SURPLUS/DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD {314,397) 4,901,518 (391,321) 4,709,303 {705,718) 9,610,821

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying nofes.

{8) The former ‘Specialised Communily Mental Health' service category has been expanded into three services in 2013, Table A shows the 2013 figures for these new service
cafegonies.



Table A

Specialised Community and Other Services

For the year ended 30 June 2013

Specialised Accommodation
Promotion and Community and Support
Prevention Services Services Total
2013 2013 2013 2013
s $ $ $

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expense T42 554 4711738 784,453 6,248,885

Contracts for services 37,953,317 240,783,349 40,602 562 319,345,228

Supplies and services 129,745 823,164 138,802 1,081,711

Grants and subsidies 541,400 3,434,880 579,191 4,555,481

Depreciation expense 3578 22,698 3827 30,103

Other expenses 50,426 319,926 53.046 424 295
Total cost of services 39,421,120 250,105,765 42,172,821 331,699,706
Income

Commonwealth granis and confributions 10,116,958 64,186,650 10,823,149 85,126,757

Other grants and contributions 50,101 317,862 53,598 421,561

Other revenue 7446 47,242 7,966 62,654
Total income other than income from State Government 10,174,505 54,551,754 10,884,713 85,610,972
NET COST OF SERVICES 20,246,615 185,554,011 31,288,108 245,088,734
Income from State Government

Service appropriation 27,015,441 171,398,423 28,901,193 227,315,057

Senvices received free of charge 2,184,666 13,860,528 2,337,182 18,382,356
Total income from State Government 28,200,107 185,258,951 31,238,355 245,697 413
DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD {48,507) (285,060) (49,753) (391,321)




Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service

As at 30 June 2013
Specialised
Specialised Admitted Community and Other
Patient Services Services (a) TOTAL
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
5 $ ] % $ &
ASSETS

Current assels 5,438.838 7,126,710 8,014,221 6,847 232 14,453,059 13,973,942
Mon-current assets 193,462 204,305 240,797 196,294 434,259 404,599
Total Assets 6,632,300 7,331,015 8,255,018 7,043,526 14,887 318 14,374,541

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities 2,354 981 2,152 208 2931172 2,067,806 5,286,153 4,220,012
Mon-current abilities 167,511 114,063 208496 109,580 376,007 223,653
Total Liabilities 2,522 492 2,266,269 3,139,668 2,477,396 5,662,160 4,443 665
MET ASSETS 4,109,808 5,064,746 5,115,350 4,866,130 9,225,158 8,830,876

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

(a) The former "Specialised Community Mental Health’ service category has been expanded into three services in 2013, Table B shows the 2013 figures for
these new service calegories.



Table B

Specialised Community and Other Services

For the year ended 30 June 2013

Specialised Accommodation
Promotion and Community and Support
Prevention Services Services TOTAL
2013 2013 2013 2013
£ % $ $

ASSETS

Current assels 952,456 6,042 824 1,018,841 8,014,221

Mon-current assels 28.618 181,564 30,615 240,797
Total Assets 981,074 6,224,388 1,049,556 8,255,018
LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 348,357 2,210,141 372674 2,931,172

MNeon-current liabilities 24,779 157,209 26.508 208,496
Total Liabilities 373,136 2,367,350 309,182 3,139,668
MET ASSETS 607,938 3,857,038 650,374 5,115,350




Summary of Consolidated Account
Appropriations and Income Estimates

For the year ended 30 June 2013

2013

2013 2013 2012

Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance

$ $ $ $ $ $
Delivery of Services
ltem 107 Net amount appropriated to deliver services 398,371,000 408,051,000 9,680,000 408,051,000 531,838,000 (123,787,000)
Section 25 transfer of service appropriation - 1,428,000 1,428,000 1,428,000 - 1,428,000
Amaount Authorised by Other Statutes
- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 467,000 467,000 = 467,000 268,000 189,000
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 398,838,000 409,946,000 11,108,000 409,946,000 532,106,000  (122,160,000)
Administered Transactions
Section 25 Administered grants, subsidies and other transfer payments 70,334,000 68,805,000  (1,429,000) 68,905,000 27,951,000 40,954,000
Section 25 Administered capital appropriations 2,300,000 2,956,000 656,000 2,956,000 150,000 2,806,000
Total administered transactions 72,634,000 71,861,000 (773,000) 71,861,000 28,101,000 43,760,000
GRAND TOTAL 471,472,000 481,807,000 10,335,000 481,807,000 560,207,000  (78,400,000)
ilz of Sernvi

Promotion and Prevention 40,884,000 39421120 (1,462,880) 39,421,120
Specialised Community Services 221315000 250,105,765 28,790,765 250,105,765
Accommedation and Support Services 43,420,000 42,172,821 (1,247,178) 42,172,821

305,619,000 331,699,706 26,080,706 331,600,706 262,409,118 60,290,588
Specialised Admitted Patient Services 276,460,000 266496337  (9,963,663) 266,496,337 273119695  (6,623.358)
Total Cost of Services 582,079,000 598,196,043 16,117,043 598,195,043  535528,813 62,667,230
Less Total income (124,038,000) (154,393,097)  (30.355,007) (154,393,097) (9.719,845) (144,673,252)
Met Cost of Services 458,041,000 443,802,946  (14,238,054) 443,802,946 525808968  (82,006,022)
Adjustments (a) (59,203,000)  (33,856,946) 25,346,054 (33,856,9486) 6,207,032  (40,153,978)
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 398,838,000 409,946,000 11,108,000 409,946,000 532,106,000  (122,160,000)
Details of Income Estimates
Income disclosed as Administered Income 72,634,000 71,861,000 (773,000) 71,861,000 28,101,000 43,760,000

72,634,000 71,861,000 (773,000) 71,861,000 28,101,000 43,780,000

(a) Adjustments mmmmmmmmy#mamﬁmmmmm

Note 30 Explanalory stalement’ provides defails of any significant variations between eslimates and actual results for 2013 and between actual resulfs for 2013 and 2012,



Meds 1 Auwstralian Accocnting Standards

Ganoral
Tha Commission's financal stat th for (P year snded 30 June 2013 have bean prepaned in accoedance with Australisn
Accounting Saedarcs. Thir term ‘Australisn Accouniing Standards’ includes Standards and Intirpretations lsued by the

Auslrafinn Accountng Standards Boand (AASE).
The Commession has adopted nny applcable new and snvised Austimlian Agcounting Standands from thelr operative daies.

Early adoption of stardaris

Tha Commission canmot aarly sdopl an Auttrakisn Accouning Stendan wrisss specifically permilied by Traasutor's nslruction
1101 Appication of Australan Accounting Standards snd Other Proncwnzements’. There has been no ey adeption of
Auwtinlisn Accounling Standards st have bess e of amended (but nof cpemiive) by the Comemission for the anncal
repaning panod ended 30 June 2013

Motw 2 Summary of significant acecunting policies.

fm]

L]

General stalamont
mw--mummmmmwwmwmhmﬂh
Auntrakan Accounling  Standangs. Frampwork, Zxstements of Accounting Concephy and ofhwr suthoritalive
mﬁhwmmmmnwwhmHWMMﬂﬂ—n
modified bry thie Treasuner's instrictions io vary sppication, disdosurs, fofmal and warfing.
The Financisd Management Acf and the Tressure’s Insiructicns impoae legainthe provisions that govers the preparation of
wmmmmmmwmmnrmm Acounting
Cancepts and ather muthorintive sronouncamants of the Austrulan Accounling S2andands

Whain modificalion is mquined snd has had o materisl o signfican inancisl sfect upon e roported reaulls, detals of Ml
mﬂhmwmaumﬁm-uhhmuumm

Bass of proparation
Tha fmancial statements have been pregaced on the accrual basss of scosunting using the historcal cast convention.

Thee scecunting polckes adopled in the prépanlion of B financis asmomonis have boan i y apcied ghout all
pariods presented unlesa olherwise sisled.

Tha financisl slaineenty mo presented in Ausimiisn dolans and all vshets are rounded i i naanesl doliar (5],

Maoln 3 "Judgaments made by masagemen in applying accounting polices” discloses judgemants that have bean mada in the
mﬂmnm accounting policles resuling In the mosd Egnifiaes effact on amewnts recognised in the

Mode 4 Hary sources of astimation unceruinty' dicloses ey assumplions made corcoming the fdue, snd ofhar key sounes
of esSimation unoarainty ml ihe end of the reporting pericd, that have & sigrificant risk of causing a mabsrial scfusiment 1o thi
cafrying amourts of ssabts and fssdlisos wittin he el financial year,

Reparting entity
Tha reporting ently cemprisss the Commissin only,

To lnad manial beath refom thiseg® the commissioning of accessible, high quality sanvices and supports and |he prometion
of misnital haalih, wellbeng and (aclilaied moovery

The Commissior |5 pressrminanty hindad by Paslamentary aopmpratons.
Bondoes

The Comminsion s responalie for purchasing mevdsl health services from o range of providers inclading poblic Pealth

syslemms, ol govarnment ngencies, privale secior providers and ren-govarnmaenl crpaniations.

The Commission provides the faflowing sefvices. Incoens, Expenied, 3550t and labilties alirbutable 1o Rese senioes Bre set

o i tha 'Schedule of Income and Expensas by Sonvica' and the Schaduln of Assets and Liabilties by Sendo’.

FPramofion ang Prevention

mmmmmmm wpporing, Bwilaining and madmising menial hoalh among
ond i proteciive Escion and dechiding risk iators 1o roduce the incidencs and

nmduummnm

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2013

Motp 2 Summary of significant stcgumiing polickes {oontimied)

Specialised Admilled Fatient Services
Spociaised mentsl health acrited patied senvices an: defined s publicy lunded ssavices with & primary fetciion o provice
pomitled patert care o paonls witn meninl diorders in suhofised hospisls and Gesignated mental heath inpatient units
located within genans! Beapiiaty.

Speciafsed Communly Servos

Epacialized community services includss ssssisment, nestment and continuing care of non-admilied prtisats provided tom &
hospied or community mental hesdl cantne by public secior peoviders,

Accommodilion and Suppor Sendoes

Accommodation and suppont services fur maninl hesth comprise services provided by communiy sechor offlanisafon
ncloding advnency, pryehosccial suppor, rehabifistion, day programs, mapite cane, housing suppor and accommadalion

Contributed equlty

AASH intnrgeutation 1038 ‘Conidbubions by Owasrs Mece ke Whely-Owned Publs Secfor Endifies’ requires iramiecs in B
e of equity contribulions, othar than as a feull of & resirecium of adminisimiive ta be designatid by e
Govemman! (the owner) as contrbotions by cwners (8 The Bme of, or prior lo tmnsler) before swch iransfers can b
recogeised a3 equity contribufions. Caplial approgeinticns have beor designaled as confitutiond by cmens by Trasumrs
Instnpction 655 ‘Conributions by Cwners made dd Wholy Gweed Pubdie Secfor Endties’ and have been crediled dimcily lo
Centributod equity.

mmammmmmwuanuumﬂim of administrathee arangsmonis, am
dasignated as condibulions By owners whees ihe Lanaien ame non-discretionany and non-reciprocal. Rofer ala fo note 20
Equily.

Incame

Bevanug recanticn
Fevenue i recagnised Bnd messured 81 T i vaiun of

Sareice aporopnatons
Sanvice Appropriations are moognized & revenuss A2 fair vaks in tho pericd in which ihe Commisson gaina conbiol of the
oppropriated funds The Commission gaine conteol of appropristed funds ol the Bme those fands ane deposiled o the bank
nooourt. Refer o nobe 14 Tncome fom Stale Gevarremant for further information,
et appropviabion dalormenalios
The Trémsaurer may make & debarmination providing for prescribed neceipis 1o be retained for senices undar ihe contfol of Fe
Commigsion. In somerdance wih (he delemination specified in the 20122013 Budget Stalements, the Convmission retained
$154, 303,007 i 2013 (50,710,845 In 2012) from e Aolowing:

« Specilic purpose grants and coniriutions; and

~ glfuer dipartmeantal revesus
Grands, donntions, pifts and ol nov-recivecsl coniniutions
Ravgnus ia recogrised af iak value whon Ihe Commission obtaing contrl over e assats compriging the contibubons, wsually
whan cash i roshad,

Ot noe-resiprosal contribufices hal sew not conirbutions by cwners are recogrised af iheir falr value.  Conbributions of
senices Bre caly Mcognised when & falr valoe can bo relfiably determined and lhe servioss would be purchased ¥ not donated.

Gaing
Realsed or unreslsed gaing are usualy recognised on @ ned bisls. These include gakn ariting on (e dspossl of non-curmnt
Rt

1 fved or yable as fllews:




Hote I Summary of significant scsauring policles (coniinued)

i

Plant and aquipment

Capitafisationepnnaig ol asset

lieme of plant and equipment oosting $5,000 or mons am mcoghand os sssels and the cost of uliisig ssseh B mpered
[dapsnciated) cvor thelr useful lves. iams of planl and squipmant costing less han 55,000 ae immediately s dinect o
the Statsment of Comprabentivs income fothir than whers Swy fxm par of a grop of similar iems which am algniicant in

iolsl)

in¥ipl igcognition and messuremant
Fant and egulpment ans inilially racognised o coat,
Eor ilems of plani and eguisment scquited at no cost or for nominal oot the cost i their fdr value & he date of acquisition.

Ssbasquen] mepipmend
All ltens ol plant and aqupment am stabed i historical cost less accumuinied Sepreciniien and sccumuinied impainmen
Inspes,

Cfzoneaten

All non-current aksets having a lmied usoful e ane systemafionlly depreciuind oved iPee sxliaded usalud lives in a manner
that refiects the consumplion of their fatum economic benelis.

In cedar S0 apply this podicy, the diminishing value with a straight §na swilch method |8 uliised for piant snd equipmsst. Linder
ihin doprecistion method, the cos! amounis of ihe assels ane abicaiad on Bverags on a diminishing value basis over ihe first
hail of ihair usaful Ives and & siraight fine baséa for tee second hall of thoir uselul Twes

This assets’ useiul fves are reviswed snnunlly, Expeciod usslul Bres lor esch class of depreciabie assel ore!

Leasshold improvomerts 3 yan

[Fumiture nnd fitlings 15 yman

Oifice Equipman 10 years

Artworks contraled by $he Commission are cirsilisd as plan and equipmani. Thess ore anficipated io hive indsfinitn veald
lives, Their service pedentisl has not, in any moterial sense, been during Ehe ing patiod and conteguentty no
depracialian had Bden acogrised.

Imipatrment of Azasis

Plar and eguipment are iasted for amy indicaticn of impaieant o the end of sach mpading poricd. Whare thane & an
indizalion of impaimmeni, the mecovenble amount i esfmabed. VWhan tha mcoveentin omount b less than the caenying
Emount, the assel s conskdened impaired and is writen dewn |e tha recoversbis smoonl and an impairment los is recognised.
m—ﬂmthMthmmmehmhFMwm
‘Where a prviously revalued asss! is wrilten devn lo recoverible amount, (he loss is recognised as &

ather comprebsnsive income. As the Commission i 8 nol-foe-profl enbily, mm-ﬂhmﬁﬂu&‘hlm
assnl, the necowerable smount is the higher of & sisel's fair value less cosis 10 safl and depreciabed replacement cost.

The risk of Impaifmant i genembly lmibed bo drcumsiances wham an mssel’s depreciation i materialy und whare the
replacamant coal is faling or whaore Mom @ 8 significant change In usaful e Each misvan! class of mssels is nviewsd
annually ta vedify ihal e secumulabed reflocis the level of consumplion of expiration of assels
future econamic barsfia and b ovaluabe sy Impaimant rak fom faling replscemest costs.

The recoverabls amaunt of sssets identiliod 53 surplus assels is the higher of fair valee less cosis ba sell and the present vakes
ol fulurs cash Nows supeciod 10 be derved from the assel, Surplos smsels cafried Bl fair valus hove o rak of matedisl
impairmend whaore (nir value is cessemined by reference to maristhased ovidence. Whare fak vales @ detesmined by
farence to daprosited replacement cosl, surplus 23sals o ol ek of mpairnent &9d (he mcoveiable anart i moasued
Surphus axeets 8 coul ane iesbed for indications of impairment af the end of each reporing paricd.

Ripler nlza io nole 2(1) Recedmbles’ and rote 18 ‘Receivables® for impairment of reteivables.

Lasnas

Finance lnase rights and chiigations aro infially iged, ol the A af ihe lease boem, &3 Eivels aad labilties
mhmnmﬂm#hh—dmu il lrwer, the presard value of fhe minimum lease paymonts, detarsines
# i inceplion of the lsase. The ssels we disclosed as plant 8nd equipeen under lase, and ar depreciated ever he
peiad during which the Commission is axpecies fo bansfit fom (hair use. Misimum sese pryments e spportionsd botsen
Ina finance charge and the redinction of the culstanding leass Babty, acoording 1o the intorest ruin ImplicE in the lesss.
Operaiing leases are expensed on @ simight ine besls over the lease teem o this feprosanis the petisim of besefits darbwed
freen Bha pwaad properies.

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 continued

Mole 2 Summasy of significant accounting pollcies: [Gontinoed)

L]

Refe: to note 1) Firancial Instrumants’ and note 18 Payabley’

Financlal Imsirumpnts
I maddition b cush, the Commizsion ha byva calegocies of Snancial insstumant:

+ Liams andd pecedvables; and
+ Financial iubiites messured at amadised cosl.

Financial instremanis nave been disaggngated ints e foldowing dasses:

Enancial Assets

= Cash and cosh aquivalinis

« Resincied cash and cash oquivekents

= Recnivabley

Ermnziul Ligkadtay

= Paryabiug

Initial recognitisn #d messurement of Anarcal instrumnts s at fer valos which nomally equsles (o the Irensaction cosd or
Ihe face vatlue, Subsequant mansuremen i at amdrised cotl uaing the affoctive inlarest methcd.

The fuir valus of short-lenT: receivabies and payables i the irensaction coal or o face vaice becauss there & 1o inkees! raw
npplicakis and subsequent meRpBmant s nol requined as the st of dscourting ls nol malarial

Caah pnd ensh squivalents

For the pursass of e Sisiament of Cash Fiowes, cash and cosh oquivaient (and nesiricied cash and cash eguvaiant) aisels
pormpiiss caslh en hand and shor-berm deposits with onigisal matefing of heen months or lesa that ste readily coavenible o a
‘vt amound of cash and which ane susfect i Insgnificant riak of changes in value.

Accrusd salaries

Accroed salaries (be0 note 18 Payables? repeosant the smount tue i employess bul unpaid a1 ihe end of ihe eancial yoar.
Ageroed nalnries s setfied witin o forinight ol the Brancial year end, The Commission considers the earying amount of
mecrued nakaries 10 be equivalen! 1o its fir value,

The occrued salares suspense accound (ses robe 15 Weslricied cash and cash equivalents) consists of amounts pasc
asnualy ino @ suspense scoount ower @ period of 10 financial yean jo langely meed the oddiional cash outficw in each
ennih yer whae 27 poy days occir instead of the nermad 26. Ne iniorest Is recahmd on ihin acoounl.

Rocoivables

Recaivables 00 recconised af odginal ivoics amouet lass an alcwance for onocliecible amounts. (Le. ingeimenl]. Tha
colaciabfily of mostvables s reviowed on an ongoleg bass und acy recsivables idectified a8 uncolischibie Bes writhen ol
againgl tha altowance acooanl. The aliswancs Tor uncollectbin amourds (doublful debts) is raised when thane is cbjective
viceace that the Commission will not ba able ko collect (he dedss. The carrying aemount is equivalent (o i valos &3 it i due
for settioment within 30 days.

Rufer to nole 207 ‘Finercinl instrumants’ and nole 18 Tecsvable’.

Rights 10 coflect amounts receivable from The Ausiradan Taxation Office (ATO] and responsiies io make payments for GST
wgoonting peocedon was @ nsull of spplcefon of the grouping
mummmwmnmmmﬂ#MNWﬁmmm
Representative (NGR) Tor ihe GST Group as from 1 July 2012, The inisber for Health in by Capacty &

[Matropotan Health Servioes) waa the NGR In the previous alx

financial yoars. The eniilies i the GST
Health Sarvces, Peel Haalth Service, WA Country Health Senvica, WA Alcchal and Diug Authorily, OF I Madical Coate Trust,
and Healh and Disabdity Sarvices Campisnts Office.

GST receivaties from and payables io ATO for the GST group am meondsd in the nooounts of the Departmed of Meaath. GST
payabics are recognised upon the receipt of b involoes for purchases of poods and ssnices. Accoodingly, actreed expense
mmounis s geremily oxchmbe of GET.

Fapanien
Paynbles ara ecogrésed al the nmounts payalibe whan B Commistion becomes obliped jo make fubes paymint as o resull
of o purchaso of ossoés or servioes. The carfying B is equivalent bo fair valus, & they are genoraly seSied within 30
naye




Mote 2 Summary of significant ncecunding poficies (continued)
(n) Provisions

Presdsions are nblitles of uecarsin Timing of amount and & recognised whare thom & = present legsl of constnciie
chiigution as @ resull of & past evenl and when the cutfiow of resources smbodying economic benofits i probabis and 8
redinbie axtmate cin Be Fade of ha onwguet of oblgation, Provisions e reviewad af ond of each reporting peiod.

Rule 1o podie 19 ‘Proviions’.

Provitions - smgiores benafity

A3 anneal lave and long wshviss Wrve provislons am in mspect of employses’ services up lo the end of tha egaing paricd.

Annual lesve

mmwmmm-mmummwm#hmﬂdhmmlm

d il Tha expecied 10 be paid whes the liabilty s setiled.

Areunl leave thal i nol sxpecind o be setied withia 12 mosia afer [he and of the repoting panod s Mcsgnised knd

mensured ot e presen vakes of emounts expecind io be paid whan he latdites ore seltied using (he Famunarssion rate

expacind b apgdy ol the lme of sefisment.
mmmunmm-wnwmmmuwmmm

Mmmmumm contribuions, a8 wel Bt the of and

periods of servics, mmwwunmmmmuhudﬂmmmm

rasional gommiment bands with feres io matury thal match, as cossly &3 peasibln, the psmated fulure cash outllows.

The prowsion for acnusl leave & Sassified &5 o cumen labllity as the Commisakn doss not have an unconditional right i

deder sattiement of ihe Easiity for o lexst 17 maonthe afes the-end of e reporing period.

Ly menvice leme

Th fiakdity Sor loeg snrvics lewve axpsciod bo be ssflled within 12 months after (he end of (he repaing period b recagnied
and messured ol the erdisosumied smounts expecied 1o be paid when the Bability iy sefled,

mm“uhmwhhmmﬂmthwﬂhwmhwm
moasured o the prasant value of amouris oxpocted 5o be pald when the Eabdilies &0 seTed Lsing The revanemation mie
expeched o apoly al iha lima of seltiement.
WWhan asssssing expectad filie paymanis, conaideration iy given to axpected futurs wage and salary brvols inchuding ran-
salary companants such &8 AMgioyer SUPSrEANUALon contrbutions, s well @ (he experionce of empioye dopariues and
mammwmmmmmmmuhuHﬂmmmM
nastional governmant bores with lerm 1o mabarty that match, as dossly as posalble, the ealimaled fulern caah cutfiows,
Uncondiiocal long senice lesve provisions am clessiBod os curend abilles as the Commission dod nat hive an
umconditional right to defor sstfiomant of B Eability for 1 leasl 12 months afer the end of tha repoding paried. Pre-condiional
and condiional long service lemve provisions o cassiied 0s nonscurmend Anbillies becawse the Commhsoa has an
unconditional right i defer tha settiernand of thi kaddly unil the emoioyes has complebed the requisie years of senice.

ik Leave

LLisbdities for mick lemve mm recognised whon B i prabiable tht ik lsevo paid in the futum will be groster Ban the enfifiemed
fhal ‘wil acorue in the future.

Pant history indicaiis Thil on avensge, sick leove teken sach mporing pedod i less than ks entfement sctued. Thin is
eapectid lo confivug i fiwe plriods. Acomdingly, & ls uniloly thal axisling sccumulated entBamants wil be used by
and no Rabilty Tor unused sick leave enitement s As sich leave |8 nofrvealing, n apinse i

emplypes
recognised in (he Stabeewsnt of Compeahanshn ncome for this lemve as it in taken.

Dfarred Leave Scheme

The provinke fior defmed lmave nelabes 8o the Commission's empioyess wha have enbered inlo &n agreemant 1o sel-fund an

additiane] bvebee monihs leave in the il year of iho sgressenl. Tha provision mecognites the value of salary sat aside for

employess 10 ba wsed in e fifth year, The labiSly hos tan calculaled on Swrent remunention mbes in respect of sarvices

provided by She employees up o B end of the mpering pedod and inchades related on-costs. Deferred lsive i feporied s 8
currert provision os employees can leave e 1chame o Bl S3clion ol any time.

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 continued

Hote 2 Suwmmary of aignificant accounting polizhes (cantnued)

SupsraNILDLOa

The & } Emph 8 atice Boatd (GEEE]) and ofhor fand providens adminiehir public secier sups rannuation
mhwhbﬂ-hwm mwmmwmhm
schemed (or publi secior smployees vafy soccding 1o " Halich dihis.

Eligible smpioyoas contriass o (he Pension Scheme, o dafined benafil parmion scheme ciosed Io new memben: since 1967,
or tha Giold State Supsrassuntios Schome (G55), a definad benefit lump sum scheee closed fo new mambers since 1585,
Employees commencing emplaymant peier 1o 16 Aol 2007 who were not mansteds of sther the Peealon Schems of tha G55

bacame rnibat of this West Stade Supsmannuation Schers (WES), Employess
on o afier 16 Apill 2007 becama meenbers of e GESE Super Scheme (GESES). From 30 March 2012, axisting membars of

Sug Guamnfes (Adminizdalion)
mmmmmwwummmdmmnﬂmu
1he Pensian Scharrs of G55,

The GES5 ts & defined banefil schame ki the purposes of employees and whols-of-govornment mportiog. However, il s &
delinpd contribution plan for spency porposes becauss the concuirest conirbuticns (defined confritmdions) made by the
Commission & GESE axnguishes B Commission's obigaiions 1o tha refated suparannuation labllgy.

The Commission has ne kabdfes undar the Pansion Scheme or the G35, The lstdlies for the unfiesded Pension Schema
and the urdonded GSS anider benafits stibutable 1o membens wha ransiered from (Re Pansion Scheme, ame ssumed by
the Treasurer. All othar (85 obllgations an funded tyy concurrent contributions made by the Ceaenmission jo the GEEE,
The GESS makes all bensfil payments o posgect of the Pensicn Scheme and GSS Irasafer bonofits and mooups the
employer's shane from (he Treasures.

Foaler ko note 2{e) *Superannuntion Expanss’

Ereviaon - sther

[Emplovenon] an-cosls

E on-oosts, including warkers' compansation insurince, ane not smployae benafits and AR IecopRised BEDOTAINY
25 lakilfbes mmmuwmnmmmmmm WMHWHN
ol 'Oher experses’ and sod included as pan of the Commiasi banefits . Th mlated listdty s incuded
in Emphoyment on-cosls provision’.

Fafer 1o note 11 'Ofher expenses’ and nobe 19 'Provisions’

Supsrannuntian sxperse

The superannuation expanse in e Sisternmen! ol Comprahanahm Income comprises of smpioyer

(conasment candrbutions), e Wosl Siale Supersrnusiion Echeme [W5S), the GESB Soper Gcheme (GEIRT) and othed
funids. The emplyer conlibiution paid to the GESE in mapect of the G55 is paid back s the Comaolidaied

Accoun! by he GESH.

Sorvioes recebnd free of charge or for mominal cost
Sarvicos rocohed fres of charge or for nominal cosl e Fecognised B8 inome al the fair value of those senvioes thad can be
mliably esd nd thee Commb wauld otherwise piy f. A comepondng sxpanag i3 recopnisad for sandoes received.

Servicas recatved from olher State Govemmant agancies are separsisly disclad under mcoma fom Siste Gowarman! in
th Statomani of Comprehensive Income,

Assets Transfered between Government Agencies

Diserstionary kmnafars of nesess botsuon State Govemmend ogendies free of chargs, &e repened wnder Incoms from Sale
Goweenmart o tho lir vaiay of these assels thai the Commission would otherwiss pay for, Translors of E3sols an Radinies in
mlation i 8 esbuclure of admintsirative a8 distribution o cwnees by the imsaferar and

arangements anre
centribution by wnans by the irensferes under AASE 1004 in respec of B nil Baals iranalamed

Comparativ figures
Gompnrative figures nre, whem appropriate, reclissfiod 10 be comparabie with the: figures presented in thie curent financial
yanr.




Modo 3 Judgaments msde by | In apptying accounting policles

The pregemation of francinl statemnants reguites management lo make kdgemants about hmﬂm#
that have B sigrificent eflect on e Bmcents recognised in the financial simomonis. The Commissicn evaluates

Judgarmanes regularly.

Empioype baratits prewison

An mvarsgs furmover rade for amploytes has been used fo cakutate the non-sment long sendcs \enve provision. This fumover
rate i recaesentative of the Hesth pabio suthorities in general

Opandding leass commitmonts

The Comminsion has riered inso @ number of leases for Suldings for branch office sccommedation. Il has bean determined
{hat the lassor retuine substantally ai the rsks and sewards incidental to cwnershio. Accorfingly, e laases have been
clansfind @ oparaling e

Mote 4 Key sources of estimation encertainty

Hey estimates and sssumptians canceening the futurs are based on historiesl expenence and vicious o factars thal have o
significast tisk of causing 8 moterisl ndjustment 1o the tarning smeon of aets and liabiifies within tha next financisl year,
Long Service Leave

Severnl patimalticns and assumptions msed i calculiling B Commission's kong service mmmw

future sakary Fales, discount rales, empicyss retenSian rales and mepected future poymests. Changes in these estmations and
assumpBoNE May impadt on B carying amaun of this long seevico lesve provision,

Mots 8 Disclosisre of changes In sccoanting policy and sutimales

Inliisd appication of an Australisn Accounting Standard

The Commisskan hirs Sipked e fofowing Austalien Acoounting Standatds effective for annual reporing pericds beginning
on of after 1 July 2012 ;i impacted on B Commission,

T

ARSE 20118 Amaadments bo Ausieation Accounting Standards - Prasentation of fams of Ciher Comonehensive Income
[ASSE 1,5 T, 104, 12, 120 121, 1 ﬂﬂlﬁl‘ 1mum.r
This Stardand Mgane 10 Goup bama p resrafve incomi on e bosis of whalher
m“mmpm«hwwwm-m
financial inpact,

Fistiare fenpaest of Ausiralian Accounting Standards not yet aparathe

The Commission mmwmmmﬂmmmm by Triskaurers ingbruction
1101 “Appdicalion of Ausirlien Accounting S ang Oiher Py iy, thie Commission Fua nol
ppplied sary any of the following Austmiian Accoonding Standards that may mnmmwm-mm
Commissian plans ¥ apply hede Ausinsien Accounting Standands from Eheir application dale.

Tie — Oigstentivn for
rapeding pericds
bagisning onffer

AASE R Firasial Insirumannts 1 Jam 35

This Standard superssdes AASE 139 Tinancal Insfuments Raecognition wed
Mpazurarmenl”, inireducing 8 numier of changes io atccounting irenimants.

AASD 20125 Amendmenis lo Avsimiisg Accounting Siandarcs - Mendalory Efeciive
Date of AASE § and Traagition Disclosurey amended ihe mandatory application date
of Bs Standard fo 1 Janusy 2015 Tha Commission has not yel delorsined e
applcation of hie potastial impact of the Standand.

Nole 5 Disclosure of changes in aczounting policy and estimates [conlinued)

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 continued

Tile:

Ciparsiv for
beginning oriafer

ARSE 1D

AASE 11

AASE 1T

AASE 119

AASE IT

ARES 128

Conspfdaied Financis' Stafomeants

This Standaid supersedos AASE 127 ‘Comsolicsled and Sepamie  Financial
Sialemants’ #nd Inl 112 ‘Cossolcation = Specll Purpase Enfities’; Introdusing a
number of changes io secounting Ineatments.
MMWHHWWHMW“FHM
enilies by AASE 20310 Amsndmenty b !#Mn Accounting Standarcy

Transfan Guidance and athar A dmants ission has nol yel cebemined
nmwnmﬂmmumm

Joinf Arangparaialy
This Standard supersedes AASE 131 “inisresin in Joinl Venfures', miroducng o
muwuﬂmm

Mandniory application of ik Stancdand was defered by cns year for nol-for-proft
erilies by AASH 201210, The Commission hes nol yet delsmined the application of
tha potenial impact of the Standsed,

Disciagune of infenests in Otfer Entiies

Thia Siendoerd supersedes disclosume pequiremenis under AASE 127 ‘Consolidalsd
arl Sepansds Finnncl Stafamonts” and AASE 131 “alsans in Join Venlures®.
Mandstory appleation of this Standard was defered by cne year for nolforprofil
nlilies by AASHE 201210, The Commisalon has sl yel detemined the soplcation or
iha pobendial impact of the Standurd.

Ftlr Vake Mopsommany

This Standard defines fair volue, et ot a framework for meaturing Rair value snd
townes aodiionsl dackaures a5ou Talr value mansurements. There b po fnancial

mpact,

Employes Benpbity

This Smndard suporsedes AASE 118 (Oclobar 2010, making changes o tha
mcognition, presentalion and declosurns regdraments.

Tha Comiméssion does ot have any definad benefl plans, s iherfors e financial
impact wil be limeed to the affect of discounting annual lsave ond long senion lsave
Iipiities that were previooaly measured ol the iadiscouniad amowrss.

This Stasdord supersedes AASE 137 ‘Consofdeled and Separale Flaancial
Stremards’, introdiacing o number of changes b sccounling teatments.

Mandatory applcation of this Standand wes deferred By one year fior nol-for-piofl
entiies by AASE 2012-10, Tha Commisalon has not yel defsrmined S spplcalion of
tha polential impest of the Standand.

dmvmstmanly in Associales snd Jeinf Vanfures

This Stangard superssdes AASE 120 ‘lnestmeal in Associsfes’, infroducing @
numiber of changes Bo accounting ireamsnts.

Mardatory of this Standied woa defamed by ene yoar for nobfor-profi
onlitiey by AASH 20112-10. The Commission has nol yal dolerméned ihe application ar
the polerdisl impad) of the Standard.

1 Jdon 2014

1 e 2014

1 Jun 3014

1 dan 2042

1 Jan 2013

4 Jan 204

1 Jan 3014




Mot & Disclosure of changes in accounting policy ond estimates [continaed)

Tithe

i

i

AASE 1053

AASH 1055

AASH MND-2

AASE 20107

AASE 2011-2

AASE 20118

AASE 20117

Appicalion of Tiers of Ausinien Accouniing Standartds
This S2andard establshos 8 dfevential fnancial repodting framewsrk conslating of bwo
siatemants,

tiers: of reparting requimmants for proparing gecsdal puipose financal
Thare ia no finansial impact.

Hudpelary Reporiing

mmmmumwwﬂ
Amendmenty fo Austailsn Accounting STancends aviaing kom Redoced Disciosure
Reguiraments [AASE 1, 2, 1 & 7, 8, 107, 102 107, 108, 110, 111, 192, 198, 117, 118,
A2, 123, 124, 127, 128, 134, 133, 134, 136, 137, 134, 140 141, 1050 & 1052 and ind
2.4, 5 15 17, 127, 129 & 1083

Accounling  Standands  and
disciosure roquinmants for cerain hipes of

Ampndmonds i Ausimban Accounding Standards arfsing fom AASE 0 (Decamber
POTC) [AASE 1. 3 4, 5 7, 104, 102, 104, 112, 178, 120, 121, 127, 128, 13, 132, 136,
137, 138, 1023 & 1038 and int 2, &, 10, 12, 18 5 127)

This Stansard makes consequential smendments o olher Ausiradon

Smdarnds and inberprotations as a resull of Buing AASE D i Docember 2010,

AASE 2012-8 arended the mandalory application date of this Standard 1o 1 January
015 The Commisskon has nol yet delemined the application of the polsedal impact of
(hay Sandard

Amendments fo Augiralian Arcoonting Sheclrds avising from S Trans-Theman
Covergence Progect — Recused Discioaone Requiremants (AASE 101 £ 1054

This Standard temoves disclasur g rits from pther Standards and incotpodales
tham In @ sighe Sisndand 10 ochieve coeneipence between Awilralian and MNew
Zealand Accourting Stardaids for reduced disclosun reporing. There is no feansal
imoad.

mhmumm-mwm
Consolidaton, e Consoldaion = Ruduced

Equily Methiod v
Disclogere Requirements JAASD 127, 128 & 131]

complisnt, provided thad Ihe parert endty, investor or ventunes and the wllimale or

mmmmm' Aocoundng Standards of Austrakan

Accounding Sisndards — Aodicod Disclsue Roquimments. There & no finkncsd
-

Amandmenis io Arsirskan Ascoosling Standards anizing from the wnd
Joimt Arrpogemants Standerds [AASS 1, 2, 3, & T, 100, 107, 195, 118 121, 124, 132,
133, 138, 138, £39, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5 6. 16 & 17]

This Strdand gives etiect to conasquental charges avising from e issusnce of AASH
10, AASE 11, AASE 127 “Sepamie Financial Sialoments” shd AASE 128 Invesiments
in Azsocimies and Join! Venduas', For rotdor-profl enliies I apples b annual
reporEng pericds beginning on or after 1 January 204, The Corenission has. not yel
datormined the opplication of tha poiertial kngect of e Starcard.

1 Jul 2014

1 Jul 2013

1 Jan 2015

1 Jul 2013

1 Jul 2013

1 Jn 2013

Mot & Dischosure of changes in accourting pelicy and eatimotes (continued)

AASE 20118

AASE 201110

AASE 2011-11

AASE 20931

AASE I3

AASE 20123

AASH 0125

AAED 2LE

AASE 20127

Amencmends fo Ausimiisn Accounding Standands svising from AASE 13 (AASE 1, 2, 2,

4, 5 7,701, 162, 108, 190, 198, TI7, 118, 118, 120, 124, 128 130, 132, 133, 134,

38, 138, 130, 140 141, 1004, 1023 A 1038 mad daf 2, 4, 12 13 14 17, 10, 130 &

12y

This Srdend mplces the mdsting defmtion and fair valos guidance in oifser
Austealan Ascounting Standards and beterpretations & the reaull of lasulng AASE 13

i Sephermiar 2011, Thens iu no finandal impect.

Amsndmants ko Aursimisn Accounting Smnconds anising from AASE 119 [Geplember
2071} JAASE 1, 8, 107, 124, 134, M#mr-a-dhw
This Stardatl malss omandments to other A Actounting Sikndants end

WIlmdeﬂﬂthmmn Thaen |s lmibes
financisl impac].

Ammncments fo AASE 190 (Sepiamber 2011) arlslng fom Redeced Disclesurs
Awguiremanis

This Standard ghves affect o g Standar Rt Dischosure
mmm11ima¢s1:.mammm
Amanimants fo Awsiralisa - Fair Value Monsumment - Rodccad

Accounting Srananrly
Diacicsure FRequirmments (AASE 3, 7, 13, 140 & 141]
“Théa Sinndard esinblishes and nmands reduced decosus mouinements for additicnal
and amended disciosures arising from AASE 13 and the censsguenial amendments
mplamaried through AASE 2041-8. Thare i no financisl impact,
Amengmants jo Ausirabian Accounfing Seadars - Disclosurss - Offseling Financla!
Agsols and Financia! Linbidtes (AASE T & 1327
This Einndard smends the tequined dacicaums i AASE T 1o inziude infarmation thal
will ennbile usors of an oniity's fnancial stabements 10 evaluabe (he effect of pobential
edlect of netling armngements, includieg dights of sel-cf sssccisted with the enily's
recogrised financial sseets and necognised Enancial labiliies, on the entih's financial
poaiticn. There & no inancial impact,

Amendmants o Autimfan Accoonting Stendardy - Cifseffing Finonoiold Assols ans!
Financial Listdes JAASE 132)

Thin Standard adds apphicalion guidance to ARSE 132 o nddress ncorsigiencies
idenifiod in applying boma of the offsefing oritera, incioding darifying the meaning of
“currenily has @ legaly enfocoeable fight of sed-olf™ and thal some gross sslemant
systerms may be contidensd squivaient bo re settiement. Thare |s no fnancial impact.

Amendments o Ausiaies Aseounfing Smncands avlaing fom Aanusl kmprovemends
200917 Cyche [AAEE 1, 107, 116 133 & 134 and ind 3]

This Siondard maokes nmendmenis to e Austrsdan Smandards and
Inierpretations as § conasquance of Ihe Esnual impeovemants process. There I8 no
financisl Impacl.

Amendrments i Ausielan Accouning Standards - Mandaiory Efective Date of AASE
2 and Transilion Disclosures (AASE 0, 2009-11, 20706-7, 20717 & 2011-4]

This Standard amends fe mandeory eifscive date of AASE § Financial instruments
fo 1 Januany 2005 Furthar amandmants 2 2540 made 10 consequential amendmsiis
ariing from AASE § ihat wil now apply from 1 Janyasy 2015 and %o consequeniial
smendmanis ariing oot of the Siandands St will sall apply from 1 Janaary 2013
Thaie is ho lingncal Fpact.
Amendmenils fo Ausiaiizn Accounting Stancends adsing from Rsduced Discloson
Reguirements [AASE 7, 12, 101 & 1277

This Standard odds ja or amends the Ausimiian Accounling Standands fo provide
turther Infarmalion regarding e dPenntal repording frameswork and the bwo fiers of
reporing figuinenants for prepanng ganedal financial siniemants. Tham is no francial
impas.

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 continued

Operatien for
repoiting psiiod

1.Jan 2013

1 dan 3013

1 Jul 3013

1A 3013

1.Jon 2013

1 Jan 2014

1 Jan 2043

1 Jan 2013

1 Jul 2013




Mote & Disclosure of changes in accounting pollcy and estimaios (zontinued)

Title Crparatve o

AMSS P20 Amendmants b Arsimien Accounting Standards - Transilion Guidance snd Other 1 Jan 2013
Amendmants [AASE 1, & T & 10, 11, 12, 13, 107, 102, 100, 112 718, 118, 12T, 128,

132, 13, 134, 137, 1923, 1038, 1039, 1040 & 2011-7 and int 13}

This Standad makes amendments io AASE 10 and relsied Standands o fevise the

iranadion guidance rewvant o the inBal sppleatien of those Standards, and i clarity

[P circumatances in which adjustments o an onily's prowious eccounling e S

invohramant with cther enfities are required and the Sming of such adjsstiments.

The Stirnded wad lsued bn December 3012 Tha Commission has not yet detamined

thes mpplenticn of ihe polentiol impact of the Standard.

AASE 201211 Amendments ko AusimBan Accounting Standards - Reduced Diacoaurn Requirermevis 1l 33
andd Otfvay Amengments AASH 1, 2, &, 70, 107, 128, 123, 134 & 3071-4)

This Sinndaed makes warco sdiloral cofmacions 1o Ausirsian Accoenting Standards -
Recluzed Disclopars Fequirements (Tier 2} Thess corections ensore that (he
Siandards refiect decisions of e AASS regarding ihe Tier I requremants.

The Slandard aiso sdends (he relief from consoldaten and e equly mathod (n the

Ausbralian Fediced Disckauns Thern s no
finanesal impact.
2013 2012
1 ¥
Note &  Employes banefils exponss
Salares and venges (a) 10,352,173 &747, 730
Supararereation - defined conbibotion plans {b) 1
11, 404 ¥,
{a} Inciudes ihe vaiss of the fings banefil to e smpioyenss plus ihe fringe benulits lax
componeni and the valug of superannuation conbibulion componend for ledve
endlismania.
(b} Dofined contritafion plarm include VWesl Siale, Goid Siale and GEES and other
alighie funds.
Empioymens on-coats (workers' compensation insumnen) am inchuded af note 11 Tiher
pense’
Emplayment cn-cosks lisbiEy | included a2 nole 18 Provieioos’,
Nole 7 Contracts for servicos
Purchase of Public Mental Health 504,588,778 460,852,174
Mon-Govainmen and Ciher Servioes 71,234,088 BO486 417

575,993,554 521,338,581

Public keapltnls, prvate hosplials, non-govaenmant organiaalions and giher ciganisations
are condtncted {0 provide spacinbsed mantal healih servioes (o the public patients and the

ommnity.

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 continued

Adveriiaing 36,504 48,11
Commusatalion 7,255 81,808
Computer nenied sorvices 67,081 1200
CanpuRing fees 511,838 34,454
s me oo
Oparniing lease
Shared sandoes changes i 103,584
Cthar 1 1
N 14570,833
Mote B Oranis and subsidies
Nasongl Parnership Agreemen - iImgrewing public nospitals 2700000 =
Oiher Grants 5,118,950 430,002
Scholarships 368
Mobe 10 Depreciation expense
Loagshold 2.0
Furnisee and Eilings BT
Cffice Equipmant 1558
L
Hede 11 Other exponses
Waorknrs' compansafion insurancs (8] 1.0
Othar employse related axpenses aT2.185 224,767
Repairs and maminnanss TEARE 2138
Traval relaled sxpanses 46472 B.308
Audil fans 97,351 53,400
Lagad faas o] 26,852
it 14 142
[0] &aT T
{a) The eempleyment on-costs incude workers” compansation kmsurance only. The oo
conls Eabiley siscciniad with the recogrition of annmal and long sendcs edve fabity &
inciudod o rode 19 Pr 3, Eup ibuth f &% par of the
provision for ieave sro amployos banefits and ane nel incloded in senpicymant on-cosis,
Hete 12 Commomaealih grants and coniribullions.
Nafional Partnarhip on impeoving Public Hospial Senvices AR AN ATanaea
afora! Fartnorship on Supparting Mational Menlal Healh 4,071,000 .
Iatioral Heat Reform Agmemen (o) 137,995,224 -

Public Hoapital MHR Accass b Erssgancy Deparimants

(o) s from | July 2012, ociivity based Runding and itk gant funding have been
iscaled from e Commormsial®

Goverrsnent under the National Health Refem
Mg for ser Fallh . irmining aed reasarck provided by local hospital
rtworks. The new funding asiablahed under the requines the

- —

1871371




Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 continued

ke 1. oo b St Somrimant Note 17 Plant and squipment
Service appropristion recoived during the period: i
Amount appropiabed to deliver sardcss A09ATR000 530,538,000 Al cost i i 188,270 156,278
Amount autherised stabes: Aecumedatos dsprecialin
Ml:lﬂaﬁ.:ﬁ:;ﬂ‘lm ABT 000 $E8,000 104,188 158,270
R X Farnitara & Fitings
Al coal 8273
A from 1 July 2012, actiity based Rending Bnd iock grand funding huves boen meshed Accumulated depraciation i}
mmmwmhmmmmh 5,648
sarvices, hoalth fing. training mnd nch i wwmﬂnmm
mmwmmﬂnw requites ihe Commonwealh “"mww 18,878 )
Goverrmenl to make funding poyments lo the Stabs Pool Accourd from which hy "
distributions 10 1he local hospis! netwodks e made by the Decesiment of Health and Accumulgisd denrsation “% <
Mbental Hoalth Cosrnissien, In prevous financial years, the equivaient Commonwealh N
funding was recahvad in e Sonm of Senvice Agprepristions from (he Stats Tressurer. Aatorki
Al post 12,000
Sarvices recaived tres of charge from other State govermmant agencies during the Tatal plant and erulpmont T wR@s 1o
Stale Sehciors Offce - lagal adviory services p 5] 28883 Reconchulkany
Deparimant of Health - sarporate sandces 168,812 srhar mummmummmnnmmm
Degarimant of Hoalth - services Sor Seres B population growth - 2,230,000 of {he reporting pericd ars sat oul Bekow.
Deparimant ef Finance - office accommodation lessing penvices 3z -
Matropolitan Health Services - conrmeted menial healh serdoes 30,488,778 - Leasehold iInprovemanis
WA, Cauntry Hoallh Serdos - contrachid mestsl healih sevices 2/620,000 . Carrying amoce o the start of year 56,2780 a
Addifions = 158278
1 2 ‘amount o e and of [ 1 3
Cairying yaar 1
Mole 15  Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Cument Furmihre £ Firdings
Commonwaslh H Carrying amount af ihe stan of year .
Capital grant from ihe Govermmen (3) 200,000
Mon-zurrent Dagrocaticn
Accrued saiaries suspense account (b} 280,320 244,330 CHRVIa A ot NI e of yar %
(8} The weapeed fund from Mo Commamwaalth Government i commiliad ta M Ww‘:‘-m‘w )
constructian of the Broome sub-acute faciity. Caimying smaurd po
(&) Fiands hei in the suspenss sccount used only for ihe purpote of meing ihe I7Th Deprecistion 1.568) "
pay i @ fnmncial ywar (hat cecurs evary 11 years. Caatrying amolnt ot the end of year 14,187 -
Mote 18 Recelvables Artworks
Catrying amount of the start of yeer
Gurrent Aggnona
mnp e 1@“1 ety ing Iepseni ot e e £yl
200480 1473834 Todal plant and equipment
{0} Comprises af a refund duse Srem WA Country Hapith Senvies for svesnayment of an Camying amount af e start of year
Inyoice bo Specialised Stabewide Atotigined Hesth Service. Additions
Fiator bo sole 2{T) ‘Fecehabies’ and nobe 32 Financsd nstiumenis’. Carrying amoun al the and of yaor
Thawe wora no indications of impak o pland and wquip al 30 Juns 2013,
Mote 18 Payables
Currant
Ancrusd saanes
Accnosd expernes

= Refar o note 2] Payabies® and note 32 ‘Financial Instrumaras’




2013 amz
3 13
Mote 18 Provislona
Currant
Emplovis beesfis provissn
Annunl e (8} BT 28 B47.050
Long sarvice lame (&) 1,004,330 B18.03F
Duferred salary scharss (2) o Bapok 139408
— DO TH N3G
Nonsgurnent
wancH BV
'-WII = 1 1 195
{n) Annual lesve Enbites have boon cassfied 08 curmant as e b no uncondEanal
right o dufar seiilemen i &l lsas] 12 monine after B end of Be reparting period.
Asgrmsments indicale thl sctesl petfiermend of the liabifies b expecied i cocur 8a
fedlows:
Within 12 mortha of 5% and af (ha reporting parkc 31,116 413,355
Morn than 12 monds afer iha ond of tha mpsing perod mm_ﬂaﬂr
— sy SIS0
&) Long service leave liablilies have Been clssiled as cumes! whore fhem B no
unconditional right ta defier seecssni for #1 lseal 12 montra sler the end of B reporting
pariod. Asssasmants dicain that sciual setSement of the Sabifties will oooor as Tollows:
Withim 12 monthe of the and of B epocting period 205758 155,303
Miare Haen 12 mantha afler s end of Ihe reporing peviod AL — )
1,400 257 41,885
i) Dateerad palary schome lisbftes have been cassfed os curent where thete i3 no
wncondional ight i dsler settlemant for at lenst 12 months afier e end of the repording
piviod. Asspeimants indicate thal nclual sottiemant of the liahiities will cooor as foliows:
‘Wiilhin 12 months of the e of the reparting pericd B2.608 129458
Mora ihan 12 morihs after the end of the neporting period - .
— 83606 130458
Mote 20 Egquity
Tha Gosarmrssd holds tha equily imeres] in the Commission on bahalf of the commianity.
Eiguly prasanty. (he ko interest in the net assels of the Commission.
Contributed equity
Balance a1 st of pasiad B45 B0 5900
Cortribullam by owners
Distrituicns o ovanir . -
Bt a1 endd of paricd 544,600 845,600
Accumulated aurphe | (daticlt)
Bainnce mi st of paied 8,584 576 {838 B4}
Rimiift for B patiod (708,718 g0
Balance 8 eed of paricd T BgiegsA  Apegre
Total Equiy st nd ot pariod L —

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 continued

Hote 21 Notes o the Stasement of Cash Flows

Reconcilintion of coah

Cash at the e5d of s fSrancial yeor as shown in the Stalement of Cash Flows s
reconciied 1o the related ilims i B Statemenl of Financial PosiBon aa follsw:

Cash prd cash 11088579 12800,118

Fuesiricied cash @nd cash sqehalnts (refer 1o nols 15) :AEE - 244,330

RecancSiation of net cost of services to pit canh Nlows usod in operaling activithes

et cost of sarvices (Statomant of Compratanshv incams] [a43B0ZO40) (25,0805
Hon-cash iems:

Servicon recaived fioe of charge (refor bo note 14) 33,151,228 3313 The
Danation of pes-cument pssels (12,0004 L
Depracialion axpenss {reder (o nobe 10) 54,288 -
{ncrassa ' decreass i sty

Cutreni recshiabies (a) 1,207 344 {1.154.783)
InGrenietoncrang) in labities;

Cument payakiea 385,547 588,813
wmm &70,184. 2B AR
Man-guiten| provisons 152 354 38,375
Mt cash used In operating activitles (S2memant of Cash Fiowa) T iehnieaeaY)  [(heRvhan

(8] Mote that the Auatrslian Teenion Office (ATO) recehubla/paysbls in sessec of G5T
and fhe recehmblaipaystls in respoct of the sale/purchisse &l focrtufmen! adbedl e nol
includad in thess Asms as they do nol form part of e feconciing tems.

Mote 21 Commimonis

This commitmants bakow are inclosive of GST whans relev.
Horrcancollable operating lease commiments
Cqmmemanis 1or minkmum lenss payments ans payabie oe Talicws:

Within 1 pear LA 7820
Latar ihan 1 yoar sed nal later than 5 yoon L
1,077,040 7820

mumnmmnmmmmmm
e fo medtiicioes imposed by Bese leasing amrangements on ather finsncing

Contracts for the provision of menta! health services

Within T year
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Dther expandliune commitmanis
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Within 1 year




Nole 33 Remuneratian of senlor officemns:
This number of senlor oificers, whoae botal less, salnries, superannualion, Pof-meestary
benafils and other benafits ko the financial year fall within the folowing bands &

§ 70001 -3 BOOX
100,001 - $110.000

Bass remumeralion and superannualion
Annual issve and long senvice lome soouals
Ctteer benedta

Tetal reenuneration of senior officers

Thir tobad pemunoruiion incudes the supennnealion sxpanss insuned by ihe Commission
i rmapact ol sarior officers,
Nods 24 Remureration of awsdibar

Remunarstion payable 10 the Audice General In msped of the sud for th ourrard
financinl year is is follows:

Auditing tha accsants, Snancial sialements and key peromance mdicalorns

Mate 25  Contingent ilnbiften nnd contingant assats
Thie Commisaion is mot meane of sy contisgen Sabilties or contingant nssots |

Hole 28 Events cocurring alter the end of e reporting period
Thir Gowverven! has snnounced (e s=wigamation of the Menlal Health Commizsion
and [ WA Alcohol and Dnag . M duin Bas Doen el for e Tormel ireesition,
et s expaoted o oocer during the 2013-14 financial year.

Mote 3T  Rolabed bodies
A reinled body s @ body which recsives moen than Ralf ils funding and rescerces from the
Commizsion and i subjedt o aperational eorirol by ihe Comminsion,
Tha Commisalan had v riaied bodios dwing tha firmncial year.

Note 28 Afiliated bodies
An affilaind tody i 8 Body which recelves mom fhan haif By funding and resources from
Irs Commbsaion ang is not subject 1o ogerntional contnol by e Commission.
Tha Commission e tha following affiated bedies Suring the Anancial year;
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GROW.

Hiome Haalth Py Lid (irading as Teeder Care)
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Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 continued

Hote 28 Special Purpose Accounts
State Managed Eurd [Mental Health) Asgourt

g

Agreamarnt (hal ia mquired 1o be undertaiosn in ihe Slale through & Siale Managed
Balance al thi slai of peilod

Flecaipls:

Senvice appropriaticns (Sinie Gorvarnmant)
Commonaealth grants snd contributizns

Frymasis
Bicek gmed funding 1o loca! hosphal retwarks
[Badance af ta wnd of paricd

{a) Total appropfations prowided Io dallvar servdces 308,838,000

The increass in Applopiaton i cee 10 8 Goversment decision io
tund $12.300,000 of manksd haalih actvily within the Depanment of
Healih (DoH} Shove e budpe! seitingy plos the §1,428 000 seciion
25 trariber of the Council of Oflcal Visbor {CO0V). These were

Specialised
medadling and improvemants in classHication of types of serdce.
{t) Total income 124,038,000
Total Income was higher than budgel due o §26.091.324 Mghes
2012-13 budgsl process. The NHIRA revenus airbutable o Acthily

Based Funding was clasaified as Senices ncalved o of change for
[Esirmali pUrpoteL.

2013 2012

5 5

202,894,000 .

. mrmret 0000 -

295,627,781 -

(Fa8827.787) .
2013

Actial Varlance

§ 13

405 548 000 11,108,000




Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 continued

Neitn 332 Financial instruments
a)  Financial risk management objectives and pobicies
l-‘lmdll'rmmruuh-mMnmmmmwmﬂmwummmmmmmmwhm

Hote 30 Explanatory statemunt [continised)
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_SGEAB0NT  2TIANGERS (6631357
Spedalised Admiied Fatient Services : ; The Commissian is. not expased 10 imemst rade ritk, becauss o cash and enah souivalests are non-interest beasing,
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¥} 52,700,000 - grani {0 the Depadmand of Houaleg for JCLS L @ recabmbbos 288 450 1 AT3E24
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(€ Total Administered transactons
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Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 continued

©)  Financial instrument disclosures
Crodil righ
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Certification of Key Performance Indicators

MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION
CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

| hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant
and appropriate for assisting users to assess the performance of the Mental Health Commission
and fairly represent the performance of the Mental Health Commission for the financial year

ended 30 June 2013.

bbbt~
Eddie Bartnik
Commissioner, Mental Health Commission

Accountable Authority

18 September 2013



Performance Management Framework

Outcome Based Management Framework

Whole of Government Goal

Our Desired Outcome
Qutcomes Based Service Delivery:

Accessible and high quality mental health
services and supports that are recovery focussed
and promote mental health and wellbeing

Services we purchase
Service 1. Promotion and prevention

Greater focus on achieving results in key

service delivery areas for the benefits of all
Western Australians

Service 2: Specialised admitted patient services

Key Effectiveness Indicators Service 3: Specialised community services
+ Readmissions to hospital within 28 days of . .
discharge Service 4. Accommodation, support and other

 Percent of contacts with community-based public | SeTvices |
mental health non-admitted services within 7 days
post discharge from public mental health inpatient
units

= Proportion of service funding directed to publicly
funded community mental health services

= Proportion of service funding directed to
community organisations (NGOs)

Key Efficiency Indicators

Service one Service two Service three Service four
Promotion and prevention Specialised admitted patient Specialised community services | Accommodation, support and cther
services services
Cost per capita of activities to

Average cost per purchased Awverage cost per purchased = Average cost per hour for community
bedday in specialised mental

enhance mental health and

wellbeing (iliness prevention,
promotion and protection activities)

health units

episode of community care

provided by public mental health
services

support provided by non-government
organisations to people with mental
health problems

Average MHC subsidy per bedday for
people with mental illness living in
community supported residential
accommodation.

g2l |l




Readmissions to hospital within 28 days of discharge

Key Performance Indicators

Mental health inpatient services aim to provide treatment that
enables individuals to return to the community as soon as
possible. Readmissions to an acute specialised mental health
inpatient unit following a recent discharge may indicate that
inpatient treatment was either incomplete or ineffective, or that
follow-up care was inadequate to maintain the person out of
hospital. In this sense, they potentially point to deficiencies in
the functioning of the overall care system.

International literature identifies the concept of one month as
an appropriate defined time period for the measurement of
readmissions following discharge from an acute mental health
inpatient service.

This indicator reports on planned as well as unplanned
readmissions as current health systems cannot accurately
identify unplanned readmissions.

Percent of readmissions to acute mental health inpatient
facilities within 28 days of discharge

2012/13  Target!

11.9% <=12%

Notes
This is a new KPI approved for 2012/13, therefore comparative figures are not provided.
'The target was set as part of the Government Budget process.

Data Source
Hospital Morbidity Data Collection, Department of Health.




Percent of contacts with community-based public mental health non-admitted services within 7 days post discharge from public

mental health inpatient units

A large proportion of people with a mental health problem have a
chronic or recurrent illness that results in only partial recovery
between acute episodes and deterioration in functioning that can
lead to problems in living an independent life. As a result,
hospitalisation may be required on more than one occasion each
year with the need for ongoing community-based support.

A responsive community support system for persons who have
experienced a psychiatric episode requiring hospitalisation is
essential to maintain clinical and functional stability and to minimise
the need for hospital readmissions. Patients leaving hospital after a
psychiatric admission with a formal discharge plan, involving
linkages with public community based services and supports, are
less likely to need inappropriate readmission.

These community services provide ongoing clinical treatment and
access to a range of programs that maximise an individual's
independent functioning and quality of life.

The time period of seven days was recommended nationally as an

indicative measure for contact with community based non-admitted
services following discharge from hospital.

84

Percent of patients that had contact with a community-based service
within 7 days post discharge

75%

73%

72%

70% >=70%

69%

66%

66%

63%

60%

2010 2011 2012 2012 Target

Notes
Data is for the calendar year of 2012.
The target was set as part of the Government Budget process.

Data Sources
Mental Health Information System, Department of Health.
Hospital Morbidity Data Collection, Department of Health.



Proportion of service funding directed to publicly funded community mental health services

Currently a large proportion of funding is directed to acute
inpatient care. State Government as well as national mental
health policy articulate a shift from the reliance on acute care
provided in inpatient services to services and supports
provided in the community as a key reform initiative.

One of the State Government’s three key reform directions
articulated in the Mental Health Commission’s strategic policy
document Mental Health 2020: Making it personal and
everyone’s business is ‘balanced investment’ i.e., working
towards a contemporary mental health system that provides a
full range of support and services.

Publicly funded community mental health services
(specialised public mental health services) provide clinical
services including assessment, treatment and continuing care
of non-admitted patients provided from a hospital or
community mental health centre by public sector providers.

This indicator is a proxy measure of accessibility and
appropriateness of services.

85

Proportion of funding to publicly funded community mental
health services

2012/13 = Target'

42.2% >=40%

Notes
This is a new KPI approved for 2012/13, therefore comparative figures are not provided.
"The target was set as part of the Government Budget process.

Data Source
Mental Health Commission financial systems.




Proportion of service funding directed to community organisations (Non Government Organisations)

Currently a large proportion of funding is directed to acute
inpatient care. State Government as well as national mental
health policy articulate a shift from the reliance on acute care
provided in inpatient services to services and supports
provided in the community as a key reform initiative.

One of the State Government’s three key reform directions
articulated in the Mental Health Commission’s strategic policy
document Mental Health 2020: Making it personal and
everyone’s business is ‘balanced investment’ i.e. working
towards a contemporary mental health system that provides a
full range of support and services.

Community organisations (NGOs) provide a range of support
services including advocacy, psychosocial support,
rehabilitation, day programs, respite care, housing and
accommodation support, individualised living support and sub
acute services.

This indicator is a proxy measure of accessibility and
appropriateness.

ss |

Proportion of funding directed to community organisations
2012/13  Target'

13.3% >=15%

Notes
This is a new KPI approved for 2012/13, therefore comparative figures are not provided.
"The target was set as part of the Government Budget process.

Data Source
Mental Health Commission financial systems.




Cost per capita of activities to enhance mental health and wellbeing (illness prevention, promotion and protection activities)

Prevention, promotion and protection activities focus on groups
rather than individuals. The activities aim to eliminate or reduce
modifiable risk factors associated with individual, social and
environmental health determinants to enhance mental health and
wellbeing and prevent mental disorders before they develop.

Mental health promotion is defined as activities designed to lead to
improvement of the mental health and functioning of persons
through prevention, education and intervention activities and
services. It involves the population as a whole in the context of their
everyday lives. Such measures encourage lifestyle and behavioural
choices, attitudes and beliefs that protect and promote mental
health and reduce mental disorders.

This indicator measures the cost of mental health promotion, illness
prevention, protection and related activities.

A |

Cost per capita of activities to enhance mental health and wellbeing

$20

S17
$15
$15
$10
$10
s7 s7
SO T T T T 1

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13  Target 2012/13

Notes
Includes the Mental Health Commission’s corporate services and other indirect costs.
The target was set as part of the Government Budget process.

Data Sources

Mental Health Commission financial systems.

Australian Bureau of Statistics December 2012 population for
Western Australia (2,472,717).




Average cost per purchased bedday in specialised mental health units

Specialised mental health inpatient units provide admitted patient
care in publicly funded authorised facilities and designated mental
health units located within general hospitals.

In order to ensure quality care and cost effectiveness, it is important
to monitor the unit cost of admitted patient care in specialised
mental health inpatient units. The efficient use of hospital resources
can help minimise the overall costs of providing mental health care
and enable the reallocation of funds to appropriate alternative non
admitted care.

I |

Average cost per purchased bedday in specialised mental health
units

$1,150

$1,138

$1,125

$1,102

$1,100
$1,086

$1,075 -

$1,050 -

$1,025 -

$1,000 -

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 Target 2012/13

Notes

This indicator is reported at a statewide level based on funding provided to the Department of Health.
The unit cost reflects a ‘purchased’ bedday cost and includes a proportion of Mental Health
Commission’s corporate services and other indirect costs.

This indicator measures the average cost per purchased bedday in authorised (capacity to provide
care to patients under the Mental Health Act 1996) and designated facilities (no capacity to provide
care to patients under the Mental Health Act 1996) in Western Australia.

The target was set as part of the Government Budget process.

Data Sources

Mental Health Commission financial systems.

BedState and HCare Data Warehouse (for Bunbury, Broome and Kalgoorlie Hospitals) provided by
the Department of Health.



Average cost per purchased episode of community care provided by public mental health services

Services provided by public community-based mental health
services include assessment, treatment and continuing care.

The efficient use of public community-based resources can help
minimise the overall costs of providing mental health care. It is
therefore important to monitor the unit cost of community based

patient care in specialised public mental health community services.

Average cost per purchased three month episode of
community care provided by public mental health services

$2,500

$2,142

$1,964
$2,000

$1,500

$1,089

$1,000 -

$500 -

$0 -

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 Target 2012/13

Notes

This indicator is reported at a statewide level based on funding provided to the Department of Health.
The unit cost reflects a ‘purchased’ cost per three month episode of community care and includes a
proportion of Mental Health Commission’s corporate services and other indirect costs.

An episode of community care is defined as each three month period of care with one or more service
contacts for an individual.

The target was set as part of the Government Budget process.

Data Sources
Mental Health Commission financial systems.
Mental Health Information System, Department of Health.



Average cost per hour for community support provided by non-government organisations to people with mental health problems

Community based support programs support people with mental Average cost per hour for community support

health problems to develop/maintain skills required for daily living, $100
improve personal and social interaction, and increase participation
in community life and activities. They also aim to decrease the

burden of care for carers. $80

$76 $78
$73 v
$67

These services primarily are provided in the person’s home or in 561 561
the local community. The range of services provided is dependent 260
on the needs and goals of the individual.

$40

$20

SO T T T T T

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 Target
2012/13

Notes
Includes the Mental Health Commission’s corporate services and other indirect costs.
The target was set as part of the Government Budget process.

Data Sources
Non-government mental health service activity 6 monthly reports extrapolated for the full 12 months.
Mental Health Commission financial systems.




Average MHC subsidy per bedday for people with mental illness living in community supported residential accommodation

Non-government organisations provide accommodation in
residential units for people affected by mental illness who require
support to live in the community. Residential care facilities provide
support with self-management of personal care and daily living
activities as well as initiate appropriate treatment and rehabilitation
to improve the quality of life.

This accommodation support is available to people with a mental
illness, including older persons with complex mental health issues
and significant behavioural problems. They are unable to live
independently in the community without the aid of government
subsidies to provide appropriate care.

Average MHC subsidy per bedday to support people living in
community residential accommodation provided by non-
government organisations

$300

$250 $240

$206 $210
$200 o - s168
$150
$100
$50
$0 : : : : :

2008/09 2009/10  2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 Target
2012/13

Notes
Includes the Mental Health Commission’s corporate services and other indirect costs.
The target was set as part of the Government Budget process.

Data Sources
Non-government mental health service activity 6 monthly reports extrapolated for the full 12 months.
Mental Health Commission financial systems.



Ministerial directives

Treasurer’s Instruction 903 (12)
requires the Commission to disclose
information on any Ministerial directives
relevant to the setting of desired outcomes
or operational objectives, the achievement of
desired outcomes or operational objectives, investment
activities and financial activities. No such directives were
issued by the Ministers with portfolio responsibility for the
Commission during 2012/13.

Contracts with senior officers

At the date of reporting other than normal contracts of
employment of service, no senior officers or entities in which senior officers have
any substantial interests had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the
Commission.

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes

In accordance with section 31 (1) of the Public Sector Management Act 1994, the
Mental Health Commission fully complied with the public sector standards, the
Western Australian Code of Ethics and the Commission’s Code of Conduct.

No breaches of standard were lodged during the period of this report.

During the year the Commission undertook a range of activities to promote
compliance with public sector standards and ethical codes including monitoring of
the Commission’s Code of Conduct and the transition to online structured training
for staff on Ethical and Accountable Decision Making.

The Commission Corporate Governance Charter was launched in October 2010. The
charter, based on the former Office of the Public Sector Standards Good Governance
Guide, assists the Commission and staff to comply with the standards as well as
general governance, administration and management reporting requirements.

It provides a framework for the proper management of the activities of the
Commission and helps the Commission meet its accountability requirements.
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Other Disclosures

The Charter specifically addresses the following public sector good governance
principles:

« Government and public sector relationship
«  Management and oversight

«  Organisational structure

+  Operations

«  Ethics and integrity

«  People

+ Finance

«  Communication

«  Risk management.

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

The Disability Service Act 1993 was introduced to ensure that people with disabilities
have the same opportunities as other Western Australians. The Commission is
committed to ensuring that people with disabilities have the same access to our
services, information and facilities as other people.

During the year, the Commission’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2011-2016 was
endorsed by the Disability Services Commission. The Commission is committed to
ensuring that the initiatives developed will be successful in addressing statutory
requirements and achieving the following desired six outcomes:

1. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access
the services of, and any events organised by the Commission.

2. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access
the buildings and other facilities of the Commission.

3. People with disabilities receive information from the Commission in a format that
will enable them to access the information as readily as other people are able to
access it.

4. People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from the
staff of the Commission.



5.People with disabilities have the same opportunity as other
people to make complaints to the Commission.

6. People with disabilities have the same access as other people to participate
in any public consultation by the Commission.

Compliance with the Electoral Act 1907 section 175ZE (advertising)

In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Commission incurred
the following expenditure on advertising agencies, market research, polling, direct
mail and media advertising during the reporting period:

Advertising agencies $

AdCorp Australia Limited 25,378
Media Planet 10,000
Medical Forum Magazine 1,665
TOTAL 37,043

Table 6: Total advertising expenditure 2012-2013

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes

In accordance with section 31 (1) of the Public Sector Management Act 1994, the
Commission fully complied with the public sector standards, the Western Australian
Code of Ethics and the agency's Code of Conduct.

No breaches of standard were lodged during the period of this report.

During the year the Commission continued to promote compliance with public
sector standards and ethical codes with new and existing staff, including the
dissemination of the Code of Conduct and ongoing structured training for staff on
ethical and accountable decision making.

The introduction by the Public Sector Commission of the new Commissioner’s
Instructions on Filling a Public Sector Vacancy and the new Employment Standard have
seen improvements in the Commission’s capacity to recruit staff in a timely manner.

The appointment of two new public interest disclosure officers in the Commission
also highlights the focus placed upon staff to ensure that all decisions are undertaken
with integrity, ethics and are compliant with all legislative and regulatory provisions.

o

Recordkeeping plans

The State Records Act 2000 (the Act) was established to mandate standardised
statutory record keeping practices for every Government agency including records
creation policy, record security and the responsibilities of all staff. Government
agency practice is subject to the provisions of the Act and the standards and policies
of the State Records Commission. The Commission has continued to operate under

an addendum to the Department of Health’s Record Keeping Plan (RKP) due for review
and renewal in 2012. The Commission is currently undertaking a drafting of its own
RKP in accordance with the requirements of the State Records Act 2000 for submission
to the State Records Office in 2013.

Ongoing online and face to face training in the use of the Commission’s current
record management system and recordkeeping obligations is provided to staff as
part of induction processes and is also available to individual staff when required or
requested.

During 2013/14 the Commission will continue to review the efficiency and
effectiveness of record keeping training and awareness for all staff and look to
improve record keeping standards across the agency.

Occupational safety, health and injury management

The Commission is committed to providing and maintaining a safe and healthy
work environment and promoting the health and wellbeing of all employees. The
Commission acknowledges its responsibilities under the Occupational Safety and
Health Act 1984 and the Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981. For
2012/13 the Mental Health Commission continued to operate under the umbrella of
the Department of Health's occupational safety and health policies and procedures,
until such time as internal policies and procedures are implemented.

The Commission supports a consultative environment where employees are
included in matters affecting their safety, health and wellbeing at work. Employees
are encouraged to be proactive in identifying potential hazards and to provide
suggestions and comments on how to improve upon our workplace safety efforts.
The Commission takes all employee suggestions, complaints and notifications of
hazards seriously, and is committed to take proper action immediately.



During the year the Commission progressed the following initiatives:

« continued the roll out of structured training for managers and supervisors in
occupational safety, health and injury management responsibilities

« called for expressions of interest for safety representatives and provision of
required training

« quarterly reporting on incidents/accidents within the workplace

« developed and implemented occupational safety, health and injury
management requirements as part of the Commission’s induction manual for all
new employees

«  provided ergonomic assessments for employees on request
« continued to provide access to an employee assistance program
+  provided employees with the option of annual flu injections

« continued to support the Commission’s Wellbeing Team in their efforts to
promote the health and wellbeing of employees

+ purchased a portable defibrillator and conducted training of staff in its use as
well as recognising the symptoms of a heart attack

« appointed and trained a first aid officer within the Commission.

Table 7 details our 2012/13 key performance indicators against the following targets:

Indicator Actual Target
2011/12 2011/12

Number of fatalities Zero Zero

Lost time injury/disease incidence rate Zero Zero

Lost time injury severity rate Zero Zero

% of injured workers returned to work within 28 N/A N/A

weeks

% managers trained in occupational safety, 63% Greater than or

health and injury management responsibilities equal to 50%

Table 7: 2012/13 key performance indicators
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To continue to achieve our high standards the Commission will be undertaking a
review of occupational safety and health management systems during 2013/14. The
Commission will also incorporate internal mechanisms that will continue to:

« promote a culture that emphasises safety as a core value in all aspects of work

+ train and develop employees in their duty of care through the induction
process and ongoing training and development sessions

« empower employees through communication media on the importance of
personal safety for themselves and others within the workplace

« conduct monthly workplace inspections to identify hazards, assess risks and
implement controls as soon as is practicable

« promote hazard identification as a positive initiative and empower employees
and management to report as the hazard is recognised

- investigate all incidents/accidents and implement initiatives to prevent
reoccurrence

. affirm compliance with injury management requirements of the Workers’
Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981, including the development of
Return to Work Plans

« maintain a commitment to undertaking an assessment of the OSH management
system.

Substantive Equality

As the Commission was only established in 2010, it is not included as a separate
agency under the Policy Framework for Substantive Equality. However, the
Commission is aware of the intent and substance of the Substantive Equality Policy
Framework and is committed to ensuring that the Framework is considered in
shaping new and existing policies and initiatives in future years. In doing so, the
Commission is committed to addressing systemic discrimination and responding to
the different needs of client groups within the community.




Appendix One

Service Provider Service Type

55 Central Incorporated Independent living skills support
55 Central Incorporated Psychosocial support
Access Housing Australia Ltd Supportive landlord services
Access Housing Australia Ltd Individual Community Living
Aftercare Individual Community Living
Albany Halfway House Association Incorporated Community supported residential units
Albany Halfway House Association Incorporated Independent living skills support
Albany Halfway House Association Incorporated Intermediate care accommodation
Albany Halfway House Association Incorporated Psychosocial support
Albany Halfway House Association Incorporated Recreation
Amana Living Specialist residential services
Association for Services to Torture and Trauma Survivors Incorporated Early intervention - general
Baptistcare Crisis/respite accommodation
Baptistcare Individual Community Living
Baptistcare Psychosocial support
Baptistcare Supportive landlord services
Bay of Isles Community Outreach Incorporated Independent living skills support
Bay of Isles Community Outreach Incorporated Psychosocial support
Beyondblue Mental illness prevention
BP Luxury Care Psychosocial support
Bunbury Pathways ‘92 Incorporated Carer/family support - admitted respite
Bunbury Pathways ‘92 Incorporated Carer/family support - education/information and skill development
Bunbury Pathways ‘92 Incorporated Independent living skills support
Bunbury Pathways ‘92 Incorporated Psychosocial support
Bunbury Pathways ‘92 Incorporated Supportive landlord services
Burswood Nursing Care Pty Ltd. Personal care support
Cam' Can & Associates Individual Community Living

95



Carers Association of Western Australia Incorporated

Systemic advocacy

Casson House

Personal care support

Centrecare Incorporated

Carer/family support - education/information and skill development

Centrecare Incorporated

Early intervention - general

Centrecare Incorporated

Independent living skills support

Centrecare Incorporated

Mental illness prevention

Centrecare Incorporated

Psychosocial support

Centrecare Incorporated

Supportive landlord services

Collie Family Centre Incorporated

Early intervention - general

Community First International Limited

Individual Community Living

Consumers of Mental Health WA (CoMHWA)

Systemic advocacy

Country Arts (WA) INC

Mental illness prevention

Curtin University of Technology

Mental health promotion

Curtin University of Technology

Mental illness prevention

Devenish Lodge

Personal care support

Disability in the Arts, Disadvantage in the Arts (WA) Incorporated

Recreation

Enable Southwest

Individual Community Living

Even Keel (Bipolar Disorder Support Association) Incorporated

Psychosocial support

Foundation Housing Association Incorporated

Supportive landlord services

Franciscan House

Personal care support

Fremantle Medicare Local Ltd

Early intervention - general

Fremantle Multicultural Centre

Individual advocacy

Fremantle Women's Health Centre Incorporated

Perinatal mental health service

Fusion (Aust) Ltd

Community supported residential units

Gosnells Women's Health Service Incorporated

Perinatal mental health service

Great Southern Community Housing Association Incorporated

Supportive landlord services

GROW (WA)

Psychosocial support

Hills Community Support Group

Individual advocacy
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Hills Community Support Group

Individual Community Living

Hills Community Support Group

Psychosocial support

Hills Community Support Group

Supportive landlord services

Home Health Pty Ltd (trading as Tender Care

Carer/family support - non admitted respite

Home Health Pty Ltd (trading as Tender Care

Independent living skills support

Home Health Pty Ltd (trading as Tender Care

Psychosocial support

~— |~ |~ | ~—

Home Health Pty Ltd (trading as Tender Care

Recreation

Honeybrook Lodge

Personal care support

ISHAR Multicultural Centre for Women’s Health

Carer/family support - education/information and skill development

Jennie Bertram & Associates

Individual advocacy

June O’Connor Centre Incorporated

Recreation

Kimberley Aboriginal Medical Services Council (Inc) (KAMSC)

Mental illness prevention

LAMP Incorporated

Carer/family support - education/information and skill development

LAMP Incorporated

Independent living skills support

LAMP Incorporated

Psychosocial support

LAMP Incorporated

Recreation

Life Without Barriers Individual Community Living
Life Without Barriers Psychosocial support
Life Without Barriers Supported accommodation for homeless youth

Lifeline WA (The Living Stone Foundation Inc)

Early intervention - telephone services

Mental Health Carers ARAFMI (WA) Inc

Carer/family support - education/information and skill development

Mental Health Carers ARAFMI (WA) Inc

Individual advocacy

Mental health promotion

)
Mental Health Carers ARAFMI (WA) Inc
Mental Health Carers ARAFMI (WA) Inc

Recreation

Mental Health Law Centre

Individual advocacy

Mental lliness Fellowship of Western Australia Incorporated

Carer/family support - education/information and skill development

Mental lliness Fellowship of Western Australia Incorporated

Independent living skills support

Mental lliness Fellowship of Western Australia Incorporated

Individual Community Living
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Mental lliness Fellowship of Western Australia Incorporated

Mental health promotion

Mental lliness Fellowship of Western Australia Incorporated

Psychosocial support

Mental lliness Fellowship of Western Australia Incorporated

Recreation

Mercy Hospital

Clinical treatment and care - admitted

Midland Women'’s Health Care Place Incorporated

Perinatal mental health service

Midwest Community Living Association Incorporated

Recreation

Mission Australia

Individual Community Living

NEAMI Ltd Individual Community Living
NEAMI Ltd Sub-Acute
PDLE Pre-vocational training

Perth Home Care Services Incorporated

Carer/family support - non admitted respite

Perth Home Care Services Incorporated

Individual Community Living

Perth Home Care Services Incorporated

Psychosocial support

Perth Inner City Youth Service

Psychosocial support

Perth Central & East Metro Medicare Local

Clinical treatment and care - non admitted

Pilbara & Kimberley Care Incorporated

Carer/family support - non admitted respite

Pilbara & Kimberley Care Incorporated

Independent living skills support

Pilbara & Kimberley Care Incorporated

Psychosocial support

Pilbara & Kimberley Care Incorporated

Recreation

Richmond Fellowship of WA

Community options

Richmond Fellowship of WA

Community supported residential units

Richmond Fellowship of WA

Crisis/respite accommodation

Richmond Fellowship of WA

Independent living skills support

Richmond Fellowship of WA

Individual Community Living

Richmond Fellowship of WA

Intermediate care accommodation

Richmond Fellowship of WA

Long-term supported accommodation

Richmond Fellowship of WA

Psychosocial support

Richmond Fellowship of WA

Supported accommodation for homeless adults
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Romily House

Personal care support

Ruah Community Services

Carer/family support-education/information and skill development

Ruah Community Services

Individual Community Living

Ruah Community Services

Psychosocial support

Ruah Community Services

Research and evaluation

Salisbury Home

Personal care support

Samaritan Befrienders of Albany Incorporated

Early intervention - telephone services

Schizophrenia Fellowship Albany and Districts Incorporated

Independent living skills support

Schizophrenia Fellowship Albany and Districts Incorporated

Psychosocial support

Schizophrenia Fellowship Albany and Districts Incorporated

Recreation

Share and Care Community Services Group

Carer/family support - non admitted respite

Share and Care Community Services Group

Independent living skills support

Share and Care Community Services Group

Psychosocial support

Share and Care Community Services Group

Recreation

Silver Chain Nursing Association Incorporated

Carer/family support - education/information and skill development

Silver Chain Nursing Association Incorporated

Workforce development

South Coastal Women's Health Services Association Incorporated

Perinatal mental health service

Southern Cross Care (WA) Incorporated

Carer/family support - non admitted respite

Southern Cross Care (WA) Incorporated

Community options

Southern Cross Care (WA) Incorporated

Independent living skills support

Individual Community Living

Southern Cross Care (WA) Incorporated

Psychosocial support

(WA)
(WA)
Southern Cross Care (WA) Incorporated
(WA)
)

Southern Cross Care (WA) Incorporated

Specialist residential services

Spirit of the Streets Choir (Inc)

Mental illness prevention

St Bartholomew’s House Incorporated

Community supported residential units

St Bartholomew’s House Incorporated

Crisis/respite accommodation

St Bartholomew’s House Incorporated

Supportive landlord services

St Jude's Hostel (Pu-Fam Pty Ltd)

Personal care support

)




St Patrick's Community Support Centre

Mental illness prevention

Support In-Site Incorporated

Recreation

The Salvation Army (Western Australia) Property Trust

Independent living skills support

The Salvation Army (Western Australia) Property Trust

Psychosocial support

The Samaritans Incorporated

Early intervention - general

The Samaritans Incorporated

Early intervention - telephone services

UnitingCare West

Supportive landlord services

University of Western Australia (School of Psychiatry and Neuroclinical Sciences)

Mental health promotion

University of Western Australia (School of Psychiatry and Neuroclinical Sciences)

Research and evaluation

Workforce development

University of Western Australia (School of Psychology)

Research and evaluation

(
(
University of Western Australia (School of Psychiatry and Neuroclinical Sciences)
(
(

University of Western Australia (School of Psychology)

Workforce development

Vincentcare

Personal care support

Vincentcare

Psychosocial support

WA AIDS Council Incorporated

Early intervention - general

WA Association for Mental Health Incorporated (WAAMH)

Mental health promotion

WA Association for Mental Health Incorporated (WAAMH)

Systemic advocacy

WA Association for Mental Health Incorporated (WAAMH)

Workforce development

WA Music Industry Association

Mental health promotion

Wanslea Family Services Incorporated

Carer/family support - education/information and skill development

Women's Health Care Association Incorporated

Clinical treatment and care - non admitted

Women's Health Care Association Incorporated

Perinatal mental health service

Women's Health Care Association Incorporated

Psychosocial support

Women's Healthworks

Psychosocial support

Woodville House

Personal care support

Youth Affairs Council of WA Inc

Mental health promotion

Youth Focus Inc

Early intervention - general
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Appendix Two

Summary of the specialised mental health services and activity
contracted by the Commission in 2012/13

/

242 beds
76,801 beddays

Public hospitals Stand alone psychiatric hospital

Specialised mental health admitted

) ) o 437 beds
General hospitals with specialised wards

\ 138,094 beddays

Publicly funded

54 beds
private hospitals

20,450 beddays
Specialised community mental health Public non-admitted services 791,143 service contacts
— Community support 187,179 hours of support
— Individualised Community Living Strategy — 115 individuals
Accomodation, support and — Community Supported Residential 304 beds, 101,928 beddays
other services
— Independent Supported Accommodation —] 854 places
— Psychiatric Hostels — 503 beds
— Sub acute services —— 22 beds



As at 30 June 2013
Barry MacKinnon AM - Chairperson

Dr Judy Edwards - Deputy Chair
Joe Callgja

Margaret Doherty

Dr John Edwards
Pamela Gardner

John Hesketh

Geoff Diver

Katherine Hams
Janelle Ridgway
Lindsay Smoker

Dr Alexandra Welborn
Dr Bernadette Wright

Professor Dianne Wynaden

Victoria Hovane and Pietra Liedel, have been appointed from 1 July 2013
replacing Geoff Diver and Katherine Hams.
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As at 30 June 2013
Peter Fitzpatrick - Chairperson

Eddie Bartnik

Jenny Allen

Brian Mayfield
Joshua Cunniffe
Chris Gostelow
Adele Cox

Estelle Dragun
James Gibson
Professor Cobie Rudd
Stuart Smith

Appendix Three

Dr Neale Fong and Donna Cole have been appointed from
1 July 2013, replacing Sam Walsh and Robyn Coleman.

Darryl Kickett served on the Council until August 2012.

Ministerial Council for Suicide Prevention member
profiles are available at www.mcsp.org.au/one-life-strategy/mcsp.



Appendix Four

Thirteen West Australian individuals or mental health services that have made an outstanding contribution in the
community were announced as Good Outcomes Award winners during Mental Health Week by Mental Health Minister

Hon Helen Morton MLC.

The Awards help to break down stigma surrounding mental health while highlighting the positive contribution that people with mental health illness make in our

community.

Award Categories Winner

West Australian Newspapers Limited Award for consumer involvement and engagement

Andrew Markovs

SonShine FM Award for family and carers involvement and engagement

Tony Fowke OAM

Edith Cowan University Award for prevention, promotion and/or early intervention
service or program

McCusker Nurse Service - Amana Living

John Da Silva Award for improved outcomes in Aboriginal social and emotional
wellbeing

Community Arts Network WA

GESB Award for improved outcomes in seniors mental health

Project Picasso - Amana Living

Dr Mark Rooney Award for Improved Outcomes in Child and Youth Mental Health
sponsored by the Commissioner for Children and Young People

Carers Association of WA

University of Western Australia Award for excellence in rural and remote mental health

Boab Health Services

St John of God Health Care Employee of the Year Award

Joint winners: Julie Potts and Ruth Sims

Curtin Health Innovation Research Institute Award for recovery focused service or
program

Perth Home Care Services

WA Equal Opportunity Commissioner Award for human rights, equity and diversity in
mental health

Freedom Centre

Hollywood Private Hospital Award for improved mental health outcomes delivered in
partnership with drug and alcohol services

Drug and Alcohol Youth Service

McCusker Charitable Foundation Award for Excellence

Tony Fowke OAM
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Appendix Five

Initiative Overview Key Outputs and Achievements

Mental Health Workforce Development Strategy
and Plan

Consultation and planning work to inform the
development of a plan to guide workforce development
activities targeting the mental health workforce.

During 2012/13 the Commission continued to work on a draft Workforce Development Strategy 2013-15 which
aligns with the National Mental Health Workforce Strategy and maps objectives and activities against the three
key reform directions outlined in the State Government's ten year strategic policy Mental Health 2020: Making it
personal and everybody’s business. The workforce plan will align with the ten year Mental Health Services Plan
that will be developed in 2013/14 to ensure that services have the workforce capacity and skills to develop in
accordance with identified need and investment.

Independent Community Living Strategy

Training and workforce development to support the
development of capacity of mental health services to
support people with a person centred approach to
planning and service provision.

A range of training and workforce development events have been undertaken throughout the year to build
the capability of services and staff to provide person centred planning and supports. Training to date has been
received enthusiastically by a broad cross section of staff.

Scholarships for Mental Health Professionals

Financial support for workers from government and
nongovernment organisations to undertake further
studies in mental health

In 2012/13, a total of $153,996 was allocated to 64 people who received scholarships of up to $13,000 each to
undertake a mental health related course at university or other registered training organisation. Recipients
include nurses, allied health professionals and people with a lived experience of mental iliness who work in
peer and carer peer support roles.

Mental Health Graduate Nurse Incentive Scheme is
designed to attract graduate registered nurses to
undertake careers in mental health.

This attraction and retention initiative provides payments over the course of three years to graduate nurses
who pursue a career in mental health. Over a two year period, the scheme has attracted 45 graduate nurses
to work in mental health, of which only four have since left mental health. $156,394.50 was allocated to this
initiative in 2012/13.

Dual Disability Competency Framework

Dual Disability is a recognised area of shortages in
expertise. A joint Disability Services Commission/Mental
Health Commission workshop identified an urgent need
for workforce capacity building.

The Commission funded WACOSS $120,000 to engage a consultant to work with the

Dual Disability working group to scope out a competency framework and training package
across the workforce continuum. The competency framework will identify key competencies
needed for workers at all levels and across all areas of service delivery for people who have
both intellectual disability and mental health difficulties.

Mental Health Professional Online Development (MHPOD)

Funding to support the roll out of MHPOD across public
mental health services in WA.

The Commission continued to support the further development and roll out of
Mental Health Professional Online Development. This included $20,824 towards the
ongoing operation and development of this nationally led project.
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Initiative Overview

Key Outputs and Achievements

Resources to provide more training posts for child and
adolescent psychiatrists

Funding to address a shortage of child and adolescent
psychiatry training posts in Western Australia.

The Commission allocated $1.1m in 2012/13 for advanced child psychiatry training posts and has committed to
invest the same amount per annum to support five advanced child psychiatry training posts.

Training events for assisting consumers with co-occurring
drug and alcohol and mental health problems.

Partnership with the Drug and Alcohol Office (DAO) to
provide a range of training events aimed at increasing
capability in managing co-occurring issues.

In 2012/13 the Commission provided support to DAO for the development and delivery of a Comorbidity Train
the Trainer Program. The aim of the program is to enhance and support the capacity of individual workers,
their services and the mental health sector to respond more effectively to individuals who have co-occurring
substance use and mental health problems and/or mental iliness. An additional $25,000 was committed to
extend the training to services in the welfare sector, and to provide drug and alcohol counselling guidelines to
the government and non-government mental health sectors.

Marion Centre - Positive Placements Program

Training and support to enhance the experience of nursing
and allied health students undertaking placements in
mental health services.

The Marion Centre was granted $144,500 to continue the Confident Placements program. This program
aims to provide undergraduate health professionals with greater knowledge and improved confidence in
undertaking their mental health practical placement.

Peer Support Worker Capacity Building

Building the capacity of mental health organisations and

drug and alcohol agencies to employ peer workers in the
area of co-occurring mental health and alcohol and other
drug issues.

Palmerston received a grant of $50,000 to work with mental health services to develop a sustainable
workforce and organisational support model for AOD and mental health services, integrating peer support.

Gay and Lesbian Community Services of WA

Delivery of ‘Opening Closets Training’ to frontline mental
health workers.

$40,000 was provided in 2012/13 for the Gay and Lesbian Community Services of WA Inc to extend the Opening
Closets training to rural and remote workers. Opening Closets trains frontline mental health workers in

both government and community managed organisations and provides policy coaching to mental health
services, with the aim of increasing the competency of mainstream mental health service workers in working
appropriately with lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and intersex clients.

Statewide Specialist Aboriginal Mental Health Service
(SSAMHS)

A key objective of SSAMHS is to increase the number of
trained Aboriginal people in the mental health workforce,
and to up skill non-Aboriginal workers in culturally
competent mental health care.

Approximately $8 million was invested in SSAMHS, including the recruitment and training of 62
Aboriginal mental health workers. SSAMHS has successfully recruited to 85-90 per cent of positions
and has provided cultural competency training to services in metropolitan and rural areas. Workers
are enrolled in University and TAFE studies. Since the implementation of SSAMHS, the numbers of
Aboriginal consumers with care plans and shared care arrangements have increased, indicating
SSAMHS is providing improved mental health care for Aboriginal people.
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